



EUROPEAN CENTRAL BANK



December 1999

©	European Central Bank, 1999	
	Address	Kaiserstrasse 29
		D-60311 Frankfurt am Main
		Germany
	Postal address	Postfach 16 03 19
		D-60066 Frankfurt am Main
		Germany
	Telephone	+49 69 1344 0
	Internet	http://www.ecb.int
	Fax	+49 69 1344 6000
	Telex	411 144 ecb d

This Bulletin was produced under the responsibility of the Executive Board of the ECB. Translations are prepared and published by the national central banks.

All rights reserved. Reproduction for educational and non-commercial purposes is permitted provided that the source is acknowledged.

The cut-off date for the statistics included in this issue was 1 December 1999.

ISSN 1561-0136

Contents

Editorial	5
Economic developments in the euro area	9
Monetary and financial developments	9
Price developments	29
Output, demand and labour market developments	33
Fiscal developments	42
The global macroeconomic environment, exchange rates and the balance of payments	47
Euro area statistics	۱*
Chronology of monetary policy measures of the Eurosystem	53*
The TARGET (Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross settlement Express Transfer) system	57*
Documents published by the European Central Bank (ECB)	59 *

Abbreviations

Countries

Belgium
Denmark
Germany
Greece
Spain
France
Ireland
Italy
Luxembourg
Netherlands
Austria
Portugal
Finland
Sweden
United Kingdom
Japan
United States

Others

BIS	Bank for International Settlements
BPM4	IMF Balance of Payments Manual (4th edition)
BPM5	IMF Balance of Payments Manual (5th edition)
CDs	certificates of deposit
c.i.f.	cost, insurance and freight at the importer's border
CPI	Consumer Price Index
ECB	European Central Bank
ECU	European Currency Unit
EMI	European Monetary Institute
ESA 95	European System of Accounts 1995
ESCB	European System of Central Banks
EU	European Union
EUR	euro
f.o.b.	free on board at the exporter's border
GDP	gross domestic product
HICP	Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices
ILO	International Labour Organization
IMF	International Monetary Fund
MFIs	Monetary Financial Institutions
NCBs	national central banks
repos	repurchase agreements
SITC Rev. 3	Standard International Trade Classification (revision 3)

In accordance with Community practice, the EU countries are listed in this Bulletin using the alphabetical order of the country names in the national languages.

Editorial

The economic situation in the euro area has continued to improve in recent months. There has been confirmation of a gradual recovery in domestic activity, notably in the industrial sector. There is also further evidence of a strengthening of growth in the external environment, and this is reflected in developments within the euro area. From a forward-looking perspective, available forecasts indicate a pick-up in real GDP growth over the next one to two years. As anticipated, higher oil prices have had an upward impact on consumer price increases and they are expected to continue to do so in the short term. The increase of 50 basis points in the ECB's three main interest rates in early November has helped to contain inflation expectations and will make an important contribution towards sustaining non-inflationary growth in the medium term.

At its meetings held on 18 November and 2 December 1999, having taken into consideration all the information available on monetary, financial and other economic developments, the Governing Council of the ECB decided to keep the ECB interest rates unchanged. The interest rate on the Eurosystem's main refinancing operations thus remains at 3.0%. The interest rates applicable to the deposit and marginal lending facilities were also kept unchanged, at 2.0% and 4.0% respectively.

In the context of the first pillar of the Eurosystem's monetary policy strategy, the Governing Council also decided at its meeting on 2 December 1999 to confirm the reference value of $4\frac{1}{2}$ % for the rate of growth of the broad monetary aggregate M3. This decision was taken on the grounds that the components underlying the derivation of the reference value first announced in December 1998, namely the Eurosystem's definition of price stability and estimates for trend real GDP growth and the trend decline in M3 income velocity, have basically remained unchanged, as is further explained in the section entitled "Economic developments in the euro area" in this issue of the ECB Monthly Bulletin.

The annual rate of growth of M3 has been rising since the beginning of 1999. The latest three-month average of annual M3 growth (covering the period from August to October 1999) was, at 6.0%, unchanged since the previous three-month period up to September 1999, i.e. 11/2 percentage points above the reference value of $4\frac{1}{2}$ %. The rate of increase in credit to the private sector was broadly unchanged but, at 10.5%, remains very strong. These monetary and credit developments appear to have been determined mainly by the low level of interest rates and the pick-up in economic activity in the euro area. Such rates of growth in monetary and credit aggregates - which still refer to the period before the decision taken on 4 November to raise interest rates - imply the existence of a generous liquidity situation in the euro area.

Considering recent developments in financial markets, the reaction to the rise in ECB interest rates was favourable. Long-term bond yields in the euro area fell in early November, as market participants revised their expectations for future inflation downwards. However, this decline was largely reversed in the second half of the month against a background of spillover effects resulting from the rise in US long-term interest rates which followed the increase in official interest rates in the United States, higher oil prices and a declining euro. At the start of December long-term interest rates in the euro area were slightly lower than at the end of October.

The nominal effective exchange rate of the euro has declined by around 3¼% since the end of October. The US dollar strengthened vis-à-vis the euro in November, against the background of US data indicating continued strong economic growth with subdued inflation expectations. The Japanese yen rose vis-à-vis both the US dollar and the euro following further signs of recovery in the Japanese economy. The yen has appreciated by around 6% against the euro since the end of October.

With regard to other economic data, recent news on the external environment continues to be positive. Notably, the latest data indicate continued strong growth in the US economy. The information available on other countries and regions also tends to support an improved outlook for global economic growth. Nevertheless, some risks remain. In particular, these relate to the large external imbalances in some major regions of the world economy. Some uncertainties also remain as to the outlook for a number of emerging market economies. Looking ahead, however, the expectation that the growth differential between the main economic regions will narrow over time is widespread, thereby underlining the potential for the euro to appreciate.

Data for area-wide real GDP for the third quarter of 1999 were not due to be released until after I December 1999, the cut-off date for this issue of the ECB Monthly Bulletin. However, an indication of recent developments is provided by the latest industrial production data and the results of various surveys. The general picture is one of an ongoing economic expansion. An estimate of area-wide industrial production for September (and thus for the third quarter of 1999) indicates a gradual pick-up in activity since the spring. The latest survey data support this view, with industrial confidence continuing to improve. Major international and private sector institutions have tended to revise their expectations for economic growth in 2000 upwards, and real GDP growth is now widely projected to increase from around 2% in 1999 to close to 3% in the next two years.

As expected, consumer price increases rose in October, with the annual change in the overall Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices (HICP) rising by 0.2 percentage point to 1.4%. Consumer price developments in the euro area reflect the impact of higher oil prices. However, the further rise in oil prices was only one of the factors underlying the development in the overall HICP. A higher rate of increase in both food and non-energy industrial goods prices also contributed to the upward movement in the overall HICP, whereas the rate of change in services prices, by contrast, continued to decline. Available forecasts suggest that, despite the expected rise in the rate of increase in the HICP in the coming months, price increases will nevertheless remain below 2% in 2000 and 2001.

Overall, the outlook for price developments will very much depend on a number of factors, and in particular on wage developments remaining in line with price stability. In addition, any assessment of the outlook for price stability needs to take account of prevailing uncertainties. On the upside these relate to, inter alia, the behaviour of monetary and credit aggregates, developments in oil prices and the path of the effective exchange rate in the period ahead. All of these factors are closely monitored for their impact on price stability. On the downside the main factors are linked the effects of deregulation and to liberalisation. On balance, the risks for price stability are on the upside. Monetary policy will therefore need to remain vigilant in the period ahead and to act in a timely manner.

With the cyclical upturn now more clearly established in the euro area, policy-makers should focus on issues which will improve the medium and long-term performance of the euro area economy. In particular, there is still considerable scope for progress with regard to both the functioning of labour and product markets and fiscal consolidation.

The rate of unemployment has continued to fall throughout 1999, although at a somewhat slower pace in recent months, and stood at 10% in September 1999. A further gradual decline in unemployment is expected over the next one to two years, as a result of stronger growth, provided that wage moderation continues. However, this alone will not be sufficient to yield a significant and lasting improvement in the labour market situation. Rather, additional structural reforms will be needed in order to foster substantial employment growth. The latest estimates of fiscal positions in euro area countries, which are also reviewed in this guarterly issue of the ECB Monthly Bulletin, show that the average general government deficit-to-GDP ratio in 1999 may – at around $1\frac{1}{2}\%$ – turn out to be better than the ratio of around 2% anticipated earlier this year. In particular, government revenue is expected to be higher in many Member States, partly as a result of an improvement in economic conditions. It thus appears likely that most Member States' targets for their budgetary positions this year will be achieved. Looking ahead, a further decline in deficits and a fall in debt ratios are anticipated as a consequence of the cyclical upswing and the further reduction in interest payments in relation to GDP (resulting from

lower average interest rates on government debt). Nevertheless, the aggregate deficit for the euro area forecast for 2000 implies limited fiscal consolidation and only a marginal decline in debt ratios. Public finances need to be safeguarded against the burdens arising from excessively high debt ratios and the consequences of ageing populations. Subject to compliance with the objectives of the Stability and Growth Pact, which requires medium-term budgetary positions to be close to balance or in surplus, attention may focus on reducing the high tax burden on economies, which could help to stimulate growth and employment, and on making further progress with regard to market liberalisation and public sector reform.

Economic developments in the euro area

I Monetary and financial developments

Monetary policy decisions of the Governing Council of the ECB

At its meetings held on 18 November and 2 December 1999 the Governing Council of the ECB confirmed the prevailing level of ECB interest rates. The interest rate on the main refinancing operations of the Eurosystem was left at 3.0%, and the interest rates on the marginal lending facility and on the deposit facility were maintained at 4.0% and 2.0% respectively (see Chart 1). In addition, at its meeting on 2 December 1999 the Governing Council confirmed the reference value of $4\frac{1}{2}$ % for the annual growth of the broad monetary aggregate M3 (see Box 1).

M3 growth on a rising trend in 1999

In October 1999 the annual rate of increase in M3 was 6.0%, compared with 6.2% in the previous month (the latter figure was revised upwards from 6.1%). The three-month average of the annual growth rates of M3,

Chart I

ECB interest rates and money market rates

(percentages per annum; daily data)



Chart 2

Monetary aggregates in the euro area (annual percentage changes)



covering the period from August to October 1999, stood at 6.0%, the same figure as recorded in the period from July to September 1999 (which was revised upwards from 5.9%); this was $1\frac{1}{2}$ percentage points above the reference value of $4\frac{1}{2}$ % (see Box I). The monetary data up to October 1999 therefore confirmed the picture of a generous liquidity situation in the euro area prior to the rise in ECB interest rates on 4 November 1999.

Since the start of 1999 M3 growth has been on a rising trend, thereby increasingly exceeding the reference value (see Chart 2). While the 12-month deviation between M3 growth and the reference value was influenced by an exceptionally large increase recorded in January 1999, at the time of the start of Stage Three of EMU, it was also the result of an ongoing development. This is signalled, for instance, by the annualised eightmonth growth rate of M3, which was 6.1% in

Box I The review of the reference value for monetary growth

At its meeting on 2 December 1999 the Governing Council of the ECB reviewed the reference value for monetary growth. On the basis of a thorough review of the components underlying its derivation, the Governing Council decided to confirm the reference value which was first announced in December 1998, namely a 4½% annual growth rate for the broad monetary aggregate M3. As before, since monthly money data are sometimes volatile, monetary developments relative to the reference value will be assessed on the basis of three-month moving averages of the annual growth rate of M3. The Governing Council also decided henceforth to undertake a regular annual review of the reference value for monetary growth. The next review will take place in December 2000. This box provides some background information to these decisions.

Given that the primary objective of the Eurosystem is the maintenance of price stability in the euro area, the Governing Council assigns a prominent role to money in the Eurosystem's monetary policy strategy in recognition of the monetary origins of inflation over longer horizons. This prominent role is signalled by the announcement of a quantitative reference value for the growth rate of a broad monetary aggregate. Within the first pillar of the Eurosystem's strategy, monetary developments are analysed for the information that they contain regarding the outlook for future price developments and the risks to price stability (see the article entitled "The stability-oriented monetary policy strategy of the Eurosystem" in the January 1999 issue of the ECB Monthly Bulletin).

Against this background, the reference value for monetary growth is an analytical tool which serves the achievement and maintenance of price stability. The reference value is therefore based on the Eurosystem's definition of price stability in such a way that prolonged or substantial deviations of monetary growth from the reference value normally signal risks to price stability.

To ensure that it fulfils this role, the reference value must relate to a monetary aggregate which is expected both to exhibit a stable relationship with the price level over the medium term and to be a leading indicator of future price developments. Empirical studies suggest that M3 possesses the required properties.

The reference value for M3 growth is then derived using the relationship between money, on the one hand, and prices, real GDP and the velocity of circulation, on the other. Reflecting the medium-term orientation of the single monetary policy, the derivation is based on the Eurosystem's definition of price stability and estimates of medium-term developments in real GDP and M3 income velocity.

The Governing Council reviewed the estimates of medium-term developments in real GDP and M3 income velocity on the basis of practical experience with the reference value over the past year, the four extra quarters of data that have become available since the reference value was first derived and revisions to the historical data series for GDP and the monetary aggregates that have been introduced in the past 12 months. An assessment of the new evidence led the Governing Council to confirm the assumption used in the derivation of the reference value in December 1998 that M3 income velocity declines at a trend rate in the range from ¹/₂% to 1% per annum (see the chart below).

In addition, the Governing Council concluded that there was no reason to change the assumption used in the derivation of the first reference value that the trend growth rate of real GDP lies in the range from 2% to 2½% per annum. At the same time, the Governing Council emphasised that the trend growth potential of the euro area would be considerably enhanced by structural reform in the labour and goods markets. The Eurosystem's monetary policy strategy would take such reforms into account, as appropriate.

On the basis of the Eurosystem's definition of price stability, which refers to an annual increase in the Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices (HICP) for the euro area of below 2%, and these unchanged



Sources: Eurostat, national data, ECB calculations.

Note: Velocity is measured as the ratio of actual nominal GDP to M3. The underlying quarterly series are seasonally adjusted and constructed by aggregating national data converted into euro at the irrevocable exchange rates announced on 31 December 1998. M3: until Q3 1997 based on stocks; from Q4 1997 based on an index constructed using flows statistics. Quarterly data are averages of end-month observations. Nominal GDP: until Q4 1994 based on the ESA 79 system of national accounts; from Q1 1995 extended using the ESA 95 growth rates.

medium-term estimates of real GDP growth as well as the decline in M3 velocity, the Governing Council confirmed the reference value of a 41/2% annual growth rate for M3.

The reference value is a key component of the first pillar of the Eurosystem's monetary policy strategy. It should be recalled that analysis of monetary developments in relation to the reference value is undertaken in parallel with a broadly based assessment of the outlook for price developments and risks to price stability in the euro area as a whole, the so-called second pillar of the Eurosystem's strategy. This broadly based assessment encompasses a wide range of indicators. Monetary policy decisions aimed at the maintenance of price stability over the medium term are based on the information revealed by both pillars of the strategy.

The reference value is a medium-term concept and differs from a yearly monetary target in several respects. First, it is not a reference value for a calendar year, but an expression of a medium-term development over several years. For this reason, the generous liquidity situation in 1999 will have to be borne in mind when assessing the information content of monetary developments in the future. Second, the reference value does not entail a commitment on the part of the Eurosystem to correct mechanistically deviations of monetary growth from the reference value. Rather, monetary developments are thoroughly analysed in respect of their causes and implications for future price stability.

In view of this, the Governing Council also decided to retain a specific reference rate rather than announcing a reference range. The latter may be misinterpreted as suggesting that the Governing Council would react mechanically to a certain rate of monetary growth. Such an approach would be contrary to the Eurosystem's monetary policy strategy, which is based on two pillars, and to the reference value concept.

The Governing Council announced that it will continue regularly and thoroughly to analyse monetary developments in relation to the reference value and will explain the implications of this analysis for monetary policy decisions to the public. The Governing Council also noted that confirmation of the reference value implies continuity with the monetary policy strategy conducted in the past and does not imply any changes to the Governing Council's assessment of the current monetary policy stance.

October 1999. There is some reason to assume that the low level of nominal interest rates prevailing in the euro area has stimulated the demand for the most liquid components of M3, namely currency in circulation and overnight deposits. Furthermore, it is plausible that the recovery in economic activity in the euro area has spurred the demand for liquidity. At the same time, the annual growth rates of most of the other components of M3 were negative or subdued. Their development has to be seen not only in relation to the high demand for overnight deposits, but also in respect of the steepening of the term structure in the euro area during most of this year.

On the basis of non-seasonally adjusted monthly changes, M3 rose by $\in 20$ billion in October 1999. Corrected for seasonal influences, the monthly increase in M3 in October was $\in 22$ billion, or around 0.5% (see Table 1). The seasonally adjusted rise of M3 mirrored an expansion in all of its main components. The seasonally adjusted monthly change in the components of M1 (currency in circulation and overnight deposits) was $\in 9$ billion, or 0.5%, and that in the other shortterm deposits was $\in 6$ billion, or 0.3%. The seasonally adjusted rise in marketable instruments was $\in 8$ billion, or 1.2%.

The annual increase in currency in circulation rose to 5.5% in October, up from 5.2% in the

previous month. The demand for banknotes and coins has recovered considerably in recent months, presumably stimulated by the upturn in economic activity in the euro area. The annual growth rate of overnight deposits remained broadly unchanged in October, at 14.8% (compared with 14.9% in September). As noted above, the buoyant demand for overnight deposits seems to be very much related to the low level of opportunity costs of holding these deposits, as well as to the recovery in economic activity. Furthermore, the transition to an environment of low inflation may have stimulated the demand for these very liquid instruments. As a consequence of these developments in currency in circulation and overnight deposits, the annual rate of increase in MI was almost unchanged in October, at around 13.0%

The annual growth rate of short-term deposits other than overnight deposits remained rather subdued, although it rose to 2.5% in October, from 2.2% in the previous month. During the first ten months of 1999 the annual growth rate of these instruments tended to fluctuate between 2% and 3%. The subdued pace of increase has to be seen against the background of relatively low bank deposit rates on these short-term instruments. The small rise in the annual growth rate of short-term deposits other than overnight deposits recorded in October

Table I

M3 and its main components

(seasonally adjusted; end-of-month levels and month-on-month changes)

	Oct. 1999 levels	Aug. 1 chang		Sep. 19 chang		Oct. 19 chang		Aug. to Oc average c	
	EUR billions	EUR billions	%	EUR billions	%	EUR billions	%	EUR billions	%
M3	4,672.7	72.7 1.2 0.0		30.5	30.5 0.7		22.2 0.5		0.4
Currency in circulation and overnight deposits (= M1)	1,890.9	-0.7	0.0	12.4	0.7	8.8	0.5	6.8	0.4
Other short-term deposits (= M2 - M1)	2,141.1	-3.7	-0.2	4.4	0.2	5.7	0.3	2.1	0.1
Marketable instruments (= M3 - M2)	640.6	5.6 0.9		13.7	2.2	7.7	1.2	9.0	1.5

Source: ECB.

Note: Due to rounding, the sum of the components of M3 in euro (billions) may not add up to the total reported for M3.

resulted from contrasting developments in its two components. On the one hand, the annual rate of decline in deposits with an agreed maturity of up to two years became less pronounced (2.0% in October, following 3.2% in September). On the other, the growth rate of deposits redeemable at a period of notice of up to three months decreased (to 5.7%, down from 6.1% in the previous month). To some extent, the opposite movements in the two categories of shortterm deposits other than overnight deposits might be related to recent developments in the corresponding deposit rates. The retail rate on deposits with an agreed maturity of up to two years, which generally tends to follow the movements of short-term market interest rates, edged upwards in September and October. By contrast, the retail rate on deposits redeemable at a period of notice of up to three months has stabilised at a low level in recent months (see Chart 3). The annual rate of increase in the intermediate monetary aggregate M2, which includes currency in circulation and all short-term deposits, rose to 7.2% in October, up from 7.0% in the previous month.

Despite a pronounced month-on-month growth in October 1999 (1.2%), the annual growth rate of the marketable instruments included in M3 turned negative, from 0.9% in September to -1.2% in October. For most of 1999 the annual percentage change in this component of M3 has been negative, presumably reflecting, for the most part, the low rate of return on these short-term financial instruments, in particular as compared with the gradually increasing level of long-term interest rates in the course of the year. In October 1999, however, the drop in the annual growth rate was also due to a base effect, as the monthly increase in these instruments was particularly large in October 1998. The annual growth rates in the various components of the marketable instruments included in M3 differed considerably in October 1999. On the one hand, the annual growth rate of debt securities issued with a maturity of up to two years and that of money market fund shares and money market paper

were very high, at 16.4% and 13.7% respectively (compared with 16.1% and 13.9% respectively in the previous month). On the other, the annual rate of change in repurchase agreements was negative (-28.3% in October, compared with -23.3% in September). There are some indications that part of the high growth in debt securities and money market paper relates to purchases undertaken by non-residents of the euro area. While nonresidents' holdings of securities should, in principle, be excluded from M3, it is currently not possible to identify precisely their size, in particular in view of activity in secondary markets. However, according to the information available, the purchases of debt securities and money market paper by nonresidents do not significantly affect the overall interpretation of monetary developments.

Buoyant growth of credit to the private sector

With regard to the counterparts of M3 on the consolidated balance sheet of the MFI sector, total credit extended to euro area residents continued to expand at a strong pace in October 1999, with the annual growth rate stabilising at around 8%. The annual growth rate of credit to the private sector remained at the high level of around 10.5% recorded in September. While the annual growth rate of loans granted to households and corporations was broadly unchanged at 10.0% (a level which has been observed for most of 1999), the rate of increase in MFI holdings of securities other than shares issued by the private sector dropped from 4.9% in September to -0.4% in October. The annual growth rate of MFI holdings of shares and other equity remained at around 28%. The annual rate of increase in credit extended to general government was 1.7%, which followed a growth rate in September of 1.0%. This moderate rise reflected higher growth rates of both MFI holdings of debt securities and, a lesser extent, loans to general to government.

Table 2

M3 and its main counterparts

(12-month flows; EUR billions)

	1999 Apr.	1999 May	1999 June	1999 July	1999 Aug.	1999 Sep.	1999 Oct.
Credit to the private sector	520.6	548.6	588.0	578.2	587.3	574.8	570.5
Credit to general government	16.4	33.3	-5.6	-4.1	-3.4	20.5	35.2
Net external assets	-161.4	-215.4	-227.5	-202.1	-241.2	-230.4	-208.4
Longer-term financial liabilities 1)	-185.0	-179.1	-177.5	-183.3	-180.1	-182.5	-225.3
Other counterparts	35.9	47.3	58.8	67.3	88.7	84.9	87.4
M3	226.4	234.8	236.2	256.0	251.2	267.3	259.4

Source: ECB.

Note: Due to rounding, the sum of the counterparts of M3 in euro (billions) may not add up to the total reported for M3. 1) A minus sign indicates increasing MFI liabilities.

For most of 1999 the annual rate of expansion of credit to households and corporations has exceeded a level of 10%, indicating the favourable financing conditions prevailing in the euro area. The continued strength of the demand for credit from the private sector appears to be largely related to the low level of bank lending rates from a historical perspective. The ongoing improvement in economic activity in the euro area, the intense merger and acquisition activity in 1999 as compared with the previous year, as well as the interaction between mortgage loans and the rise in real estate prices in some euro area countries, have also contributed to this development.

The annual rate of increase in longer-term financial liabilities of the MFI sector increased markedly, from 5.5% in September to 6.9% in October 1999, which was the highest 12month growth rate recorded since the start of the time series (in September 1998). This upturn was mainly due to the annual increase in debt securities issued by MFIs with an original maturity of over two years (which grew at a rate of 9.4% in October, up from 7.5% in September). The demand for these debt securities may have been bolstered by the widening average spread between the yield on longer-term bonds and that on shortterm paper. In addition, there was a base effect, as net acquisitions of such assets were slightly negative in October 1998 in the wake of the tensions affecting capital markets in that period. A similar base effect may also

explain, in part, the increase in the growth rate of capital and reserves of MFIs, from 7.4% in September to 8.6% in October 1999. The annual growth rate of deposits with an agreed maturity of over two years also increased (it was 4.1% in October, up from 3.2% in the previous month). By contrast, the outstanding amount of deposits redeemable at a period of notice of over three months declined at a high annual rate (8.0% in October, compared with 7.6% in September).

During October 1999 the net external asset position of the MFI sector declined by \in 35 billion in absolute and non-seasonally adjusted terms (after having recorded an increase of \in 18 billion during September 1999). This decline was a consequence of the fact that the increase in MFI external liabilities (\in 41 billion) exceeded that in external assets (\in 6 billion), reflecting a net outflow of funds from non-MFI euro area residents.

Overall, the increase in M3 of $\in 259$ billion over the 12 months up to October 1999 was accompanied by the following changes in the counterparts on the consolidated balance sheet of the MFI sector (see Table 2). The 12-month increase in credit granted to the private sector amounted to $\in 571$ billion, while credit extended to general government rose by $\in 35$ billion. The significant difference between the annual flows in credit and M3 was mirrored by a reduction in net external assets (of $\in 208$ billion) and an increase in longer-term financial liabilities (of €225 billion). The other counterparts (net assets) showed an annual increase amounting to €87 billion in October.

Retail bank interest rates rose at longer maturities in October

Short-term retail bank interest rates showed little change between the summer months and October, even though short-term market rates increased in October in anticipation of the increase in ECB interest rates in early November. At the same time, longer-term retail bank interest rates demonstrated strong increases, possibly reflecting the trend increase in long-term capital market interest rates since May 1999.

Over the period from August to October, the average interest rates on overnight deposits and on deposits redeemable at a period of notice of up to three months remained broadly stable, standing at around 0.6% and 2.0% respectively in October (see Chart 3). The average short-term lending rate to enterprises remained practically unchanged between July and October 1999, at around

Chart 3

Short-term retail bank interest rates (percentages per annum; monthly averages)

- ---- three-month money market rate
- loans to enterprises with a maturity of up to one year
- deposits with an agreed maturity of up to one year
- deposits redeemable at notice of up to three months
 overnight deposits
- ---- overnight deposits



Source: ECB aggregation of individual country data.

Chart 4

Long-term retail bank interest rates

(percentages per annum; monthly averages)

five-year long-term government bond yields
loans to households for house purchase
loans to enterprises with a maturity of over one year
deposits with an agreed maturity of over two years





5.4%. The average rate on consumer loans likewise remained broadly unchanged between August and October, at around 9.3%. Only the average rates on shorter-term time deposits with maturities of less than one year showed a tendency to increase from August onwards and reached a level of 2.5% in October.

More pronounced increases were seen at longer maturities against the background of a strong rise in capital market interest rates observed between May and October 1999. Longer-term deposit and lending rates demonstrated a trend increase as from the early summer, which continued in October (see Chart 4). The average rate on time deposits with an agreed maturity of more than two years reached 4.0% in October, an increase of 80 basis points compared with May. Average interest rates on loans to households for house purchase increased to 5.7% in October, which is nearly 90 basis points above the average observed in May 1999. The average retail bank interest rate on longer-term loans to enterprises also continued to rise and reached 5.4% in October.

Box 2

Monetary policy operations and liquidity conditions in the tenth maintenance period

Allotments in monetary policy operations

During the tenth reserve maintenance period, which lasted from 24 October to 23 November 1999, the Eurosystem conducted five main refinancing operations and one longer-term refinancing operation. While the first two of the main refinancing operations (allotted on 27 October and 2 November) were carried out at a fixed interest rate of 2.50%, the following three (allotted on 9, 16 and 23 November) were conducted at a rate of 3.00%, the change in rates having been announced on 4 November. The allotted volume varied between €66.0 billion and €74.0 billion. The amount of bids submitted to the main refinancing operations increased to a new record of €2,344 billion in the last operation conducted at 2.50% and then fell significantly to €405 billion in the first operation conducted at 3.00%. The record volume of bids in the operation of 3 November reflected attempts by credit institutions to frontload their fulfilment of reserve requirements in an environment of expectations of an increase in ECB interest rates. The average amount of bids submitted to the main refinancing operation decreased to €1,171.7 billion, from €1,244.9 billion in the previous maintenance period.

The allotment ratios in the main refinancing operations varied between 2.8% and 18.3%, compared with a narrower range of between 3.9% and 6.8% in the preceding maintenance period. The considerable volatility of bids and allotment ratios was due to the above-mentioned expectations of a rate increase in the first half of the maintenance period, and the disappearance of such expectations once the increase in rates had taken place. The surge in expectations of a rate increase also contributed to explaining the fluctuations in the EONIA rate within the maintenance period. On the last day of the maintenance period a moderate liquidity shortage had to be filled by recourse to the marginal lending facility, and the EONIA rate climbed to 3.11%. The Eurosystem conducted a longer-term refinancing operation on 27 October through a variable rate tender with a preannounced allotment volume of €25 billion, which was €10 billion higher than for previous operations of this type. The increased amount, which is also to be applied to the longer-term refinancing operations on 24 November and 22 December, takes into account the intention of the ECB to contribute to a smooth transition to the year 2000. A total number of 313 bidders participated in this operation and the total amount of bids was €74.4 billion. The marginal rate was set at 3.19%, while the weighted rate was 3.42%. The spread between the two rates was much higher than in all previous longer-term refinancing operations conducted through the multiple rate procedures, in which it had amounted to 1 basis point. The exceptional dispersion of successful bids was due to the fact that the maturity of the operation included the transition to the year 2000 for

Contributions to the banking system's liquidity (EUR billions)

Daily average during the reserve maintenance period from 24 October to 23 November 1999

	Liquidity providing	Liquidity absorbing	Net contribution
(a) Monetary policy operations of the Eurosystem	194.7	0.4	+ 194.3
Main refinancing operations	140.6	-	+ 140.6
Longer-term refinancing operations	53.7	-	+ 53.7
Standing facilities	0.4	0.4	0.0
Other operations	0.0	0.0	0.0
(b) Other factors affecting the banking system's liqui	dity 351.8	442.0	- 90.2
Banknotes in circulation	-	343.1	- 343.1
Government deposits with the Eurosystem	-	51.5	-51.5
Net foreign assets (including gold)	351.8	-	+ 351.8
Other factors (net)	-	47.4	- 47.4
(c) Credit institutions' holdings on current accounts			
with the Eurosystem (a) + (b)			104.1
(d) Required reserves			103.4

Totals may not add up due to rounding.

the first time, which implied a considerable heterogeneity with regard to the willingness to bid, as well as with regard to expectations concerning the marginal rate.

Use of standing facilities

The average recourse to the two standing facilities amounted to $\in 0.4$ billion each. The biggest use was observed on the first and last days of the maintenance period. The first day of the maintenance period was a Sunday, such that the recourse at the end of the previous maintenance period was still relevant. On 23 November 1999 a net amount of €2.8 billion was absorbed through use of the marginal lending facility amounting to €3.5 billion and use of the deposit facility amounting to €0.7 billion. Compared with previous ends of reserve maintenance periods, the total use of standing facilities was rather low, reflecting a relatively balanced liquidity situation.

Liquidity factors not related to monetary policy

The net liquidity-absorbing impact of the autonomous factors (i.e. the factors not related to monetary policy) on the banking system's liquidity (item (b) in the table above) was €90.2 billion on average, i.e. €6.0 billion more than in the previous maintenance period, explained mainly by increased deposits by governments. The sum of autonomous factors fluctuated between €72.6 billion and €105.4 billion, again reflecting the volatility of government deposits.

Current account holdings of counterparties

In the tenth reserve maintenance period, the average current account holdings amounted to €104.1 billion, and the reserve requirements to €103.4 billion. The difference between the average current account holdings and the reserve requirements remained at €0.7 billion, the same level as in the previous reserve maintenance period. Again, around €0.2 billion of this amount was due to current account holdings not contributing to the fulfilment of reserve requirements and €0.5 billion was related to excess reserves.

Factors contributing to the banking system's liquidity during the tenth maintenance period (EUR billions; daily data)





Money market interest rates stabilised at a higher level in November

In the weeks preceding the meeting of the Governing Council on 4 November 1999 money market rates progressively moved upwards, in anticipation of the decision to raise ECB interest rates. While, in September, short-term interest rates had remained virtually unchanged, with the one-month EURIBOR interest rate staying close to 2.6% and the three-month EURIBOR rate standing at around 2.7%, they rose significantly at the start of October. The positive news about the euro area economy and the confirmation of an upward trend in monetary growth during the summer had led to a strengthening of market expectations of an imminent increase in ECB interest rates. In the last few days of October money market interest rates rose further, in response to, inter alia, data on M3 growth in September 1999 (which were released on 27 October). In the first few days of November financial markets came to expect an interest rate increase of approximately 50 basis points at the meeting of the Governing Council on 4 November.

Following the decision of the Governing Council on 4 November to raise the main ECB interest rates by 50 basis points, money market rates stabilised at higher levels during November. The overnight interest rate, as measured by the EONIA, had already risen to levels close to 3.0% prior to the interest rate decision, as market participants increasingly anticipated the monetary policy move (see Chart I). Following the increase in ECB interest rates, the EONIA rate was, for most of the time, close to the new interest rate level of 3.0% applicable to the main refinancing operations of the Eurosystem. Only on the last days of the reserve maintenance period ending on 23 November 1999 were there some fluctuations in the EONIA, reflecting the pattern of the prevailing liquidity conditions in relation to the amount needed by the banking system to meet the reserve requirements (see Box 2).

Likewise, other short-term interest rates did not change significantly in reaction to the announcement of the increase in ECB interest rates, reflecting the fact that the decision had been anticipated by financial markets. The one-month EURIBOR rate, which was equal to approximately 3.0% in the days preceding the meeting of the Governing Council on 4 November, did not increase significantly thereafter. Only as from 29 November, when one-month contracts maturing in the year 2000 were traded for the first time, did the one-month EURIBOR rate increase by 43 basis points, reflecting market uncertainty related to the transition to the year 2000; on I December it stood at 3.51% (see Box 3). The three-month EURIBOR interest rate, which has already been affected by a millennium spike since end-September 1999, fell slightly during November, to stand at 3.45%. On I December the three-month EURIBOR interest rates implied in futures contracts with delivery in March and June 2000 stood at 3.56% and 3.88% respectively. These futures rates were almost unchanged from the levels recorded at the end of October. Similarly, in early December the levels of the six and twelve-month EURIBOR interest rates were little different from those recorded at end-October, standing at 3.47% and 3.76% respectively on I December.

As explained in more detail in Box 4, measures of the expected volatility of future short-term interest rates contain valuable information about the dispersion of market expectations or market uncertainty regarding future interest rate developments. One such measure is the implied volatility derived from options prices. The volatility of short-term interest rates implied in options contracts maturing in December 1999 and March 2000 declined sharply after the announcement of the interest rate increase on 4 November. While, during the first part of October, the implied volatility remained at relatively high levels, reflecting market uncertainty regarding the timing and the size of an interest rate increase, it started to decline in the last few days of the month, as markets became

Box 3 The effect of the transition to the year 2000 on money market interest rates

Over recent months it has been observed that money market interest rates, both within and outside the euro area, have tended to increase once their maturity has begun to span the end of the year (see also the article entitled "ESCB preparations for the year 2000" in the October issue of the ECB Monthly Bulletin). This leap in money market interest rates has been particularly marked in the case of unsecured interbank interest rates. As illustrated in the chart below, this was apparent, for example, when the six-month EURIBOR interest rate spanned the millennium at the end of June. Subsequently, the three-month EURIBOR interest rate rose at the end of September 1999 and, more recently, the one-month rate rose at the end of November. Explanations for such behaviour have focused on the perception by financial market participants of operational risks relating to the century date change. This perception may originate from the anticipation of liquidity between credit institutions. There are thus concerns that intermediaries which do not receive funds from counterparties as a consequence of such technical problems could incur costs, such as those related to the task of finding alternative funds at the start of January 2000 or to penalty charges for unfulfilled obligations.

Impact of the transition to the year 2000 on EURIBOR interest rates

(percentages per annum) one-month two-month three-month · four-month five-month six-month 3.7 one month before 1 Jan. 2000 two months before 1 Jan. 2000 3.5 three months before 1 Jan. 2000 four months before 1 Jan. 2000 3.3 five months before 1 Jan. 2000 six months before 1 Jan. 2000 3.1 2.9 2.7 2.5 1 Jan. 1999 1 Apr. 1999 1 July 1999 1 Oct. 1999 Source: ECB.

The increase in money market interest rates has been far more limited for transactions secured by collateral such as government bonds. This may be observed by looking at the increase in the spread between EURIBOR interest rates and the ask price for three-month repurchase agreement transactions in the euro area at the end of September (see the chart below). This seems to reflect the fact that credit institutions consider the availability of collateral to reduce greatly the risk of being unable to obtain the desired amount of funds at the start of 2000, since collateral would enable them to access the marginal lending facility of the Eurosystem. At the beginning of December the differential between the three-month EURIBOR interest rate and the ask price for three-month repurchase agreement transactions was equal to approximately 35 basis points. The allotment interest rates on the (secured) longer-term refinancing operation of the Eurosystem were also significantly below that on the corresponding EURIBOR deposit interest rates in November.



A simple quantification of the interest rate premium required to take account of the effect of the transition to the year 2000 can be derived by using forward interest rates implied in the money market yield curve. The chart below shows that the spike in interest rates estimated on the basis of one-month forward rates has varied



End-of-year spike in interbank deposit rates in 1999 (percentages per annum)

Note: The end-of-year spike in interest rates is calculated on the basis of one-month forward interest rates derived from the EURIBOR curve. The spike is measured as the difference between the one-month forward interest rate spanning the end of the year and a rate obtained by linear interpolation between the one-month forward rate for delivery in December 1999 (the one-month spot rate after the end of October) and the one-month forward rate for delivery in February 2000. The last observation included relates to 26 November 1999, since, from that date onwards, the spike cannot be measured according to this methodology. It should be borne in mind that if the risk related to the century date change is perceived to be concentrated on the first trading days of January 2000, the premium for these days should be several times higher than the premium measured on a monthly basis.

considerably over recent months, both within and outside the euro area. Within the euro area the spike declined during September, after having increased over the summer months, and, following a temporary increase in October, fell again in the second half of November. The premium on US dollar-denominated contracts, computed on the basis of LIBOR interest rates, tended to remain above that on euro area interest rates and declined by approximately the same amount as the corresponding premium on euro area rates during November. By contrast, the premium on contracts denominated in Japanese yen, also based on LIBOR interest rates, has remained broadly unchanged in recent months, at levels lower than those prevailing in the euro area.

The recent developments in the premium suggest that concerns of financial market participants have declined. This may be related to the successful completion of a series of year 2000 tests and can therefore be ascribed to an enhanced perception of a smooth transition to the year 2000.

increasingly convinced of an imminent decision.

The allotment interest rates of the regular longer-term refinancing operation of the Eurosystem which was settled on 25 November 1999 were, on average, less dispersed than those resulting from the previous operation. The marginal interest rate of allotment was equal to 3.18%, i.e. almost unchanged from the longer-term refinancing operation conducted in October. By contrast, the weighted average interest rate of allotment was 3.27%, thus considerably below the previous weighted allotment rate of 3.42%. The Eurosystem allotted a total amount of \in 25 billion in November, the same amount as in the longer-term refinancing operation conducted in October, but higher than in the operations conducted prior to September 1999, when the allotted amount had been set at \in 15 billion. This reflected the intention to increase the amount allotted in the last three longer-term refinancing operations in 1999 in order to contribute to a smooth transition to the year 2000.

Long-term bond yields remained volatile during November

The strong rise in long-term bond yields in the euro area, which had been observed since the early summer of 1999, was partially reversed as from late October. However, long-term bond yields in the euro area were relatively volatile during November, as significant yield declines during the early part of November were mostly reversed during the latter part of the month. The declines in euro area bond yields seen in late October and early November occurred against a background of mounting expectations of an increase in ECB interest rates. Further declines were seen following the announcement of the decision to raise ECB interest rates. Later on, however, during the

Chart 5

Long-term government bond yields in the euro area and the United States (percentages per annum; daily data)



Source: Reuters.

Note: Long-term government bond yields refer to ten-year bonds or to the closest available bond maturity. second half of November, long-term bond yields came under renewed upward pressure as a result of both international and domestic factors. All in all, on I December 1999 the average level of ten-year bond yields was around 5 basis points lower, at 5.24%, than at end-October. Compared with end-October, the spread between US long-term bond yields and comparable yields in the euro area had widened by approximately 25 basis points, to around 110 basis points on I December.

With regard to the influence of developments in international bond markets on domestic bond markets, long-term bond yields in the United States were relatively volatile during November 1999. During the first week of November the US ten-year bond yield fell markedly, in part as a result of the publication at the beginning of November of data on US employment growth and labour costs that were better than market participants had expected. However, notwithstanding this, following the decision by the Federal Open Market Committee of the Federal Reserve on 16 November to raise interest rates against a background of concerns about tight conditions in labour markets, US bond yields came under renewed upward pressure. Furthermore, new data released during November pointed to continued robust growth in the US economy, which, in combination with further increases in oil prices, may have added to concerns about inflationary risks in the United States. These countervailing influences on US long-term interest rates throughout November translated into a cumulative increase of around 20 basis points in US ten-year bond yields between end-October and I December, at which time yields stood at 6.35%. In Japan long-term bond yields were little changed at around 1.8% on 1 December 1999, compared with end-October.

As mentioned above, long-term bond yields in the euro area fell significantly during the first part of November as a result of increasing expectations – and the subsequent decision on 4 November – that ECB interest rates were to be raised by 50 basis points. The significant decline in bond yields seemed to suggest that, following the increase in the ECB interest rates, market participants had revised their long-term inflation expectations and lowered the magnitude of the inflation risk premium required for holding eurodenominated bonds. Market uncertainty regarding the outlook for future long-term bond yields decreased markedly following the interest rate announcement, as FCB demonstrated by the decline in implied volatility observed in the ten-year Bund options market (see Box 4). During the second half of the month, however, the previous declines in long-term bond yields were reversed. In particular, the aforementioned increases in US bond yields following the interest rate decision of the Federal Reserve seemed to spill over to euro

Chart 6 Implied forward euro area overnight interest rates

(percentages per annum; daily data)



Source: ECB estimation. The implied forward yield curve, which is derived from the term structure of interest rates observed in the market, reflects the market expectation of future levels for short-term interest rates. The method used to compute these implied forward yield curves was outlined on page 26 of the January 1999 issue of the Monthly Bulletin. The data used in the estimation are derived from swap contracts.

Box 4 Inferring expected interest rate volatility from options prices

Measures of the expected volatility of future short-term and long-term interest rates can provide a central bank with valuable information about the dispersion of market expectations or uncertainty regarding future interest rate developments. One particularly useful measure of expected volatility is implied volatility, which can be extracted from options prices. Given the observed market price of an option, the implied volatility can be extracted using a standard option pricing formula, which explicitly depends on, inter alia, the expected volatility of the underlying asset price. The implied volatility may, given appropriate assumptions, be interpreted as the market's expectation of volatility during the remaining life of the option.

Implied volatility can complement measures of expectations of the evolution of financial variables in the future, such as forward interest rates and futures prices, by providing a measure of the uncertainty surrounding these expectations. The implied volatility of short-term interest rates and that of long-term bond prices are considered in more detail below. The first measure refers to the uncertainty surrounding the evolution of short-term interest rates over the life of the option. Furthermore, as long-term nominal interest rates reflect market expectations regarding inflation and real interest rates over a longer horizon, the latter measure could be seen as an indicator of the uncertainty surrounding the future evolution of these factors.

Money market implied volatility

Indications of the uncertainty regarding the future evolution of short-term interest rates in the euro area can be obtained from the implied volatility derived from options on three-month EURIBOR futures. The evolution of money market volatility implied in options prices derived from contracts maturing in September and December 1999, as well as in March 2000, is displayed in the chart below, starting in January 1999.

Sep. 1999 Mar. 2000 Dec. 1999 28 26 24 22 20 18 16 14 12 10 Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May June July Aug. Sep. Oct. Nov. 1999 Source: Bloomberg

Implied volatility from options on three-month EURIBOR futures (traded on LIFFE)

After the launch of the euro, the implied volatility obtained from each of these options contracts gradually declined. There was a small temporary increase in expected volatility in the period preceding the decision of the Governing Council of the ECB on 8 April 1999 to reduce ECB interest rates, but, following the announcement of the decision, implied volatility dropped significantly for all maturities. From May 1999 onwards implied volatility began to creep up slowly at a time when short-term interest rates implied in futures contracts were also moving upwards, since the progressively stronger signs of a pick-up in economic activity in the euro area were leading to new uncertainties regarding the evolution of interest rates. The chart also shows that around the time of the increase in ECB interest rates announced on 4 November 1999, the drop in implied volatility was very pronounced at all maturities. This indicates that the move has considerably reduced market uncertainty regarding policy moves in the near term.

Long-term bond market implied volatility

By contrast with implied volatility on short-term money market futures, which is closely associated with market uncertainty regarding future short-term interest rates, and in particular future monetary policy moves, implied volatility on long-term bond futures is more related to short-term uncertainty regarding long-term fundamentals, in addition to other factors such as spillovers from international bond markets. In particular, the implied volatility extracted from options contracts on a long-term bond provides an indication of the degree of uncertainty regarding the long-term real interest rate, average inflation rate and risk premia expected by market participants at the expiry of the options contracts. The fact that expectations regarding all these components affect the pricing of options on long-term bonds makes it somewhat more challenging to extract and interpret the relevant forward-looking information from implied volatility on long-term fixed income instruments.

Implied volatility for futures contracts on the ten-year German Bund and the ten-year US Treasury note respectively

(percentages per annum; ten-day moving average of daily data)



Source: Bloomberg.

Note: The implied volatility series in the above chart represent the nearby implied volatility on the near contract generic future, rolled over 20 days prior to expiry, as defined by Bloomberg. This means that 20 days prior to expiry of the contracts, a change in the choice of contract used to obtain the implied volatility is made, from the contract closest to maturity to the next contract.

For the euro area, the implied volatility derived from options on ten-year German Bund futures appears to be the best proxy available for euro area long-term bond market implied volatility. During the first half of 1999 implied volatility in euro area bond markets appeared broadly to follow developments in the implied volatility of US ten-year bonds (see the chart above). However, over the summer the implied volatility of the ten-year Bund contract increased to levels that were considerably higher than the corresponding implied volatility in US bonds. During that time the increases in bond yields in the euro area were more pronounced than in the United States in the light of growing expectations regarding the economic recovery in the euro area. This combination of increasing bond yields and higher implied volatility suggests that these more optimistic expectations were, however, coupled with increasing uncertainty regarding the strength and sustainability of this pick-up as well as its implications for price stability. During the autumn the upward trend in euro area bond yield volatility appears to have ended as the uncertainty surrounding the outlook for the euro area economy diminished. With regard to developments during recent weeks, it appears that the increase in ECB interest rates, which was increasingly anticipated by market participants in the course of the week prior to 4 November, lowered the degree of uncertainty in respect of the evolution of long-term bond yields in the near future. However, during the second half of November implied volatility again started to increase somewhat, in an environment where long-term interest rates rose in the United States and the sharp downturn in euro area bond yields was also reversed (see the main text on bond market developments).

area bond markets. In addition, renewed increases in oil prices as well as a further weakening of the euro seemed to have led to upward pressure on long-term bond yields. Economic data released during November provided somewhat mixed indications regarding the outlook for the euro area economy, but, on balance, tended to point to brighter prospects for recovery, hence also providing support for higher bond yields. All in all, these influences on the euro area bond market during the second half of November offset most of the initial decreases in yields that took place during the first part of the month. Reflecting this, the medium-term and long-term segments of the implied forward euro area overnight interest rate curve were little changed on I December compared with end-October (see Chart 6).

Developments in the French index-linked bond market may, given appropriate assumptions, be used to provide some indications regarding changes in long-term real interest rates as well as in long-term inflation expectations. In particular, the "break-even" inflation rate, which is the differential between nominal and real yields of comparable maturity, can be seen as conveying information regarding the market's expected inflation rate over the remaining maturity of the bonds. In this respect, it is notable that the break-even inflation rate fell significantly in late October and the first half of November, first reflecting expectations of an interest rate move by the ECB and, later on, the actual decision to raise interest rates (see Chart 7). Seen over a longer horizon,

Chart 7 Break-even inflation rate calculated for the French CPI

(in percentages; daily data)



Sources: French Treasury, ISMA and Reuters.

Note: The real bond yields are derived from the market prices of French bonds which are indexed to the French CPI (excluding tobacco prices) and which mature in 2009. The nominal bond yields are derived from the market prices of French fixed income bonds which also mature in 2009. the break-even rate has remained broadly stable since the beginning of the summer, while the real yield has increased significantly over the same period. These developments can be taken as an indication that while inflation expectations have overall remained contained during recent months, real interest rates have risen as a result of the increasingly optimistic outlook for the euro area economy. As always, any inference relating to euro area inflation expectations based on this measure of the break-even inflation rate warrants some degree of caution owing to risk premia and liquidity considerations as well as the specific choice of price index used in the construction of the French index-linked bonds.

Euro area stock prices increased significantly during November

Against а background of improving expectations about the prospects for economic activity, stock prices in the euro area, when measured according to the broad Dow Jones EURO STOXX index, increased by 12% between end-1998 and end-October 1999 (see Chart 8). In November a significant increase of more than 9% brought the cumulative increase from end-1998 to 22%. The relatively rapid increases in euro area stock prices in November were due both to influences from the increases in stock prices on other major markets and to factors specific to the euro area.

With regard to the global stock market environment, in the United States the Standard and Poor's 500 index increased by slightly less than 3% between end-October and I December 1999, to reach a level which was 13% above end-1998 levels. One of the main factors that seemed to explain the performance of US stock prices in November was the Federal Reserve decision of 16 November to raise interest rates but retain a neutral bias for its future policy. This decision, by reducing market uncertainty about the future course of short-term interest rates, seemed to have a positive

Chart 8

Stock price indices in the euro area, the United States and Japan

(1 July 1999 = 100; daily data)



Sources: Reuters for the euro area and the United States; national data for Japan. Note: Dow Jones EURO STOXX broad (stock price) index for

impact on US stock price developments. This positive reaction of the US stock market to the increase in US interest rates also seemed to reflect the view of market participants that moves to contain inflationary pressures should have a beneficial influence on economic activity and corporate profitability in the long term. The strength of the US stock market was very apparent in the technology sector. In particular, the Nasdaq 100 index, which has a larger proportion of stocks in the technology sector than the Standard and Poor's 500 index, increased by close to 14% between end-October and I December, to reach a level which was 64% above end-1998 levels.

In Japan stock prices, as measured by the Nikkei 225 index, increased by 3% between end-October and I December 1999, to reach a level which was 34% above end-1998 levels. This development appeared to be influenced somewhat by further indications of improvement in the Japanese economic outlook, as well as by the expected impact of

the euro area, Standard and Poor's 500 for the United States and Nikkei 225 for Japan.

Table 3 Price changes and historical volatility in the Dow Jones EURO STOXX economic sector indices

	Basic materials	Consumer cyclical	Consumer non-cyclical	Energy	Financial	Conglomerate	Industrial	Technology	Utilities
Price changes end-Oct. to 1 Dec. 1999 end-1998 to 1 Dec. 1999	8.7% 30.2%	2.8% 5.4%	2.5% 0.7%	2.2% 30.9%	2.9% 3.1%	5.9% 27.8%	16.0% 46.3%	22.5% 83.6%	20.7% 35.5%
Volatilities end-Oct. to 1 Dec. 1999 end-1998 to 1 Dec. 1999	19.5% 18.4%	12.8% 17.1%	9.9% 18.6%	21.0% 22.8%	10.5% 18.5%	12.4% 21.1%	26.9% 18.8%	28.6% 26.6%	21.4% 22.2%

Source: STOXX.

Notes: Historical volatilities are calculated as the annualised standard deviation of daily index level changes over the period. Subsector indices are shown in the "Euro area statistics" section of this Monthly Bulletin.

the autumn fiscal stimulus package on GDP growth in the near term.

Although these increases in international stock markets provided a favourable environment for the euro area stock market, the increase of more than 9% in euro area stock prices between end-October and I December 1999 indicates that other factors played a role in this development. In particular, the principal influences underpinning this development seemed to be the further indications of an improvement in economic prospects for the euro area, together with declining long-term inflation expectations, particularly following the decision to raise ECB interest rates. These factors seemed to improve financial market expectations regarding future corporate profitability in the euro area. The decline in long-term bond yields in late October and during the early part of November tended to play a supportive role in the rise in stock prices.

Turning to the sector components of euro area stock price developments since end-1998, the most striking development has been the rapid progression of stock prices in the technology sector, with increases of 84% between end-1998 and end-November 1999 in the Dow Jones EURO STOXX technology sector index (see Table 3). Stock price developments in the euro area technology sector in the course of 1999 may have been partly influenced by similarly strong increases in technology sector stock prices in the United States and Japan. In addition, stock prices in the industrial sector, particularly in the industrial goods and services sub-sector, increased very rapidly between end-1998 and I December 1999 (46%), which seems to have partly reflected the improvement in the euro area economic outlook since end-1998. the fact that this Consistent with improvement was mainly related to the improved external environment for much of the year, the stock prices of larger and more internationally oriented firms included in the narrow Dow Jones EURO STOXX 50 index increased more rapidly, on average, than the stock prices of firms in the broad Dow Jones EURO STOXX index. Furthermore, the utilities sector demonstrated a relatively strong performance between end-1998 and I December 1999 (35%), which seems to have reflected not only improved economic prospects, but also the perception of mediumterm improvements in corporate profitability related to merger and acquisition activity, particularly in recent months.

Since end-1998 more modest stock price changes have been seen in the consumer noncyclical sector (1%) and in the financial sector (3%). The weak performance of the consumer non-cyclical sector may have been related to uncertain developments in consumer confidence in the euro area, particularly in the first half of 1999. The weak performance of stocks in the financial sector reflected mainly the weak performance of the insurance sub-sector. This may have been related to the fact that the prices of assets of insurance companies in the form of bonds were generally subject to downward pressures in 1999, while liabilities in the form of insurance pay-outs were reported to be relatively high in some cases.

Low level of net securities issues in August

In August 1999 gross issuance of debt securities by euro area residents was €234.5 billion. As redemptions of debt securities amounted to \in 204.0 billion, net issuance was \in 30.4 billion. This is less than the average monthly net issuance in the first seven months of 1999 (€42.8 billion). Of the net issues in August, only 53% were long-term. This was significantly lower than the average monthly share of long-term net issuance in total net issuance during the period from January to July 1999 (96%). The share of net issuance denominated in euro by euro area residents in August was 88%. This compares with an average monthly share of net eurodenominated debt securities issues in total net issues by euro area residents of 92% during the first seven months of 1999. Chart 9 shows that net issuance by euro area

Chart 9

Securities issued in euro by euro area residents in 1999

(EUR billions)



Source: ECB.

Note: Net issues differ from the change in amounts outstanding because of valuation changes, reclassifications and other adjustment.

residents was at its highest level in January 1999.

With regard to gross debt securities issuance by non-residents denominated in euro, these were \in 90.3 billion in the third quarter of 1999, according to new BIS data. On a net basis, these issues amounted to \in 63.7 billion. This amount was 42% higher than the average level of net issuance in the first and second quarters of 1999.

2 Price developments

Higher consumer price increases owing to food and non-energy industrial goods prices

In October 1999 the broad upward trend in the year-on-year rate of increase in overall HICP since June 1999 continued, with the annual rate of increase rising to 1.4%, from 1.2% in September. However, by contrast with previous months this was not caused by energy prices, but reflected an increase in prices for food and non-energy industrial goods (see Chart 10).

For the first time in 1999, the year-on-year increase in energy prices did not rise between September and October, but remained unchanged at 6.4%. This was the result of contrasting developments within this category. On the one hand, the year-on-year rate of increase in electricity and gas prices fell between September and October, owing to the further deregulation of electricity markets and an administrative reduction in gas prices. On the other hand, while oil prices moderated somewhat in October ($\in 20.8$ per barrel in October compared with $\in 21.8$ in September), they were clearly higher than in previous months, and the annual rate of change was still increasing. As a result, the year-on-year increase in prices for fuels and lubricants – the sub-component which absorbs most of the direct impact of oil price changes – continued to increase in October (see Chart 11).

By contrast with previous months, food prices contributed to some upward movement in the HICP. The rate of increase in processed food prices rose to 0.9% in October, having remained stable at 0.7% between June and September (see Table 4). This increase was

Chart IO

Breakdown of HICP inflation in the euro area by components

(annual percentage changes; monthly data)





Chart II



ECB Monthly Bulletin • December 1999

Table 4

Price and cost developments in the euro area

(annual percentage changes, unless otherwise indicated)

	1996	1997	1998	1998	1999	1999	1999	1999	1999	1999	1999	1999	1999
				Q4	Q1	Q2	Q3	June	July	Aug.	Sep.	Oct.	Nov.
Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices (HICP) and its components													
Overall index of which:	2.2	1.6	1.1	0.8	0.8	1.0	1.1	0.9	1.1	1.2	1.2	1.4	
Goods	1.8	1.1	0.6	0.2	0.3	0.6	0.9	0.5	0.7	0.9	1.1	1.3	
Food	1.9	1.4	1.6	1.1	1.3	0.6	-0.1	0.1	-0.1	-0.2	-0.1	0.4	
Processed food	2.0	1.4	1.4	1.2	1.2	0.9	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.9	
Unprocessed food	1.7	1.4	2.0	0.8	1.5	0.3	-1.4	-0.7	-1.4	-1.6	-1.2	-0.4	
Industrial goods	1.8	1.0	0.1	-0.2	-0.2	0.6	1.5	0.8	1.1	1.5	1.7	1.8	
Non-energy industrial goods	1.5	0.5	0.9	0.9	0.8	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.4	0.5	
Energy	3.0	2.8	-2.6	-4.4	-3.8	0.8	4.9	1.4	3.2	5.0	6.4	6.4	
Services	2.9	2.4	2.0	2.0	1.7	1.6	1.5	1.5	1.6	1.5	1.4	1.3	•
Other price and cost indicators													
Industrial producer prices 1)	0.4	1.1	-0.8	-2.3	-2.6	-1.3	0.6	-1.0	-0.1	0.6	1.3		
Unit labour costs ²⁾	2.0	0.7						-	-	-	-	-	-
Labour productivity 2)	1.2	1.8						-	-	-	-	-	-
Compensation per employee ²⁾	3.3	2.5						-	-	-	-	-	-
Total hourly labour costs 3)	2.8	2.6	1.7	1.8	2.3	2.1		-	-	-	-	-	-
Oil prices (EUR per barrel) ⁴⁾	15.9	17.1	12.0	10.1	10.3	15.0	19.7	15.6	18.1	19.2	21.8	20.8	23.5
Commodity prices ⁵⁾	-6.9	12.9	-12.5	-20.5	-16.0	-8.2	1.1	-4.2	-2.3	-0.5	6.6	10.7	11.9

Sources: Eurostat, national data, International Petroleum Exchange, HWWA – Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung (Hamburg) and ECB calculations.

1) Excluding construction.

2) Whole economy.

3) Whole economy (excluding agriculture, public administration, education, health and other services).

4) Brent Blend (for one-month forward delivery). In ECU up to December 1998.

5) Excluding energy. In euro; in ECU up to December 1998.

mainly a result of the development in tobacco prices in a major country. The index for alcoholic beverages and tobacco prices accounts for almost one-third of the processed food component. Larger monthon-month movements in this index tend mostly to reflect changes in indirect taxation and the pricing behaviour of firms in the tobacco industry. Meanwhile, the year-onyear rate of change in unprocessed food prices was -0.4% in October, up from -1.2% in September, owing to the development in meat and fruit prices. For a number of reasons, this gradual unwinding of the negative contribution from unprocessed food prices was anticipated. For further information on this see Box 5 on recent developments in unprocessed food prices.

In addition, the year-on-year increase in nonenergy industrial goods prices rose to 0.5% in October, from 0.4% in September. This reflects a rise in the annual rate of increase in durable goods prices, while the rate of increase in non-durable and semi-durable goods prices fell further in October. Consumer prices for durable goods are closely correlated with the development in industrial producer prices for durable consumer goods, but with a lag of up to a few months. The rise in the year-on-year increase in non-energy industrial goods prices in October could therefore be linked to that in the producer prices of durable consumer goods in September (see Chart 12).

While food and non-energy industrial goods prices contributed to the upward movement in the HICP between September and

Chart I 2

Prices of non-energy industrial goods and durable consumer goods producer prices

(annual percentage changes; monthly data)



1) HICP.

2) Industrial producer prices.

October, the downward trend in the yearon-year increase in services prices continued in October, when it stood at 1.3%, down from 1.4% in September. Whereas in previous months the impact of deregulation and enhanced competition in the services sector was more evident, in October the decline was to a large extent a consequence of the development in housing-related services. This was mainly caused by a sizable reduction in a VAT rate applicable to specific services (maintenance and repair of dwellings) in a major country.

Industrial producer prices rise, mainly reflecting oil price increases

Industrial producer prices rose by 1.3% yearon-year in September, up from 0.6% in August. This reflected a rise in the rate of increase in intermediate goods prices, which was linked to the development in oil prices and, to a lesser extent, to that in consumer goods prices. In view of the substantial increase in oil prices to €23.5 per barrel in November and the decline in oil prices during the fourth quarter of 1998, oil prices are likely to continue to exert upward pressure not only on the year-on-year increase in the HICP energy component, but also on the annual rate of increase in industrial producer prices in the coming months.

Temporary increase in inflation should not affect wages

The latest available data on wages only relate to the first half of 1999. They point to a moderate increase in labour costs over this period. The annual increases in total hourly labour costs in the first and second quarters of 1999 were 2.3% and 2.1% respectively. As wage developments in 1998 have been distorted by a technical factor relating to a tax reform in a major country, recent developments can best be compared with those in 1997. The year-on-year increase in hourly labour costs was on a downward trend in 1997, but still at a higher level than in the first quarter of 1999. Looking ahead, the wage bargaining round at the turn of the year will coincide with the peak in the upward pressure from energy prices on the year-on-year increase in the area-wide HICP. Since wages are an important determinant of the outlook for prices, it is crucial that this short-term rise in price increases does not feed into inflation expectations and higher wage increases, but that wage developments reflect the still high level of unemployment in the euro area. While price developments are expected to remain in line with price stability, improved business and labour market conditions could exert some upward pressure on consumer prices in the medium term. For further information on prospects for price developments, see Box 6, which reviews the prospects for the euro area in the period from 1999 to 2001.

Box 5 Recent developments in unprocessed food prices

In the recent past the development in the Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices (HICP) has often been strongly influenced by its two most volatile components, unprocessed food and energy prices (see Chart 10 in the main text). Since the beginning of this year the annual rate of increase in energy prices has risen continuously as a result of the ongoing increases in the world market price of oil. However, the upward effect of the energy price increases on the HICP has partly been counteracted by the slowdown in the rate of increase in services and non-energy industrial goods prices; however, unprocessed food prices have also played an important role. The development in energy prices and their relation to the substantial swings in the world market price of oil in recent years have been commented upon extensively in previous issues of the ECB Monthly Bulletin (see, in particular, Box 2 entitled "The effect of oil prices on the Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices (HICP)" in the September issue). In turn, this box provides more information on developments in unprocessed food prices and their underlying determinants.

Unprocessed food prices account for 9% of the euro area HICP, i.e. a figure broadly similar to the weight of energy prices. Unprocessed food consists of four sub-components, of which meat prices are the most significant (4.6% of the area-wide HICP). The remaining three, known collectively as seasonal food, are vegetable prices, which have a weight of 1.8%, and fish and fruit prices, which both have a weight of 1.3%. Seasonal food prices are far more volatile than meat prices (see the chart below). For analytical purposes, it can be useful to examine a measure of consumer price developments which is not distorted by the erratic movements in seasonal food.



The unprocessed food price index and its components

(annual percentage changes; monthly data)

1) Including potatoes and other tubers.

The year-on-year decline in unprocessed food prices slowed from 1.6% year-on-year in August to 0.4% in October 1999 due to developments in fruit and meat prices. While no upward movement has yet been recorded, the steep decline in the annual rate of change in vegetable prices since March 1999 appears to have come to an end.

Factors underlying the recent development in unprocessed food prices

Vegetable and fruit prices are generally strongly influenced by weather conditions and the strong decline in the rate of increase in these prices in mid-1999 reflects favourable weather conditions in the euro area as a whole. The level of the vegetable price index generally falls between April/May and August with the arrival of

a new harvest, while the level of the fruit price index tends to fall between June/July and October/November. This year, however, the seasonal decline in the price level of both indices was stronger than on average during the previous four summers. Meat prices, on the other hand, are to a larger extent determined by developments in world demand, and the sustained year-on-year decline since early 1998 relates, in particular, to a series of public health scares which have shaken consumer confidence in meat products in a number of countries in the euro area. In addition, a downturn in the external demand for meat products may also have contributed to the decline in meat prices. However, supply factors (increased competition resulting from the efforts of some producers to regain market shares for pork which were lost as a result of earlier cases of disease) could also have played a role. Finally, enhanced competition at the retail level has been cited as a factor behind the recent weakness in unprocessed food prices. The general downward trend in the rate of increase in processed food prices during 1999 provides some support for this view.

The outlook for unprocessed food prices depends on factors such as consumer demand, weather conditions and other seasonal factors and developments in market structure, which are difficult to quantify, e.g. the intensity of retail competition. However, in the months ahead, as meat prices appear to be recovering and the unusually strong seasonal decline in fruit and vegetable prices is not likely to persist, the negative contribution from unprocessed food is expected to decline gradually and may even become positive.

3 Output, demand and labour market developments

No new national accounts data for the euro area as a whole have become available since the November issue of the ECB Monthly Bulletin was published. The first estimate for the third quarter of 1999 is due to be released on 10 December 1999. Available data indicate that economic growth in the euro area has been strengthening since the last quarter of 1998 (see Table 5). The quarter-on-quarter rate of growth in GDP is estimated to have been 0.4%

Table 5

Composition of real GDP growth in the euro area

(percentage changes, unless otherwise indicated; seasonally adjusted)

		Annual rates ¹⁾								Quarterly rates 2)				
	1996	1997	1998	1998	1998	1998	1999	1999	1998	1998	1998	1999	1999	
				Q2	Q3	Q4	Q1	Q2	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q1	Q2	
Real gross domestic product of which:	1.3	2.2	2.7	2.8	2.6	1.9	1.6	1.6	0.5	0.5	0.1	0.4	0.5	
Domestic demand	0.9	1.7	3.3	3.0	3.5	3.0	2.6	2.5	0.5	0.8	0.7	0.6	0.4	
Private consumption	1.4	1.4	2.9	2.7	3.4	3.1	2.7	2.2	0.8	0.8	0.6	0.5	0.2	
Government consumption	1.8	0.5	1.3	1.5	1.1	1.0	1.0	1.2	0.0	0.0	-0.2	1.2	0.2	
Gross fixed capital formation	0.9	2.1	4.3	3.2	4.7	3.5	3.9	5.4	-0.7	2.4	0.1	2.2	0.6	
Changes in inventories ^{3) 4)}	-0.5	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.0	-0.1	0.2	-0.2	0.4	-0.4	0.1	
Net exports ³⁾	0.5	0.6	-0.5	-0.1	-0.8	-1.0	-0.9	-0.8	0.1	-0.2	-0.6	-0.2	0.1	
Exports ⁵⁾	4.5	10.0	6.3	8.6	4.7	1.6	0.3	0.6	1.2	0.3	-1.4	0.2	1.5	
Imports ⁵⁾	3.1	8.7	8.5	9.8	7.7	5.0	3.2	3.4	1.1	1.0	0.3	0.8	1.3	

Sources: Eurostat and ECB calculations.

1) Annual rates: percentage change compared with the same period a year earlier.

2) Quarterly rates: percentage change compared with the previous quarter.

3) As a contribution to real GDP growth; in percentage points.

4) Including acquisitions less disposals of valuables.

5) Exports and imports cover goods and services and include internal cross-border trade in the euro area. Intra-euro area trade is not cancelled out in import and export figures used in national accounts. Consequently, these data are not fully comparable with balance of payments data. and 0.5% in the first and second quarters of 1999 respectively. The year-on-year rate of real output growth in the second quarter of 1999 is estimated to have been 1.6%, unchanged from the previous quarter. The available national accounts data show that export growth has accelerated since the end of last year, while domestic demand grew at a slightly slower pace in the second quarter of 1999.

For the third quarter, available indicators point to a further recovery in export growth as well as sustained domestic demand. However, there may be some uncertainty about the pattern of growth in the forthcoming quarters due to temporary effects arising from the transition to the year 2000. This may be most apparent in increased stock-building towards the end of 1999 and in a reversal of this in the first half of 2000. More generally, the changeover to the European System of Accounts 1995 (ESA 95) may also increase uncertainty with regard to the quarterly profile for growth.

Continuing improvement in industrial activity and confidence

Industrial production data from Eurostat are now available up to September 1999 (see Table 6). The data confirm the continuation of the recovery in industrial production (excluding construction) in September. Measured on the basis of quarter-on-quarter growth rates, the data show a pattern of a gradual return to positive growth rates for industrial production that has been emerging over the past few months. In the third quarter of 1999 industrial production excluding construction was 0.9% higher than in the second quarter. This compares with a quarter-on-quarter increase of 0.2% and 0.4% in the first and second quarters of 1999 respectively. At the same time, in the manufacturing sector quarter-on-quarter growth in the third quarter of 1999 was 1.2%, compared with an increase of around 0.5% in each of the previous two quarters.

The breakdown of manufacturing production into the main industrial groupings indicates that, compared with the second quarter, the strengthening in activity has become more broadly based with higher growth rates across all categories of production. In particular, growth in the production of capital goods has now also turned clearly positive. At the same time, there are signs of some weakening in the third quarter in the production of durable consumer goods, which had substantially outperformed other categories of industrial production earlier in the year.

Table 6

Industrial production in the euro area

(annual percentage changes, unless otherwise indicated)

	1997	1998	1999 July	1999 Aug.	1999 Sep.	1999 July	1999 Aug.	1999 Sep.	1999 Apr.	1999 May	1999 June	1999 July	1999 Aug.
						mon	th-on-m	onth	thre	e-mont	h movir	ng avera	iges
Total industry excl. construct.	4.4	4.1	0.4	2.5	1.4	-0.1	0.4	0.2	0.7	0.4	0.9	0.9	0.9
Manufacturing by main industrial groupings:	5.0	4.6	0.2	2.5	1.4	0.1	1.2	-0.7	0.7	0.5	1.1	1.2	1.2
Intermediate goods	5.4	3.7	0.6	2.2	1.9	-0.1	0.5	0.3	0.8	0.5	0.7	0.8	0.8
Capital goods	4.8	6.7	-1.4	0.6	1.2	0.1	0.2	0.4	-0.2	-0.1	0.1	0.3	0.5
Consumer goods	2.7	3.0	1.2	4.6	0.6	0.4	1.5	-2.3	1.0	0.7	1.5	1.4	1.0
Durable consumer goods	2.7	6.3	1.5	11.0	-0.2	0.0	3.9	-4.2	1.4	1.4	2.1	2.6	1.7
Non-durable consumer goods	2.6	1.4	1.3	3.1	1.3	0.5	0.5	0.0	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.7	1.0

Sources: Eurostat and ECB calculations.

Note: Annual percentage changes are calculated by using data adjusted for variations in the number of working days; percentage changes on the previous month and three-month centred moving averages against the corresponding average three months earlier are calculated by using seasonally and working day adjusted data.

Table 7

Results from EC Business and Consumer Surveys for the euro area (seasonally adjusted data)

	1996	1997	1998	1998 Q4	1999 Q1	1999 Q2	1999 Q3	1999 May	1999 June	1999 July	1999 Aug.	1999 Sep.	1999 Oct.
Economic sentiment index ¹⁾	-2.7	2.4	3.1	-0.7	0.5	-0.4	0.2	-0.3	0.0	0.5	-0.5	0.3	0.5
Consumer confidence indicator ²⁾	-9	-4	6	9	11	7	7	7	6	8	7	7	9
Industrial confidence indicator ²⁾	-8	4	7	1	-3	-2	2	-3	-1	1	1	3	5
Construction confidence indicator ²⁾	-14	-11	3	7	13	15	15	14	16	17	13	14	16
Retail confidence indicator ²⁾	-5	-3	3	3	3	2	-1	3	-3	0	-1	-1	-2
Capacity utilisation (%) ³⁾	80.3	81.4	82.9	82.4	81.9	81.7	81.8	-	-	81.6	-	-	81.9

Source: European Commission Business and Consumer Surveys.

1) Percentage changes compared with the previous period; index 1985 = 100.

2) Percentage balances: data shown are calculated as deviations from the average over the period since January 1985.

3) Data are collected in January, April, July and October of each year. The quarterly figures shown are the average of two successive surveys, i.e. the surveys conducted at the beginning of the quarter in question and at the beginning of the following quarter. Annual data are quarterly averages.

The results of the European Commission's Business and Consumer Surveys for October 1999 show a further improvement in industrial confidence, consistent with the continuing improvement of the economic situation since the early part of the year (see Table 7). Industrial confidence has been rising continuously since the first quarter of 1999, returning to above its long-term average. In October 1999 it reached its highest level since October 1998, but was still significantly lower than the highest levels reached early in 1998. While there has been some further improvement in all of the components of the industrial confidence indicator for the euro area, the largest increases compared with the September survey have been seen in order books. Generally, the data show a rise in the assessment of production expectations as well as in total and export order books over recent months. All three components now stand above their long-term averages.

Reflecting the improvement in production utilisation growth, capacity in the manufacturing sector increased slightly in October 1999 to stand at 81.9%, 0.3 percentage point higher than in June, although still 0.1 percentage point below the level recorded in January 1999. Finally, the improving business climate in the manufacturing sector was also confirmed by the results of the Purchasing Managers' Index (PMI). This composite index has shown a steady improvement in the course of the year

Chart I 3

Industrial production, industrial confidence and PMI for the euro area (monthly data)



Sources: Eurostat, European Commission Business and Consumer Surveys and Reuters.

1) Percentage changes compared with the previous three-month moving average; seasonally and working day adjusted data; total industry excluding construction.

²⁾ Percentage balances.

³⁾ Purchasing Managers' Index.
and remained unchanged in November (see Chart 13).

Consumer confidence at a high level

The results of the European Commission's Business and Consumer Surveys for October 1999 indicate that consumer confidence increased somewhat compared with previous months. The increase follows a slight decline in the consumer confidence indicator in the first half of the year, which was consistent with the slowdown observed in private consumption growth in the second quarter. Both the decline and the subsequent recovery in consumer confidence mostly reflect changes in the assessment by consumers of the general economic situation.

Chart 14

Retail sales in the euro area

(annual percentage changes, three-month centred moving averages)



Source: Eurostat

Note: Total retail trade turnover at constant prices; excluding motor vehicles, motorcycles and the repair of personal and household goods. Annual percentage changes are calculated by using data adjusted for variations in the number of working days.

1) Owing to the unavailability of some national components, the series only starts from January 1996.

However, from a somewhat longer-term perspective, the strength of consumer confidence has remained broadly unchanged in the course of 1999. The overall consumer confidence indicator stayed at a level not far below the record high reached in the first few months of the year and well above its long-run average. This pattern has also been observed in the individual components of the consumer confidence indicator.

Eurostat has released new estimates of retail sales volumes in the euro area up to September 1999 (see Chart 14). The first estimate for September shows a slightly weaker growth rate of retail sales volumes. However, as this estimate was based on data available for only a limited number of countries, it should be treated with caution.

Employment growth may have strengthened in the second half of 1999

As reported in the November 1999 issue of the ECB Monthly Bulletin, total employment growth was somewhat lower in the first half of this year than in the previous six months. On the basis of national data, the quarter-onquarter rate of employment growth is estimated to have been 0.3% in the first two quarters of this year, i.e. 0.1 percentage point lower than the rate of growth recorded in the fourth guarter of last year (see Table 8). Employment appears to have been affected less than previously estimated by the temporary slowdown in economic activity which occurred at the turn of the year 1998/1999. Since employment usually reacts to output shocks within two quarters, it is unlikely that there will be a further adverse impact on employment growth in the second half of 1999. However, this relatively sustained pace of net job creation in the first half of the year conceals more divergent sectoral patterns. Eurostat data point to a fall in employment in manufacturing since the fourth quarter of 1998, reaching -0.6% in the second quarter of 1999 compared with the same quarter of the previous year. In the

Table 8

Employment growth in the euro area

(annual percentage changes, unless otherwise indicated)

	1997	1998	1998	1998	1999	1999	1998	1998	1999	1999	1999	1999	1999
			Q3	Q4	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q1	Q2	June	July	Aug.
							Ç	Quarterl	y rates ¹)			
Whole economy ²⁾	0.6	1.4	1.5	1.6	1.6	1.5	0.5	0.4	0.3	0.3	-	-	-
Total industry	-1.4	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.1	-0.1	0.0	0.1	-0.1	-0.1	0.0		
Construction	-0.4	0.1	-0.3	2.1	2.6	2.7	0.5	1.9	0.5	-0.2	2.7		
Total industry excl. construct.	-1.4	0.4	0.7	0.2	-0.2	-0.8	0.0	-0.2	-0.2	-0.3	-0.9	-0.8	-0.8
Manufacturing	-1.0	0.8	1.0	0.5	0.1	-0.6	0.0	-0.2	-0.1	-0.3	-0.6	-0.5	

Sources: National data and Eurostat (Short-term Business Statistics).

1) Quarterly rates: percentage change compared with the previous quarter; seasonally adjusted.

2) Excluding Belgium and Ireland; seasonally adjusted.

construction sector, for which the available data indicate rather volatile developments, employment fell in the second quarter of 1999 (by 0.2%) following three strong quarter-onquarter increases. By contrast with the developments in the industrial and construction sectors, the pace of net job creation in the rest of the economy appears to have been maintained in the first half of 1999, in particular in the private services sector, according to partial national information. Turning to the third quarter, the national data on total employment which have already become available point to a slightly faster pace of net job creation.

According to the European Commission Business Survey, employment expectations, which have exhibited some leading indicator properties for actual employment growth in the manufacturing sector in the past, started to move upwards in the July survey and continued to increase in the October survey (see Chart 15). The Purchasing Managers' Index also points to a rebound in employment in the second half of 1999. These survey results, which are in line with other signs of improvement in manufacturing, suggest that employment in this sector should cease to fall and could even start to increase again in the second half of the year. Employment expectations in the construction sector have virtually levelled off since the spring, at record high levels (see Chart 16). However,

Chart 15

Employment growth and employment expectations in manufacturing in the euro area

(annual percentage changes; percentage balances for employment expectations)



Sources: Eurostat and European Commission Business and Consumer Surveys.

Note: The horizontal line is the average of the employment expectations over the period from 1985.

Chart 16

Employment expectations in the euro area

(percentage balances; three-month centred moving averages; seasonally adjusted)



Source: European Commission Business and Consumer Surveys. Note: The horizontal lines are averages of the employment expectations over the period from January 1985 for construction and over the period from February 1986 for retail trade.

developments in employment have not always closely followed employment expectations. Finally, in the retail trade sector, the opinion of employers on employment has become somewhat less favourable since the beginning of the year, although employment expectations are still above the long-term average. Overall, the most recent developments in employment expectations thus also support the prospect of a gradual strengthening in total employment growth in the second half of the year.

Unemployment unchanged in September 1999

The standardised rate of unemployment in September 1999, which was released by

Eurostat after the cut-off date for the November issue of the ECB Monthly Bulletin, stood at 10% (see Chart 17). This is unchanged from the level recorded in both July and August. However, there has been a significant downward revision to unemployment for the period from May to August, which was previously estimated at 10.2%. This third successive month of no change in the rate of unemployment has to be seen against the background of the continuous, albeit gradual, decline observed since August 1997. Although it was obscured by rounding effects, there was in fact a decrease in the unemployment rate of almost 0.1 percentage point between August and September. This slight decline in unemployment is more evident when looking breakdown by age, at the as the unemployment rates of both young people and those above 25 years of age declined in September after having remained stable for four months (see Table 9). National data already available for October confirm this picture of a resumption of the decline in unemployment.

Chart I7

Unemployment in the euro area (monthly data; seasonally adjusted)



Table 9

Unemployment in the euro area

(as a percentage of the labour force; seasonally adjusted)

	1996	1997	1998	1998 Q4	1999 Q1	1999 Q2	1999 Q3	1999 Apr.	1999 May	1999 June	1999 July	1999 Aug.	1999 Sep.
Total	11.6	11.6	10.9	10.6	10.3	10.1	10.0	10.2	10.1	10.1	10.0	10.0	10.0
Under 25 years 1)	23.9	23.2	21.3	20.8	20.0	19.3	19.1	19.4	19.2	19.2	19.2	19.2	18.9
25 years and over ²⁾	9.8	9.9	9.4	9.2	9.0	8.9	8.8	8.9	8.8	8.8	8.8	8.8	8.7

Source: Eurostat.

Note: According to ILO recommendations.

1) In 1998 this category represented 24.0% of total unemployment.

2) In 1998 this category represented 76.0% of total unemployment.

Looking at labour market developments from a longer-term perspective, the decline in unemployment observed for more than two years appears to have been relatively slow, given the sustained employment growth recorded over the same period. The labour force may, in fact, have increased at a faster pace than that observed in the first half of the 1990s. If this is supported by the results of the 1999 Labour Force Survey, it may mean that the continuous expansion in employment recorded for two and a half years has gradually encouraged more people to enter or return to the labour market. Two additional factors may have influenced the most recent development in unemployment. The slight slowdown in employment growth described above, and more specifically the fall in manufacturing sector employment, contributed to a deceleration in the decline in unemployment that was seen from August 1997 to June 1999. Moreover, in some countries cuts in employment schemes, notably those targeted at young people, could explain the levelling-off in the rate of unemployment for this category of the unemployed which was observed during the summer. Nevertheless, if employment growth regains momentum in the second half of this year, the decline in unemployment should continue.

At this juncture, although the unemployment rate in the euro area as a whole remains high by historical and international standards, it is worth mentioning that a tightening in the labour market is already evident in several countries, as reflected by the increase in vacancies. In some euro area countries labour shortages have only appeared in particular labour market segments or in specific sectors, but in other countries they are noticeable in virtually all sectors of the economy. In the former group of countries, labour market shortages are still concentrated in the IT sector, notably owing to a temporary increase in the demand for skilled labour caused by the transition to the year 2000, while in the latter group these shortages stem from relatively high real GDP growth in recent years.

To summarise, employment growth may have gradually strengthened in the second half of 1999, while unemployment should return to its declining trend after a lag. All in all, employment could increase at broadly the same rate this year as in 1998. The available forecasts suggest that the unemployment rate should only decline gradually over the next two years, i.e. by around 0.6 percentage point per annum on average. Wage moderation and subdued labour cost increases, which have been key factors in explaining the good employment performance over the past two years, will be needed to ensure a sustained rate of employment growth in 2000 and beyond. In this respect, it will be important for local labour shortages not to give rise to excessive wage demands spilling over into the rest of the economy in the forthcoming wage rounds. This outlines the need for reforms aimed at increasing the participation rate and, thereby, the employment rate,

which is relatively low in Europe. Together with wage moderation, further progress with regard to the implementation of structural reforms is also warranted in order to support favourable employment developments in a more lasting manner and to bring unemployment down towards more acceptable levels on a sustainable basis.

Box 6

A review of the prospects for the euro area from 1999 to 2001

Following a temporary slowdown in the latter part of 1998, euro area output growth strengthened in the first half of 1999, and is expected to have accelerated further in the second half of the year. The outlook for euro area output growth in 2000 and 2001 has also improved in recent months. The brighter outlook reflects improved world trade prospects, as well as a continuation of favourable domestic economic conditions in the euro area. So far world growth in 1999 has been higher than was generally expected earlier in the year. In particular, the US economy has continued to expand robustly, while the recovery in Asian economies has arrived earlier and more forcefully than expected. In addition, the prospects for stable world growth have improved compared with the early part of 1999, as previous uncertainties reflected in developments in world financial markets have diminished.

The table below summarises the outlook for the period from 1999 to 2001, on the basis of the latest autumn forecasts by the IMF, the OECD and the European Commission, as well as the results of surveys of forecasters, i.e. the Consensus Forecast and the Survey of Professional Forecasters. These forecasts are inevitably conditional on a series of more or less different technical assumptions: in particular the forecasts make assumptions of future profiles for euro area short-term and long-term market interest rates, exchange rates and oil prices, all of which may differ between forecasts. Furthermore, the forecasts were completed on different dates and are, therefore, not only based upon slightly different vintages of data releases, but also cannot take full account of the latest developments. In order to derive a broad assessment of the outlook for price developments and the risks to price stability, the Governing Council of the ECB regularly examines forecasts forming part of a wide range of other information on financial and economic developments.

Comparison of forecasts for the euro area

(annual percentage changes, unless otherwise indicated)

		1999				2000					2001	
	IMF	OECD	EC 1)	SPF ²⁾	CF ³⁾	IMF	OECD	EC ¹⁾	SPF ²⁾	CF ³⁾	OECD	EC 1)
Private												
consumption deflator 4)	1.0	1.3	1.3	-	-	1.3	1.7	1.6	-	-	1.7	1.6
HICP	-	-	1.2	1.1	1.1	-	-	1.5	1.5	1.5	-	1.5
GDP growth	2.1	2.1	2.1	2.0	2.1	2.8	2.8	2.9	2.8	2.9	2.8	2.9
Unemployment rate ⁵⁾	10.3	10.2	10.0	10.2	-	9.7	9.6	9.4	9.7	-	9.1	8.8

Sources: IMF World Economic Outlook (October 1999); OECD Economic Outlook (November 1999); European Commission (autumn 1999); Survey of Professional Forecasters (November 1999) and Consensus Forecasts (November 1999). Note: The IMF, the Survey of Professional Forecasters and Consensus Forecasts do not provide forecasts for 2001.

2) On the basis of a questionnaire submitted by the ECB to 83 professional forecasters across the EU, the Survey of Professional Forecasters provides quantitative information about inflation expectations in the euro area with a horizon of up to two years ahead. To provide the appropriate background for these expectations, the survey also collects estimates for expected growth in area-wide real GDP and expected developments in the euro area unemployment rate. The sample of forecasters is based on recommendations from the respective national central banks in the EU. The forecasters are split fairly evenly between financial institutions (e.g. banks) and others (e.g. research institutes).

3) Consensus Forecasts.

4) For the IMF: CPI.

5) As a percentage of the labour force.

¹⁾ European Commission.

Favourable growth prospects

The latest projections for euro area output growth for 2000 have been subject to some upward revisions since the spring. In general, forecasts currently point to euro area output growth of around 2% for 1999, and an increase in real GDP growth to around 3% in both 2000 and 2001. The improved outlook for world trade as well as continued competitiveness in the euro area can be expected to have a positive impact on euro area exports, thereby supporting the ongoing strengthening of economic activity. In addition, domestic conditions for growth can be regarded as remaining favourable for a cyclical upswing within the euro area. Financial conditions remain healthy for investment and private consumption, while continued employment growth is expected to contribute to maintaining consumer confidence at a high level and also to sustaining private consumption growth. This would be consistent with a certain degree of slowing down of domestic demand growth in some of the previously faster growing economies. Overall, the projections predict that steady growth in domestic demand will remain at rates above 2½% over the entire forecast horizon, which is similar to the rate of growth observed in 1998. The contribution to growth of net exports is expected to turn positive in 2000 and 2001, after having made a negative contribution in 1999.

The uncertainties surrounding the recent growth projections can be regarded as more balanced than those made in the spring, and further upward adjustments to the growth forecasts may be envisaged. In particular, in an environment characterised by robust consumer and business confidence, domestic demand in the euro area may turn out to be stronger than expected in current forecasts. Uncertainties related to the future development of the external environment are more mixed. Export performance could be stronger if last year's losses in market shares are reversed more rapidly than expected. Downside risks stem from possibly slower than expected external demand expansion in the medium term in the United States or in emerging market economies. Finally, some short-term and presumably minor effects on the quarterly growth profile could emerge as a result of economic agents' behaviour around the end of the year, associated with the century date change.

Employment growth expected to continue

Despite weaker real GDP growth, employment growth in the euro area in 1999 is estimated at above 1%. Relatively high employment growth has been attributed to a variety of factors, including the lagged and relatively low response of employment growth to the recent cyclical downturn, wage moderation in previous years, and an increase in part-time work related to active labour market measures. Nominal wages are expected to grow by 2-2½% this year.

The pick-up in economic activity is expected to result in a cyclical rise in productivity. On the basis of the moderate rise in nominal wage growth in the forecasts available, unit labour costs could increase by around 1% a year in 2000 and 2001. Employment growth over this period is, therefore, projected to be broadly similar to that experienced this year.

The unemployment rate has continued to fall in the course of 1999. Forecasts project a decline in the unemployment rate to close to 9% by 2001, a return to levels experienced at the beginning of the 1990s. While past efforts to reform labour markets appear to have been effective in raising employment growth, progress with regard to reforms is uneven across countries. Further progress in removing obstacles to a better functioning of labour markets would significantly contribute to increasing the potential for sustained non-inflationary growth in the euro area.

The rate of increase in consumer prices expected to rise somewhat, while remaining below 2%

According to available forecasts, the rate of increase in consumer prices is expected to rise in 2000 and 2001, but to remain below 2%. Recent forecasts suggest that consumer prices are expected to rise by around $1\frac{1}{2}\%$ on

average in both 2000 and 2001. The recent increase in oil prices is likely to cause a temporary rise in the rate of increase in the energy price component of consumer prices, peaking in early 2000 and falling back in the course of the year. Nevertheless, as the strengthening of economic growth gathers pace, the rate of increase in consumer prices is expected to rise over the forecast horizon to reach a rate of above 1½% towards the end of 2001. Partially offsetting the cyclical rise in profit margins, ongoing deregulation in utilities is likely to continue to play a role in reducing the rate of price increases.

Several factors are contributing to increasing uncertainty with regard to the outlook for consumer prices as compared with earlier forecasts compiled this spring. First, uncertainties are arising as a result of the behaviour of monetary and credit developments. Another source of uncertainty stems from import prices, as a result of the rise in oil prices and the recent decline in the effective exchange rate of the euro. While the direct impact of developments in import prices on the rate of increase in consumer prices should be largely temporary, the degree to which they would feed further into domestic wage costs and prices remains somewhat uncertain and this may also depend on the evolution of output growth rates. Finally, price reductions resulting from deregulation in utilities could exert stronger downward pressure on consumer prices than anticipated in current forecasts.

4 Fiscal developments

Conditions for fiscal consolidation have improved

Current estimates of fiscal developments in 1999 reveal a more positive picture than had been expected in early summer this year. The average general government deficit-to-GDP ratio in the euro area may amount to $1\frac{1}{2}$ %, i.e. half a percentage point lower than in 1998, according to the most recent economic forecasts by the European Commission and the OECD (see Table 10). In early summer a deficit ratio of around 2% had been forecast for 1999 by the same institutions (see the June 1999 issue of the ECB Monthly Bulletin), falling only slightly compared with 1998. The more positive picture with regard to budgetary positions is mainly due to higher than expected government revenue in many Member States, which is also partly related to an improvement in economic conditions compared with previous forecasts, and a revision of budgetary results in 1998 exerting a favourable influence in 1999.

According to current forecasts, Member States' targets for their budget balance-to-GDP ratios in 1999 will be met on average in the euro area, although this may not be the case for each individual Member State. These targets were specified in the stability programmes presented towards the end of 1998. They were largely based on assumptions of economic growth rates which in some cases turned out to be optimistic on account of a slowdown in economic activity in the first half of 1999. The debt ratio is forecast to decline more slowly than anticipated. Current estimates of government debt as a percentage of GDP would therefore imply a higher level at the end of 1999 than expected earlier this year and targeted in the stability programmes.

For 2000, a further improvement in the areawide budgetary position is currently predicted by the European Commission and the OECD, leaving the average deficit-to-GDP ratio slightly above 1%. These forecasts suggest that in 1999 and 2000 three countries will record budget surpluses, but some Member States will still have deficits close to or above 2% of GDP, while the average government debt-to-GDP ratio will fall by 1½ percentage points in 2000. This would represent the biggest drop since the peak in the area-wide

Table I 0

Projections of fiscal developments in the euro area

(percentage of GDP; annual changes)

		1998	1999	2000
Budget balance	European Commission ¹⁾	-2.0	-1.6	-1.2
	OECD ²⁾	-2.0	-1.6	-1.2
	Stability programmes 3)	_4)	-1.8	-1.6
Cyclically adjusted budget	European Commission ¹⁾	-1.7	-1.2	-1.0
balance	OECD ^{2) 5)}	-1.6	-1.1	-0.9
	Stability programmes 3)	- 4)	-	-
Primary budget balance	European Commission ¹⁾	+2.7	+2.8	+3.0
	OECD ²⁾	-	-	-
	Stability programmes 3)	- 4)	+2.7	+2.7
Gross debt	European Commission ¹⁾	73.5	73.1	71.5
	OECD ²⁾	-	72.9	-
	Stability programmes 3)	- 4)	72.5	71.3
Memo item:	European Commission ¹⁾	2.7	2.1	2.9
Real GDP growth rate	OECD ²⁾	2.8	2.1	2.8
-	Stability programmes 3)	- 4)	2.5	2.7

1) Economic forecasts, autumn 1999.

2) Economic Outlook, preliminary edition, November 1999.

3) European Commission estimates on the basis of governments' stability programmes.

4) Member States' stability programmes are not applicable to 1998.

5) As a percentage of potential GDP.

debt ratio in 1996. However, more than half of the euro area countries would continue to record debt ratios above the 60% reference value.

Fiscal consolidation remains unambitious

Most Member States have made it clear during recent discussions on the orientation of their fiscal policies that they intend to further consolidate public finances in order to achieve budgetary positions consistent with the Stability and Growth Pact. At the same time, they also plan to take advantage of the favourable economic outlook to introduce tax changes aimed at promoting growth and employment. The two objectives are complementary rather than conflicting, but striking the right balance between the two remains a difficult challenge for fiscal policies in the Community.

On the basis of governments' budgetary plans, the European Commission forecasts that the

decline in the deficit ratio in the euro area in 1999 and 2000 will be fuelled by reductions in the share in GDP of government expenditure. However, the fall in the expenditure ratio is expected to take place mainly in the year 2000, while in 1999 the expenditure ratio is forecast to remain broadly constant. Moreover, the total decline over 1999-2000 is expected to be small in relation to previous years (see Chart 18, in which a reduction in expenditure as a percentage of GDP and an increase in the receipts ratio are depicted as a positive contribution to changes in the budget balance ratio). The reduction in interest payments as a percentage of GDP will contribute significantly to the anticipated decline in total government spending, as it has done over recent years. The share in GDP of interest payments is decreasing largely as the result of a decline in average interest rates on government debt (owing to the refinancing of long-term debt at less than the original rates) and, to a much smaller extent, to the decline in debt ratios. The primary expenditure-to-GDP ratio will only decline by 0.4 percentage

Chart 18

Changes in the average euro area budgetary position: contributions of receipts, primary expenditure and interest payments

(as percentage points of GDP)



Source: European Commission.

point on balance over 1999-2000, according to European Commission forecasts. Over this period government receipts as a percentage of GDP are forecast to be broadly constant on balance and, at slightly below 50% of GDP, to remain very high in the euro area.

These developments need to be seen against the background of underlying budgetary positions that are still far from balance across the euro area and that are currently not expected to improve significantly in 1999 and 2000. As a result of the modest decline in primary expenditure as a percentage of GDP, the primary surplus ratio within the euro area will remain almost constant in 1999 and improve only slightly in 2000, when it will stand at 3.0%, according to European Commission estimates. This estimate predicts that the cyclically adjusted budget balanceto-GDP ratio in the euro area as a whole will improve by 0.5 percentage point in 1999 and by 0.2 percentage point in 2000 (see Chart 19). In 2000 the cyclically adjusted budget balance is still expected to show a deficit of around 1% of GDP. While estimates of the level of the cyclically adjusted budget balance in the euro area provided by different institutions generally differ, owing to the application of different methods, the forecast annual changes are broadly consistent across different sources.

Current estimates by the European Commission imply that the cyclically adjusted primary balance ratio in the euro area, which is defined as the cyclically adjusted deficit ratio excluding government interest payments, will not have improved over the period from 1998 to 2000, i.e. for three consecutive years. This means that budgetary positions across the euro area continue to be predominantly driven by economic and interest rate conditions, whereas active fiscal consolidation measures do not appear to play a significant role. Owing to the expected strengthening in economic activity, the year 2000 should provide an opportunity to adjust fiscal policies in the euro area so as to achieve a more balanced position.

Further efforts needed to achieve budgetary positions close to balance or in surplus

Despite the anticipated further reductions in government deficits and debt levels in relation to GDP, further efforts are needed to achieve budgetary positions close to balance or in surplus. Where budgetary positions are forecast to remain relatively far from balance, additional fiscal policy measures appear to be warranted in order to limit the risk of breaching the reference value of 3% of GDP in the future. Moreover, current fiscal projections rely on the assumption that the envisaged fiscal measures will be fully implemented and effective. In most countries sufficient budgetary safety margins to cope with the effects of potential future recessions or other events not related to the cycle need to be created as soon as possible in order to meet the Stability and Growth Pact requirement of medium-term budgetary positions close to balance or in surplus. In addition, the safety margin implied by this requirement should also cover other burdens

on public finances, such as those related to excessively high debt ratios and the financial consequences of ageing populations.

The forthcoming updates of Member States' stability and convergence programmes should reflect governments' commitments to take all these requirements into account. In this respect, it is worth recalling the European Council's "Broad guidelines of the economic policies of the Member States and the Community" of 1999 in which Member States are urged, "provided the economic outlook unfolds better than expected in their stability or convergence programmes, to front-load the budgetary adjustment efforts envisaged in their programmes as of the year 2000 and, where programmes target minimum adjustment, to aspire to more ambitious objectives and update stability/convergence programmes accordingly". Finally, subject to compliance with the requirements of the Stability and Growth Pact, the tax burden on the economies should be reduced and further progress is needed on liberalisation and public sector reform.

Chart 19

Changes in the average euro area budgetary position: cyclical and non-cyclical components

(as percentage points of GDP)



Source: European Commission.

Box 7 Government finance statistics based on the ESA 95

From 1999 national accounts data on the government sector must be compiled in accordance with the new European System of Accounts 1995 (ESA 95).¹ The implementation of the ESA 95 is expected to improve the quality of data in terms of both their comparability – the ESA 95 is compulsory for all EU Member States – and the methodology used. The methodological improvements relate to a more clearly defined delimitation of the general government sector (the distinction between market and non-market producers being based on the concept of "economically significant" prices), more up-to-date concepts (such as the recording of leasing), the recording of transactions more closely in line with economic criteria (on an accruals and not a cash basis), and improved measurement practices (the inclusion of capital consumption on roads and bridges, etc.).

Almost all Member States have now made data available for the general government sector which have been compiled in accordance with the new system. (Financial accounts, however, are not due until 2000.) Government receipts, expenditure and deficit aggregates shown in Table 7 of the "Euro area statistics" section of this issue of the ECB Monthly Bulletin are published for the first time on the basis of ESA 95 national data.² However, the deficit and debt figures reported by the Member States to the European Commission in September 1999 within the framework of the excessive deficit procedure were still compiled in accordance with the ESA 79 (see the government debt data for the euro area and data relating to euro area countries in Table 7). The first report based on the new system is scheduled for March 2000.³

The differences between the ESA 95 and the ESA 79 data are only partly due to these methodological changes. Other differences result from the practical implementation of the new system. In general, national statistical institutes used the change to the ESA 95 to modify the statistical interpretation, and thus the recording, of certain transactions and to incorporate new sources of data. In addition, data expressed as a percentage of GDP are also affected by the revision of the level of the latter. As overall GDP levels increase, so the ratios decline.

Total receipts and total expenditure in the ESA 95 are, on average, 1 percentage point lower in relation to GDP than in the ESA 79 for the most recent years. The increase in GDP and the change in nominal receipts and expenditure each account for approximately half of the revision. Across countries, the magnitude and even the sign of the changes in receipts and expenditure categories differ substantially. Methodological revisions do not have the same impact everywhere and, in addition, they are often outweighed by country-specific revisions. The decrease in receipts and expenditure ratios is mainly due to smaller social contributions, transfers to households and the compensation of employees. This reflects the exclusion of units previously included in social security and of units engaged in health care from the general government sector. The change in the deficit ratio – around ± 0.1 percentage point for the most recent years – is much smaller than the change in the various receipts and expenditure categories, as many revisions are simply reclassifications among different categories. By contrast, changes in the general government sector delimitation and the switch to accruals accounting affect the deficit. In some cases, the impact of switching to accruals accounting tends to be cancelled out over a span of years. Since the broad development over time of the key public finance indicators is similar under both ESA 95 and ESA 79 recording, the change in the statistical standard does not provide a different picture of the convergence process.

Council Regulation (EC) No. 2223/96 of 25 June 1996 on the European System of National and Regional Accounts in the Community, Official Journal of the European Communities L 310 of 30 November 1996.

² ESA 95 data on receipts and expenditure are available for around 85% of the euro area; for the other participating countries, updated ESA 79 data have been used.

³ Government debt is not an ESA concept. This concept is defined in Council Regulation No. 3605/93 with reference to the ESA 79 and has to be amended in line with the ESA 95.

5 The global macroeconomic environment, exchange rates and the balance of payments

The global environment continues to improve

The global macroeconomic environment of the euro area continues to improve. In particular, the outstanding performance of the US economy was substantiated by recent data showing continued strong real GDP growth and broadly unchanged underlying inflation. In Japan the recovery seems to be under way, but remains tentative and uneven, while the economies in the rest of Asia are recovering strongly. The UK economy is rapidly strengthening, driven by domestic demand. In eastern Europe, after a disappointing performance earlier in the year, growth has rebounded broadly in line with expectations, but in Russia significant uncertainties remain. In Latin America the overall outlook continues to be positive, although the economic recovery remains fragile in a number of countries.

Reflecting the substantial improvement in the general outlook, both the OECD and the European Commission revised their world output growth projections upwards. According to the OECD, world output is projected to rise by 3.0% this year, and to accelerate to around $3\frac{1}{2}\%$ in 2000 (see Table 11). Inflation in the OECD area is expected to pick up somewhat, but to remain below 2% over the next two years. The European Commission has also revised upwards the world output growth forecast it published last April and is now projecting growth of 3.0% and 3.6% in 1999 and 2000 respectively. In terms of risks to the global outlook, the OECD and the European Commission have expressed concern about external imbalances in some major regions of the world economy. To this, the OECD adds the possible impact of an as yet incomplete restructuring of the financial and corporate sectors in the Asian emerging market economies, as well as the fragility of the economic situation in South America.

In the United States economic developments have continued to be characterised by a combination of strong growth, declining unemployment and subdued inflation. Following a somewhat weaker second quarter, the US expansion strengthened again

Table I I

OECD and European Commission forecasts (annual percentage changes)

	(DECD an	d EC Noven	1999 iber 1999		Differences between OECD current and June forecasts and EC current and spring forecasts					
	OECD	EC	OECD	EC	OECD	EC	Diff./ OECD June	Diff./ EC Spring	Diff./ OECD June	Diff./ EC Spring	
	1999		200	0	2001	2001		1999		2000	
Real GDP growth											
World	3.0	3.0	3.5	3.6	3.4	3.7	0.6	0.9	0.6	0.7	
United States	3.8	3.8	3.1	2.8	2.3	2.5	0.2	1.1	1.4	0.6	
Japan	1.4	1.3	1.4	1.6	1.2	2.1	2.3	2.6	1.4	1.1	
Euro area	2.1	2.1	2.8	2.9	2.8	2.9	0.0	-0.1	0.2	0.2	
Imports of goods and services											
World	4.9	4.8	7.1	6.3	6.3	6.0	1.0	0.9	1.5	0.7	

Sources: OECD and European Commission.

in the third quarter of 1999 as real GDP rose by 5.5% (annualised) from the quarter before. The expansion in the third quarter was mainly driven by private consumption and business fixed investment as well as by a solid rebound in inventory accumulation. The contribution of net exports, however, remained strongly negative and reduced annualised GDP growth by almost a full percentage point.

The pace of the expansion will most likely be maintained in the fourth quarter of 1999, sustained by, inter alia, higher demand, possibly related to the transition to the year 2000. Growth might also benefit from a smaller negative contribution from net exports in line with the strengthening of global demand. The rapidly improving global outlook has been the principal factor behind the recovery in the manufacturing sector. However, there are signs of some slowing in interest rate sensitive components of expenditure, particularly in the housing market, where indicators point to an ongoing easing in activity.

Labour market developments in the US economy, by contrast, still point towards expanding economy. radidly The а unemployment rate dipped further to a new 30-year low of 4.1% in October. At the same time, evidence of wage and inflation pressures building up in the economy remained scant, owing principally to the continuing rise in productivity, as well as increased competition in product markets. While annual headline inflation picked up to 2.6% (year-on-year) in September and October (mostly as a result of energy price increases as well as a one-off rise in tobacco prices), underlying inflation has remained at 2.1% in recent months. The continued strong expansion in economic activity and the tightness in the labour market prompted the Federal Reserve on 16 November 1999 to raise its target for the federal funds rate by 25 basis points to 5.5% in order to keep inflationary pressures in check over the medium term. This policy move brings the key policy rate to the level prevailing prior to the onset of the Russian financial crisis in the summer of last year, and it could contribute to slowing output growth to rates closer to potential over the medium term.

third-guarter developments In |aþan continued to send mixed signals. On the demand side, the only positive news came from customs clearance data showing external trade growing at around 5% (quarter-on-quarter). At the same time, however, real consumption is expected to decline in the third quarter, after a rebound in the second quarter, and private investment to contract. On the supply side, data were generally more positive; in particular industrial production grew by 4% (quarteron-quarter) in the third quarter, after having fallen by 1% in the second quarter.

Over the medium term doubts as to the durability of the present recovery persist, as private consumption remains weak and expectations concerning private business investment remain pessimistic for the near future. Against this background, at end-November the Japanese government approved another major stimulus package amounting to a total of JPY 18 trillion (or about 3.6% of GDP). Of this, actual government expenditures to take place in the next fiscal year (starting in April 2000) are estimated to amount to around JPY 6.8 trillion (1.4% of GDP). The additional expenditures are evenly distributed between public investment, on the one hand, and measures aimed at supporting small and medium-sized enterprises, job creation and housing construction, on the other. This extraordinary fiscal package should help to support GDP growth as from the second quarter of next year, but it has also raised market concerns about the high level of Japanese general government debt, which was 60% of GDP in 1992, but which will have risen to an estimated 125% of GDP by the end of the current fiscal year in March 2000.

In the United Kingdom the economic recovery from the slowdown in late 1998 and early 1999 continues to gather momentum, driven largely by domestic demand. In the third quarter, GDP growth is estimated to have been 0.9% (quarter-on-quarter), following 0.6% in the second guarter and 0.2% in the first quarter. The manufacturing sector, which was particularly affected by the slowdown, has recently shown a marked improvement and there has also been a modest improvement in the trade position in the third quarter. Reflecting the strength of domestic demand, the housing and labour markets appear to be tight, with rapid rises in house prices and a fall in the unemployment rate to 5.9% in the third quarter. So far these developments have not been reflected in a rise in inflation. As measured by the Retail Price Index excluding mortgage interest payments (RPIX), year-on-year inflation rose to 2.2% in October, continuing to remain slightly below the official target of 2.5%. Inflation measured by the HICP was 1.2% in October.

In the Asian economies excluding Japan the earlier reported recovery has transformed itself into a V-shaped rebound in economic activity. According to the most recent information, GDP growth may reach at least 4% in most of the region's countries, with the exception of Hong Kong and Indonesia, where growth is expected to be only slightly positive. In the case of Korea, the euro area's most important trading partner among the countries hardest hit by the crisis, the rebound is surpassing even the most optimistic expectations, and for 1999 as a whole a growth rate of real GDP of around 8% is generally expected. In parallel with the recovery, financial market indicators have broadly stabilised. In particular, strong rebounds have taken place in local stock markets, and bond spreads over US bonds have government narrowed significantly.

Recently the economic outlook in eastern Europe has improved broadly in line with expectations, after a disappointing performance in the first quarter of 1999. In Hungary and Poland real GDP growth picked up in the second quarter and is projected to reach around 3.5-4% for both economies in 1999 as a whole. The economic situation in the Czech Republic appears to be improving gradually, but real GDP growth is expected to remain slightly negative in 1999 as a whole. The Russian economy continues to be affected by weak fundamentals, although there have been some positive signals in the real sector, including a pick-up in industrial production. For the current year, most forecasters now project positive growth, following a 4.6% contraction in real GDP last year.

Latin America's growth outlook is improving: Mexico continues to enjoy robust growth and excellent trade performance, Brazil is emerging from recession and Argentina is likely to do so next year. Overall, indicators of financial stability in the region have improved and stock markets have recovered. At the same time international bond spreads have mostly narrowed, while some periods of market turmoil affecting a few small countries did not spread to the rest of the region.

Euro still reflects growth differentials

Following a period of relative stability, the euro reached new lows against the US dollar, the Japanese yen and the pound sterling towards the end of November. In the earlier part of the month, the major exchange rates had reacted only marginally to the monetary policy decisions in the United Kingdom, the United States and the euro area, as these decisions were largely anticipated by the markets.

The euro declined against the US dollar during November (see Chart 20) amid widening bond yield differentials between the United States and the euro area, as well as news suggesting continued strong economic growth in the United States. The release of data in the United States showing strong real GDP growth for the third quarter, the further significant improvement in productivity and the relatively subdued employment cost increases played the most important roles in

Chart 20

Patterns in exchange rates (daily data)



JPY/EUR 135 135 130 130 125 125 120 120 115 115 110 110 105 105 100 100 Q4 01 02 03 1999 CHF/EUR 1.80 1.80 1.75 1.75 1.70 1.70 1.65 1.65 1.60 1.60 1.55 1.55 1.50 1.50 1.45 1.45 1.40 1.40 1.35 1.35 Q1 Q4 Q2 Q3 1999

this regard. The decision by the Governing Council of the ECB to raise the ECB interest rates by 50 basis points on 4 November 1999 appeared to contribute to a fall in long-term interest rates, reflecting a reduction in future inflationary expectations and/or in inflation uncertainty in the euro area. Contrary to the development in the euro area, US bond yields increased, which may have contributed to the strengthening of the dollar against the euro from mid-November onwards. On I December the euro was quoted at USD 1.01, around 14% lower than at the beginning of 1999.

For most of November the Japanese yen remained relatively stable against the US dollar compared with earlier months, while it appreciated against the euro. Towards the end of November, however, the yen rose to new peaks against the dollar and the euro for this year, which triggered intervention by the Bank of Japan. While this pick-up appears to be largely related to technical factors, such as stop-loss strategies, a number of recent items of news have been positive for the yen. In particular, several forecasters have revised their projections for Japan significantly upwards. This has contributed substantially to the strengthening of the yen during recent months. The euro declined against the yen by about 6.2% over the reporting period and was quoted on I December at JPY 103.35, around 23% lower than at the beginning of the year.

The pound sterling rose by 1.7% against the euro from I November to I December 1999. On 4 November the Bank of England's Monetary Policy Committee decided to raise interest rates by 25 basis points in response to continuing increases in domestic economic activity, tight labour market conditions and a less benign external influence on inflation. On I December the euro was quoted at GBP 0.630. Exchange rates within ERM II were very stable during November (see Chart 21), with daily fluctuations in the Danish krone of less than 0.04% around the average value of DKK 7.44. The Greek drachma also remained stable and around 7.4% above its central parity. This was mainly the result of a tight monetary policy stance in Greece, which is reflected in three-month interest rates that continue to range around 10%. The Swiss franc remained, as in earlier months, very close to a level of CHF 1.60 against the euro and weakened only for a few days after the Eurosystem's interest rate increase. The Swedish krona remained more or less stable against the euro in November, while economic indicators confirmed continuing strong growth of the Swedish economy.

Foreign exchange markets in emerging market economies were relatively calm. Significant movements occurred in Korea, which carries a weight of 4.8% in the effective exchange rate index for the euro (see Box 5 in the

Chart 21





Source: ECB.

Note: The horizontal lines indicate the central parities (DKK 7.46, GRD 353.1) and the respective fluctuation bands ($\pm 2.25\%$ for DKK and $\pm 15\%$ for GRD).

Chart 22

Nominal and real effective exchange rates ¹⁾

(monthly averages; index 1999 Q1 = 100)





106

Source: ECB

 Data are ECB calculations (see Box 5 in the October 1999 issue of the Monthly Bulletin). An upward movement of the index represents an appreciation of the euro. Horizontal lines are averages over the period shown (January 1997 to November 1999).

October issue of the ECB Monthly Bulletin). The Korean won continued to strengthen against the euro, rising by around 7% in November alone. Similarly, the currencies of Singapore and Taiwan also rose against the euro in the period under review.

In nominal effective terms, i.e. on a tradeweighted basis, the euro declined by around 3.3% in November and on I December stood around 9.8% below the level recorded in the first quarter of this year. The real effective exchange rate, deflated by consumer prices, declined by approximately the same magnitude (see Chart 22).

Exports continue to improve

Export values continued to recover in September, increasing by almost 5% compared with the same month a year ago, reflecting both rising foreign demand and considerable improvements in price competitiveness since the start of the year (see Table 12). Despite this increase, which is in line with recent trends, the surplus on trade in goods declined compared with September 1998, which may be linked to the

Table I 2

Balance of payments of the euro area ¹⁾

(EUR billions, compared with ECU billions for 1998 (not seasonally adjusted))

	1998	1998	1999	1999	1999	1999
	Jan Sep.	Sep.	Jan Sep.	July	Aug.	Sep.
Current account balance	46.1	0.7	34.5	8.2	1.5	-1.9
Credits	947.4	103.6	938.3	111.9	96.0	106.8
Debits	901.2	102.9	903.8	103.7	94.5	108.7
Goods balance	87.8	7.9	73.2	13.3	7.0	6.5
Exports	576.7	63.6	566.0	69.4	57.3	66.6
Imports	488.9	55.7	492.9	56.0	50.3	60.2
Services balance	0.3	-0.8	-4.7	0.8	-1.1	-1.3
Exports	173.8	19.6	172.3	22.7	19.9	19.8
Imports	173.5	20.4	177.0	21.9	21.0	21.1
Income balance	-9.6	-1.6	-5.4	-1.5	0.4	-2.5
Current transfers balance	-32.4	-4.9	-28.6	-4.4	-4.8	-4.6
Capital account balance	9.0	0.5	7.9	0.7	0.6	0.4
Financial account balance	-32.9	-37.2	-64.8	-3.4	32.9	-32.8
Direct investment	-46.1	-6.5	-86.7	-5.7	-5.9	-7.0
Abroad	-113.0	-19.2	-133.0	0.1	-9.4	-10.5
In the euro area	66.9	12.7	46.3	-5.8	3.5	3.5
Portfolio investment	-45.6	-12.6	-36.7	3.0	1.8	20.2
Assets	-240.7	-19.5	-207.9	-19.0	-20.7	-17.2
Liabilities	195.1	6.9	171.2	22.1	22.5	37.5
Financial derivatives	-2.9	0.3	0.5	1.8	1.5	-0.7
Other investment	59.8	-22.9	44.5	-1.8	34.9	-47.0
Reserve assets ²⁾	1.8	4.5	13.6	-0.7	0.5	1.7
Errors and omissions	-22.2	36.0	22.4	-5.5	-35.0	34.3

Source: ECB.

Note: For the financial account, a positive sign indicates an inflow, a negative sign an outflow. A more detailed set of tables can be found in Section 8 of the "Euro area statistics" section of this Monthly Bulletin.

1) Figures may not add up due to rounding.

2) Increases in reserve assets (-); decreases in reserve assets (+).

impact on imports of higher oil prices, as well as signs of increased activity in the euro area over the previous few months.

Seasonally adjusted trade volume data for the first half of this year provide a further insight into recent trade developments. On the exports side, it appears that euro area export volumes started to increase again at the beginning of 1999; previous declines had been caused by depressed foreign demand, primarily as a result of the Asian crisis, as well as losses of competitiveness arising from the appreciation of European currencies. The turnaround in export volumes this year corresponds with a recovery in demand in Japan and the rest of Asia, as well as robust import growth in the United States; together these markets account for around 30% of the exports of the euro area (see Box 8). Turning to euro area imports, import volumes

grew strongly during 1998, but then decelerated during the first half of this year, in response to both slower growth in the euro area and improvements in price competitiveness. However, in value terms total imports continued to increase, largely as a result of the sharp increase in import prices since the start of 1999 following the decline in the euro and the marked increase in oil prices.

The \in 14.6 billion decrease in the goods surplus for the first three quarters of this year, compared with the first nine months of 1998, is the major reason behind the \in 11.6 billion decline in the current account surplus over the same period. By contrast, smaller deficits for current transfers and income accounts helped to limit the decline in the current account surplus.

Box 8 The openness of the euro area with regard to external trade

The standard method for measuring the degree of openness of a region is to express its exports and imports as a proportion of GDP. By contrast with individual euro area countries previously seen as small or mediumsized economies, the euro area – with a large internal market bound together by a single currency – is one of the major world economies, comparable in size to the United States or Japan and, like those economies, relatively closed (see the table below). However, differences exist in terms of the relative openness of these three major economies and their openness towards other regions in the world.

With regard to both exports and imports the euro area is somewhat less closed than either the United States or Japan. In terms of goods and services, its exports form around 17% of its GDP, compared with just over 11% for the United States or Japan, and its imports represent around 15% of its GDP, compared with around 13% and 10% for the United States and Japan respectively.

		Euro area 1)				United States				Japan			
	Go	Goods		ls and vices			Goods and services		Goods		Goods and services		
	1997	1998	1997	1998	1997	1998	1997	1998	1997	1998	1997	1998	
Exports	12.9	13.2	16.8	17.1	8.4	7.9	11.6	11.0	9.8	9.8	11.4	11.5	
Imports	11.3	11.1	15.2	15.1	10.8	10.8	12.9	12.9	7.3	6.6	10.3	9.6	

Shares of exports and imports as a percentage of GDP (balance of payments data)

Sources: Eurostat and the ECB for the euro area, IFS for the United States and Japan.

 Euro area data for 1997 are drawn from Eurostat figures and are not fully comparable with those for 1998, which are based on ECB balance of payments figures. The numbers reported here differ from those reported in Table 1 of the January 1999 issue of the ECB Monthly Bulletin, as the latter were based on Eurostat data because euro area balance of payment statistics were not yet available.

Such aggregate measures provide information about the magnitude of external trade links, but tell us little about other important features, such as the degree of openness with regard to different geographical trading partners or the level of economic development of such partners. In particular, different degrees of regional openness may provide information which is useful for explaining the different responses of the major economies to external shocks transmitted via trade links. To explain this, the table below provides details of the regional direction of trade for the three major economies in terms of percentages of their GDP.

Regional trade in goods as a percentage of GDP (1995-98 average)

	Euro	area	Jaj	pan	United	States
	Exports	Imports	Exports	Imports	Exports	Imports
Industrialised countries	6.7%	6.0%	4.7%	3.4%	4.6%	5.8%
Euro area	-	-	1.2%	0.8%	1.2%	1.5%
Japan	0.5%	0.8%	-	-	0.8%	1.6%
United States	1.7%	1.6%	2.7%	1.7%	-	-
Other industrialised countries	4.6%	3.7%	0.8%	0.9%	2.6%	2.8%
Emerging economies	6.0%	5.3%	4.8%	4.0%	3.6%	5.0%
Asia excluding Japan	1.3%	1.6%	3.9%	2.8%	1.5%	2.7%
Transition economies	1.7%	1.3%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%
Latin America	0.7%	0.5%	0.4%	0.2%	1.5%	1.7%
Other emerging economies	2.3%	1.9%	0.4%	0.9%	0.4%	0.5%

Sources: Eurostat and IMF databases.

When considering the scale of trade between the three major economies, the second table shows that both Japan and the euro area import similar magnitudes from the other two major economies (around 2.5% of their respective GDPs), despite the fact that the Japanese economy is relatively more closed. This reflects the concentration of Japan's trade with industrialised countries on the United States and the euro area. By contrast, both the United States and the euro area also have substantial trade links with other industrialised countries, such as the United Kingdom in the case of the euro area and Canada in the case of the United States. Another feature is that roughly half of the total trade of each of the three major economies is with emerging market economies, but there are significant differences in the geographical composition of such trade. All three major economies appear to be "open" towards distinctly different emerging economy trading blocs. The degree of openness of Japan vis-à-vis the rest of Asia in terms of exports is three times as large as that of the United States and the euro area, whereas the trade links in terms of imports from the same area are virtually the same for both the United States and Japan. By contrast, a significant part of emerging market trade with the euro area is concentrated among the accession and transition countries of eastern Europe, while trade between this region and the United States and Japan is virtually nil. Similarly, Japan and the euro area have only limited trade links with the Latin American countries, whereas a relatively significant part of US trade is with this region.

In summary, the three major economies are relatively closed, although the euro area tends to be somewhat less closed than the United States and Japan. In addition, there are substantial differences in their relative openness with regard to other regions. As a consequence, the euro area, the United States and Japan have different exposures to external shocks transmitted via trade links.

Table I 3

Net international investment position of the euro area ¹⁾

(ECU billions; assets minus liabilities; end-of-period positions)

	1997	1998
Fotal	42.2	-132.4
Direct investment	114.4	164.6
Equity (including reinvested earnings)	129.9	175.4
Other capital	-15.5	-10.8
Portfolio investment	-599.6	-609.1
Equity/securities	-361.8	-475.5
Debt instruments ²⁾	-237.8	-133.6
Bonds and notes	-210.7	-125.5
Money market instruments	-27.0	-8.2
Financial derivatives ²⁾	-5.7	-3.6
Other investment	169.8	-13.8
Trade credits	80.0	86.5
Loans/currency and deposits ²⁾	0.4	-172.2
Other assets/liabilities	89.3	71.9
Reserve assets ²)	363.3	329.4

Source: ECB.

1) Obtained by the aggregation of national data. Data for 1997 are not fully comparable with data for 1998. Figures may not add up due to rounding.

2) Data for end-1997 are not fully comparable with those for end-1998.

Strong increase in portfolio investment net inflows in September

Net inflows in portfolio investment increased substantially in September to $\in 20.2$ billion (up from $\in 1.8$ billion in August and $\in 3$ billion in July), the highest level so far reported for the euro area. In particular, foreign purchases of euro area securities, mainly debt instruments, contributed to this result. At the same time, euro area residents' investments in foreign debt securities dropped to the lowest level so far this year.

While substantial net outflows for portfolio investment were reported in the first five months of 1999 (\in 69.6 billion), there were significant net inflows between June and September (\in 32.9 billion). The latter inflows may be attributed to improved investor sentiment regarding investment in euro area securities over the summer months. This coincided with a narrowing of the yield differential between US and euro area longterm government bonds from June to September, and with the euro recovering from its low against the US dollar between mid-July and end-September.

As a result of the significant net inflows over the summer months, particularly in September, net portfolio investment outflows in the first nine months of this year were lower than in the same period of 1998 (€36.7 billion, compared with ECU 45.6 billion). This development mainly reflects a swing in debt instruments from net outflows in the first nine months of 1998 (ECU 23.7 billion) to net inflows (€3.8 billion) in the same period of this year. With regard to the composition of portfolio investment inflows, it is noteworthy that foreign investors significantly increased their purchases of short-term euro area money market instruments after July, when uncertainty concerning future euro area interest rates increased.

Net direct investment outflows amounted to \in 7.0 billion in September, which is close to the figures for August and July. Between

January and September 1999 net direct investment outflows totalled \in 86.7 billion, almost double the figure for the same period of last year. The figures for the first nine months of 1999 reflect both higher direct investment abroad by euro area residents and lower foreign direct investment in the euro area.

The euro area international investment position declined between end-1997 and end-1998

The euro area international investment position vis-à-vis the rest of the world – computed for the first time by the ECB (see the methodological note in Box 9 below) – reports net liabilities of ECU 132.4 billion (2% of GDP) for 1998 (see Table 13). This is primarily the result of a negative net position in portfolio investment (ECU 609.1 billion) in both equities and debt instruments, as well as a small negative net position in financial derivatives and in other investment. However, the euro area is a net investor as far as direct investment (ECU 164.6 billion) and net reserves (ECU 329.4 billion) are concerned.

Compared with the results as at end-1997, the euro area international investment position deteriorated by approximately ECU 175 billion in 1998. This development is mainly linked to the other investment account, which moved from a net external assets position of ECU 169.8 billion in 1997 to a net external liabilities position of ECU 13.8 billion in 1998, as well as a small increase in portfolio investment net liabilities. The remaining accounts in the international investment position instead remained virtually unchanged, with the exception of the direct investment account, the net external assets balance of which increased by ECU 50.2 billion.

The negative swing of the euro area international investment position between 1997 and 1998 cannot be directly derived from the balance of payments data for 1998,

which show a financial accounts outflow of ECU 69.1 billion, which would mean an increase in the net external assets position of the euro area. In order to reconcile the balance of payments and international investment position it is therefore necessary to consider the impact of revaluation. Revaluation was particularly relevant for equities. For example, for equity securities in portfolio investment the international investment position reports a decline in net external assets of ECU 113.7 billion, whereas the balance of payments shows net outflows of equities of ECU 0.4 billion.

Box 9

International investment position of the euro area: methodological note

The annual international investment position of the euro area, compiled by the ECB for the first time, covers the net external assets of the euro area for 1997 and 1998 (see Table 8.6 in the "Euro area statistics" section of this issue). The international investment position reports the net external positions of stocks in direct and portfolio investment, financial derivatives, other investment and reserve assets. It complements the balance of payments, which records flows of assets and liabilities, with data on the value of stocks. The change in the international investment position between year-ends can only be partly explained by the balance of payments in the intervening year, since the international investment position also reflects valuation effects arising from changes in asset prices and exchange rates and certain other changes not recorded in the balance of payments (see the main text).

At the current stage the euro area international investment position does not provide full coverage of data, and the data may be revised in the future as the methodology is refined. Furthermore, data for 1998 are not fully comparable with data for 1997. Therefore, the analysis provided here should only be considered as indicative. Nevertheless, the figures reported may help to provide an initial assessment of the external position of the euro area.

The euro area international investment position is based on the aggregation of the international investment positions of individual euro area Member States. At present, however, the international investment positions of euro area Member States do not include a breakdown into cross-border positions within the euro area and positions vis-à-vis non-residents of the euro area. Consequently, in each account of the euro area international investment position only the net external position of the euro area can be identified and, unlike the international investment position of Member States, external assets and liabilities are not available separately. Moreover, national compilation methods have yet to be fully harmonised. Furthermore, only a breakdown by instrument is possible.

The classification of the items in the international investment position follows the standard components of the balance of payments financial account as set out in the IMF Balance of Payments Manual (5th edition), namely direct investment, portfolio investment, financial derivatives, other investment and reserve assets, and is consistent with the investment income items in the balance of payments current account. The euro area international investment position is valued at current prices, with the exception of direct investment stocks, for which book values are used to a large extent.

Direct investment is split into equity capital (plus reinvested earnings) and other capital (debt between affiliated companies). Portfolio investment is classified by instrument, i.e. equity securities and debt securities, and the latter instrument is subdivided into bonds and notes and money market instruments. The other investment account is broken down into trade credits, loans/currency and deposits and other assets and liabilities.

Further information on international investment position statistics is provided on the ECB's Web site.

Two main factors can be identified in this respect, namely the relatively strong performance of equity prices in the euro area and the appreciation of the ECU between end-1997 and end-1998. Starting with the stock markets, between end-1997 and end-1998 equity prices in the euro area grew by around 32%, outperforming stock markets in the United States and the United Kingdom (which grew by 27% and 15% respectively) and Japan (which declined by 9%). As the euro area was already a net debtor in 1997 with regard to equity portfolio investment, the strong performance of the euro area equity market (in which non-residents invested their holdings of euro area equity securities) relative to foreign stock markets (in which euro area residents invested their holdings of foreign equity securities) may have contributed to a further decline in the net external position in equities, assuming that the allocation of investments is broadly in line with the composition of stock market indices in these countries. In addition, in 1998 the ECU appreciated against most international investment currencies, for

example it rose by 5% against both the US dollar and the pound sterling. All other things remaining equal, the appreciation of the ECU reduced the value of assets denominated in those currencies held abroad by euro area residents.

Against this background, it is worth mentioning that the international investment position should not be misinterpreted as a measure of actual or potential financial obligations of borrowers. For example, the revaluation of securities according to market prices does not, in itself, change the obligations of a borrower. In particular, the sharp rise in the value of euro area equities held by non-residents, mainly as a result of an increase in market valuation, does not constitute obligations for the issuers. Nevertheless, applying a market price valuation to the international investment position is a meaningful valuation in economic terms. This makes it easier to compare net external positions internationally and helps to explain changes in the structure of net wealth.

Euro area statistics

Contents

Statistics

I	Mone	tary policy statistics	
	1.1	Consolidated financial statement of the Eurosystem	4 *
	1.2	ECB interest rates on standing facilities	6*
	1.3	Eurosystem monetary policy operations allotted through tenders	6*
	1.4	Minimum reserve statistics	7*
	1.5	Banking system's liquidity position	8*
2	Mone	tary developments in the euro area	
	2.1	Aggregated balance sheet of the Eurosystem	10*
	2.2	Aggregated balance sheet of the euro area MFIs, excluding the Eurosystem	*
	2.3	Consolidated balance sheet of the euro area MFIs, including the Eurosystem	12*
	2.4	Monetary aggregates	14*
	2.5	Outstanding MFI loans by counterpart, type and original maturity	17*
	2.6	Currency analysis of certain liabilities and assets of the euro area MFIs	18*
3	Finan	cial markets and interest rates in the euro area	
	3.1	Money market interest rates	20*
	3.2	Government bond yields	21*
	3.3	Stock market indices	22*
	3.4	Retail bank interest rates	23*
	3.5	Securities issues other than shares by original maturity, residency of the issuer and	
		currency denomination	24*
4	HICP	and other prices in the euro area	
	4.I	Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices	26*
	4.2	Selected other price indicators	27*
5	Real	economy indicators in the euro area	
	5.I	National accounts	28*
	5.2	Selected other real economy indicators	2 9 *
	5.3	Business and consumer surveys	30*
	5.4	Labour market indicators	31*
6	Savin	g, investment and financing in the euro area	32*
7	Gene	ral government fiscal position in the euro area and in the euro area countries	33*
8		ce of payments and international investment position of the euro area (including reserves)	
-	8.1	Summary balance of payments	34*
	8.2	Balance of payments – current and capital accounts	35*
	8.3	Balance of payments – income account	36*
	8.4	Balance of payments – direct and portfolio investment accounts	37*
	8.5	Balance of payments – other investment account and reserve assets	38*
	8.6	International investment position	40*
9	Exter	nal trade in goods of the euro area	41*
10		-	44*
		inge rates	
11		omic and financial developments in the other EU Member States	45*
12		omic and financial developments outside the EU	
		Economic and financial developments	46*
	12.2	Saving, investment and financing	47*
Tech	nical	notes	48*
Gene	ral no	otes	49 *

Table 1.1

Consolidated financial statement of the Eurosystem (EUR millions)

1. Assets

	Gold and	Claims on non-	Claims on euro	Claims on non-	Lending to	,		
	gold	euro area	area residents in	euro area	financial sector	Main	Longer-term	Fine-tuning
	receivables	residents in	foreign currency	residents	counterparties in	refinancing	refinancing	reverse
		foreign currency	2	in euro	the euro area	operations	operations	operations
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1999 2 July	101,753	244,546	12,415	4,002	198,094	152,001	44,991	0
9	101,753	244,546	12,415	4,002	198,094	152,001	44,991	0
16	101,753	245,833	12,344	4,140	193,768	148,065	45,001	0
23	101,754	247,105	11,717	4,364	194,138	146,956	45,001	0
30	101,754	245,380	12,802	4,162	214,012	166,954	45,001	0
6 Aug.	101,754	245,853	13,027	4,162	194,731	149.018	45,001	0
13	101,754	245,650	12,724	4,107	189,871	143,990	45,001	0
20	101,754	246,057	12,640	4,261	186,895	141,042	45,001	0
27	101,754	245,415	12,580	4,116	205,150	159,071	44,996	Õ
3 Sep.	101,754	245,588	11,915	4,281	197,748	152,043	44,996	0
10	101,754	245,034	12,887	4,686	193,931	147,991	44,996	Õ
17	101,754	245,923	12,472	5,028	188,657	142,932	44,994	Õ
24	101,754	246,058	13,054	4,919	198,458	152,955	44,994	ŏ
1 Oct.	114,988	240,223	13,357	5,066	192,534	146,988	44,994	0
8	114,988	240,037	13,649	5,026	191,099	145.071	44,994	ŏ
15	114,988	239,967	13,748	5,084	185,829	140.104	44,994	ŏ
22	114,988	240,735	13,741	5,084	171,707	125,054	44,994	ŏ
29	114,988	240,177	13,684	5,670	205,293	149,004	54,995	ŏ
5 Nov.	114,988	240,305	13,702	5,832	195,860	140,104	54,995	0
12 S NOV.						140,104		0
	114,988	238,617	13,749	5,336	196,193		54,995	
19	114,988	240,349	13,229	5,313	198,821	143,029	54,995	0
26	114,987	239,561	12,846	5,340	208,995	143,046	64,999	0

2. Liabilities

	Banknotes in	Liabilities to						Debt certificates
	circulation	financial sector	Current accounts	Deposit facility	Fixed-term	Fine-tuning	Deposits	issued
	circulation	counterparties	(covering	Deposit facility	deposits	reverse	related to	155404
		in the euro area	the minimum			operations	margin calls	
		in euro	reserves system)				Ū	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1999 2 July	344,694	102,529	102,185	316	0	0	28	10,158
9	344,694	102,529	102,185	316	0	0	28	10,158
16	344,405	104,586	104,499	68	0	0	19	10,158
23	342,580	94,151	92,351	1,788	0	0	12	10,158
30	345,768	109,826	109,789	27	0	0	10	10,158
6 Aug.	348,034	106,144	105,807	292	0	0	45	10,158
13	346,223	103,115	103,001	96	0	0	18	10,158
20	342,257	100,588	95,691	4,883	0	0	14	10,158
27	340,626	110,453	110,439	13	0	0	1	10,158
3 Sep.	344,193	106,110	106,037	49	0	0	24	10,158
10	344,254	100,011	99,984	20	0	0	7	10,158
17	342,188	98,993	98,237	750	0	0	6	10,158
24	340,327	103,953	103,863	76	0	0	14	10,158
1 Oct.	343,179	109,898	109,679	154	0	0	65	8,606
8	345,322	102,086	101,938	85	0	0	63	8,606
15	343,752	109,329	109,011	184	0	0	134	8,606
22	340,852	98,656	92,529	6,027	0	0	100	8,606
29	343,584	109,886	109,399	395	0	0	92	8,606
5 Nov.	345,416	100,927	100,826	13	0	0	88	7,876
12	344,556	98,280	98,208	21	0	0	51	7,876
19	342,495	106,871	106,052	748	0	0	71	7,876
26	343,342	106,344	106,129	57	0	0	158	7,876

Source: ECB.

							Total	
				Securities of	General	Other assets		
Structural	Marginal	Credits related	Other lending	euro area	government debt			
reverse	lending facility	to margin calls		residents in euro	in euro			
9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	
0	440	79	583	25,882	60,156	75,867	722,715	1999 2 July
0	440	79	583	25,882	60,156	75,867	722,715	9
0	108	133	461	25,700	60,156	77,875	721,569	16
0	1,562	156	463	26,009	60,156	76,639	721,882	23
0	1,465	103	489	25,775	60,156	75,684	739,725	30
0	240	47	425	25,939	60,156	77,342	722,964	6 Aug.
0	149	70	661	26,033	60,156	75,965	716,260	13
0	186	99	567	26,087	60,156	75,529	713,379	20
0	304	115	664	25,966	60,156	78,829	733,966	27
0	3	52	654	25,838	60,156	79,848	727,128	3 Sep.
0	236	43	665	25,551	60,156	77,271	721,270	10
0	46	125	560	25,163	60,156	78,761	717,914	17
0	36	102	371	25,414	60,156	78,787	728,600	24
0	151	90	311	24,700	60,156	79,592	730,616	1 Oct.
0	334	94	606	24,631	60,156	79,827	729,413	8
0	195	76	460	24,309	60,156	80,277	724,358	15
0	1,111	46	502	24,102	60,156	79,433	709,946	22
0	650	69	575	23,428	60,156	79,228	742,624	29
0	73	116	572	23,490	60,121	82,843	737,141	5 Nov.
0	302	95	690	23,856	60,121	80,988	733,848	12
0	72	43	682	24,123	60,121	77,851	734,795	19
0	44	206	700	23,896	60,121	77,306	743,052	26

									Total	
Liabili		Liabilities to	Liabilities to	Liabilities to	Counterpart of	Revaluation	Capital and	Other		
	er euro	non-euro area	euro area residents in	non-euro area	special drawing rights allocated	accounts	reserves	liabilities		
area res	n euro	residents in euro	foreign	residents in foreign	by the IMF					
	II Cuio	in curo	currency	currency	by the fivit					
	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	
50	6,382	6,962	757	8,559	6,192	82,510	53,217	50,755	722,715	1999 2 July
50	6,382	6,962	757	8,559	6,192	82,510	53,217	50,755	722,715	9
52	2,128	6,924	741	9,611	6,192	82,510	53,217	51,097	721,569	16
6	1,172	7,265	716	9,924	6,192	82,510	53,217	53,997	721,882	23
62	2,055	6,727	871	10,606	6,192	82,510	53,218	51,794	739,725	30
4	5,219	6,988	1,037	10,032	6,192	82,510	53,218	53,432	722,964	6 Aug.
44	4,255	8,186	924	9,604	6,192	82,510	53,219	51,874	716,260	13
4'	7,592	7,618	952	9,701	6,192	82,510	53,220	52,591	713,379	20
5'	7,773	7,545	1,000	9,264	6,192	82,510	53,220	55,225	733,966	27
5.	3,401	7,509	905	8,372	6,192	82,510	53,221	54,557	727,128	3 Sep.
54	4,393	7,398	904	8,958	6,192	82,510	53,221	53,271	721,270	10
52	2,897	7,180	855	9,696	6,192	82,510	53,221	54,024	717,914	17
5	8,991	7,260	872	10,460	6,192	82,510	53,222	54,655	728,600	24
4	5,950	7,433	1,078	9,840	6,229	89,826	53,220	55,357	730,616	1 Oct.
5	1,323	7,214	1,040	9,687	6,229	89,826	53,221	54,859	729,413	8
4	1,971	7,127	1,039	9,909	6,229	89,827	53,223	53,346	724,358	15
40	0,259	7,648	1,071	10,610	6,229	89,835	53,225	52,955	709,946	22
5	9,464	7,132	1,282	9,842	6,229	89,835	53,225	53,539	742,624	29
59	9,276	7,119	1,205	9,470	6,229	89,835	53,228	56,560	737,141	5 Nov.
6	1,257	7,143	986	8,363	6,229	89,835	53,231	56,092	733,848	12
50	6,974	7,339	874	9,504	6,229	89,835	53,232	53,566	734,795	19
6	5,713	7,269	965	8,653	6,229	89,835	53,236	53,590	743,052	26

ECB interest rates on standing facilities

(levels in percentages per annum; changes in percentage points)

	Deposit facility		Marginal lending facili	ity
	Level 1	Change 2	Level 3	Change 4
1999 1 Jan. 4 ¹⁾ 22 9 Apr. 5 Nov.	2.00 2.75 2.00 1.50 2.00	0.75 -0.75 -0.50 0.50	4.50 3.25 4.50 3.50 4.00	-1.25 1.25 -1.00 0.50

Source: ECB.

 On 22 December 1998 the ECB announced that, as an exceptional measure between 4 and 21 January 1999, a narrow corridor of 50 basis points would be applied between the interest rates for the marginal lending facility and the deposit facility, aimed at facilitating the transition to the new regime by market participants.

Table 1.3

Eurosystem monetary policy operations allotted through tenders 1)

(EUR millions; interest rates in percentages per annum)

Date of settlement		1	Main refinancing operation	ons		
	Bids (amount)	Allotment (amount)	Fixed rate tenders	Variable rate	tenders	
	()	()	Fixed rate	Marginal rate	Weighted	Running for
				-	average rate	() days
	1	2	3	4	5	6
1999 4 Aug.	1,412,814	76,000	2.50	-	-	14
11	1,346,203	68,000	2.50	-	-	14
18	1,538,142	73,000	2.50	-	-	14
25	1,431,145	86,000	2.50	-	-	14
1 Sep.	1,490,634	66,000	2.50	-	-	14
8	1,334,847	82,000	2.50	-	-	14
15	1,051,251	61,000	2.50	-	-	14
22	660,532	92,000	2.50	-	-	14
29	926,416	55,000	2.50	-	-	14
6 Oct.	1,655,341	90,000	2.50	-	-	14
13	1,289,972	50,000	2.50	-	-	15
20	1,107,860	75,000	2.50	-	-	14
28	1,937,221	74,000	2.50	-	-	13
3 Nov.	2,344,082	66,000	2.50	-	-	14
10	404,857	74,000	3.00	-	-	14
17	484,348	69,000	3.00	-	-	14
24	687,973	74,000	3.00	-	-	14
1 Dec.	1,018,950	72,000	3.00	-	-	14

Date of settlement		Lor	nger-term refinancing ope	erations		
	Bids (amount)	Allotment (amount)	Fixed rate tenders	Variable rate	tenders	
			Fixed rate	Marginal rate	Weighted	Running for
					average rate	() days
	I	2	3	4	5	6
1999 14 Jan.	79,846	15,000	-	3.13	-	42
14	39,343	15,000	-	3.10	-	70
14	46,152	15,000	-	3.08	-	105
25 Feb.	77,300	15,000	-	3.04	-	91
25 Mar.	53,659	15,000	-	2.96	2.97	98
29 Apr.	66,911	15,000	-	2.53	2.54	91
27 May	72,294	15,000	-	2.53	2.54	91
1 July	76,284	15,000	-	2.63	2.64	91
29	64,973	15,000	-	2.65	2.66	91
26 Aug.	52,416	15,000	-	2.65	2.66	91
30 Sep.	41,443	15,000	-	2.66	2.67	84
28 Oct.	74,430	25,000	-	3.19	3.42	91
25 Nov.	74,988	25,000	-	3.18	3.27	98

Date of settlement	Other tender operations												
	Type of operation	Bids (amount)	Allotment (amount)	Fixed rate tenders	Variable ra	te tenders							
	· · · · · ·			Fixed rate	Marginal rate	Weighted average rate	Running for () days						
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7						
1999	_	-	-	_	-	-	-						

Source: ECB.

1) The amounts shown may differ slightly from those in Table 1.1, columns 6 to 8, due to operations allotted but not executed.

Table 1.4

Minimum reserve statistics

1. Reserve base of credit institutions subject to reserve requirements $^{1) 2)}$

(EUR billions; end of period)

Reserve base	Total	Liabilities to which	ch a 2% reserve coeffi	cient is applied	Liabilities to which	a 0% reserve coeffic	cient is applied
as at:		Deposits (overnight, up to 2 years' agreed maturity and notice period)	Debt securities up to 2 years' agreed maturity	Money market paper	Deposits (over 2 years' agreed maturity and notice period)	Repos	Debt securities over 2 years' agreed maturity
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1999 Jan.	8,607.7	4,838.6	83.1	146.0	1,105.5	510.6	1,923.9
Feb.	8,638.8	4,801.1	86.9	148.9	1,111.6	543.9	1,946.5
Mar.	8,684.9	4,803.1	88.8	151.2	1,125.6	549.8	1,966.4
Apr.	8,741.1	4,827.6	93.3	160.3	1,129.3	542.0	1,988.6
May	8,797.6	4,867.1	101.1	158.7	1,130.8	541.0	1,999.0
June	8,857.3	4,916.6	106.3	152.0	1,145.5	517.6	2,019.3
July	8,848.9	4,895.7	109.2	155.5	1,153.5	513.8	2,021.2
Aug.	8,856.3	4,893.0	113.2	165.4	1,164.9	484.8	2,035.0
Sep.	8,969.1	4,912.7	120.6	170.0	1,166.5	537.2	2,062.1
Oct. ^(p)	9,083.1	4,966.4	129.0	178.6	1,180.4	554.3	2,074.5

Source: ECB.

 Liabilities vis-à-vis other credit institutions subject to the ESCB's minimum reserve system, the ECB and participating national central banks, are excluded from the reserve base. If a credit institution cannot provide evidence of the amount of its issues of debt securities with a maturity of up to 2 years and of money market paper held by the institutions mentioned above, it may deduct 10% of these liabilities from its reserve base.

 Maintenance periods start on the 24th of the month and run to the 23rd of the following month; the required reserve is calculated from the reserve base as at the end of the preceding month.

2. Reserve maintenance ¹⁾

(EUR billions; interest rates as annual percentages)

Maintenance period ending in:	Required reserves ²⁾	Actual reserves ³⁾ 2	Excess reserves 4)	Deficiencies ⁵	Interest rate on minimum reserves ⁶⁾ 5
1999 Feb.	98.3	99.3	1.1	0.1	3.00
Mar.	100.6	101.5	0.9	0.1	3.00
Apr.	100.1	100.7	0.6	0.0	2.84
May	100.2	101.0	0.8	0.0	2.50
June	100.9	101.5	0.6	0.0	2.50
July	102.0	102.7	0.8	0.0	2.50
Aug.	102.8	103.5	0.6	0.0	2.50
Sep.	102.6	103.0	0.5	0.0	2.50
Oct.	102.8	103.3	0.6	0.0	2.50
Nov.	103.4	104.0	0.5	0.0	2.73
Dec. (p)	104.9	-	-	-	-

Source: ECB.

1) This table contains full data for completed maintenance periods and required reserves for the current maintenance period.

The amount of reserve requirement of each individual credit institution is first calculated by applying the reserve ratio for the corresponding categories of liabilities to the eligible liabilities, using the balance sheet data as at the end of each calendar month; subsequently, each credit institution deducts from this figure a lump-sum allowance of EUR 100,000. The resulting reserve requirements are then aggregated at the euro area level.
 Aggregate average daily holdings of credit institutions required to hold a positive amount of reserves on their reserve accounts over the maintenance period.

Aggregate average daily holdings of credit institutions required to hold a positive amount of reserves on their reserve accounts over the maintenance period.
 Average actual reserve holdings over the maintenance period in excess of the required reserves, computed on the basis of those credit institutions that have fulfilled the reserve requirement.

5) Average shortfalls of actual reserve holdings from required reserves over the maintenance period, computed on the basis of those credit institutions that have not fulfilled the reserve requirement.

6) This rate equals the average, over the maintenance period, of the ECB's rate (weighted according to the number of calendar days) on the Eurosystem's main refinancing operations (see Table 1.3).

Table 1.5

Banking system's liquidity position ¹⁾

(EUR billions; period averages of daily positions)

Maintenance period		1	dity-providing		de Francisco (Liquidity-abso	rbing factors		Credit institutions'	Base money ⁵⁾
ending in:		N	ionetary policy	operations of t	the Eurosysten	n				current accounts 4)	
	Eurosystem's	Main	Longer-term	Other	Marginal	Deposit	Banknotes	Central	Other	accounts	
	net assets	refinancing	refinancing	operations 2)	lending	facility	in circulation	government	factors		
	in gold	operations	operations	-	facility	-		deposits	(net) 3)		
	and foreign							with the			
	currency							Eurosystem			
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1999 Feb.	328.2	104.6	34.2	30.6	3.8	1.3	329.3	41.1	29.5	100.2	430.8
Mar.	323.6	136.4	45.0	0.0	0.4	1.4	326.9	49.9	25.0	102.2	430.5
Apr.	338.4	130.1	45.0	0.0	0.7	0.3	331.0	42.9	38.9	101.1	432.4
May	342.5	121.6	45.0	0.0	0.8	0.4	333.8	36.3	38.1	101.3	435.5
June	339.8	132.0	45.0	0.0	0.3	0.6	337.0	40.4	37.2	101.9	439.5
July	342.4	143.1	45.0	0.0	0.4	0.6	342.1	45.7	39.5	103.0	445.6
Aug.	343.2	150.1	45.0	0.0	0.5	1.0	344.8	47.3	42.1	103.6	449.4
Sep.	343.5	150.4	45.0	0.0	0.2	0.7	342.1	51.4	41.6	103.3	446.1
Oct.	349.6	143.0	45.0	0.0	0.3	0.6	342.5	45.4	45.9	103.5	446.6
Nov.	351.8	140.6	53.7	0.0	0.4	0.4	343.1	51.5	47.4	104.1	447.6

Source: ECB.

1) The banking system's liquidity position is defined as the current account holdings in euro of credit institutions in the euro area with the Eurosystem.

Amounts are derived from the consolidated financial statement of the Eurosystem.
Includes monetary policy operations initiated by national central banks in Stage Two and outstanding at the start of Stage Three (excluding outright operations and the issuance of debt certificates).

3) Remaining items in the consolidated financial statement of the Eurosystem.

 Equation (in the inference between the sum of liquidity-providing factors (items 1 to 5) and the sum of liquidity-absorbing factors (items 6 to 9).
 Calculated as the sum of the deposit facility (item 6), banknotes in circulation (item 7) and credit institutions' current account holdings (item 10) or, alternatively, as the difference between the sum of liquidity-providing factors (items 1 to 5) and the sum of government deposits (item 8) and other factors (items 1 to 5). (net) (item 9).

2 Monetary developments in the euro area

Table 2.1

Aggregated balance sheet of the Eurosystem ¹⁾ (EUR billions (not seasonally adjusted; end of period))

1. Assets

															Total
	Loans to				Holdings				Holdings			External		Remaining	
	euro area	MFIs	General	Other		MFIs	General	Other	of shares/	MFIs	Other	assets 2)	assets	assets	
	residents			euro area	securities			euro area	other		euro area				
			ment	residents	other than shares		ment	residents	equity		residents				
					issued				issued by euro						
					by euro				area						
					area				residents						
					residents										
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
1998 Mar.	230.2	208.8	21.2	0.2	106.6	1.2	104.2	1.3	3.0	0.4	2.6	323.5	7.5	39.5	710.3
Apr.	224.9	203.3	21.2	0.4	102.5	1.4	100.2	0.9	3.0	0.4	2.6	327.8	7.6	43.7	709.5
May	227.0	205.6	21.2	0.3	101.9	1.6	99.4	0.9	3.0	0.4	2.6	331.0	7.7	46.9	717.4
June	293.4	272.1	21.1	0.2	105.4	4.8	99.7	0.8	3.2	0.6	2.6	337.2	7.8	47.9	795.0
July	314.2	292.9	21.1	0.2	87.8	1.1	85.9	0.8	4.8	2.1	2.8	333.2	8.0	49.8	798.0
Aug.	313.9	292.6	21.1	0.2	88.1	0.9	86.3	0.9	4.8	2.0	2.8	333.1	8.0	54.8	802.7
Sep.	302.8	281.5	21.1	0.2	82.7	1.0	81.0	0.7	4.8	2.0	2.8	329.4	8.0	50.0	777.6
Oct.	305.1	283.8	21.1	0.2	73.3	0.9	71.7	0.7	4.8	1.9	2.9	334.7	8.1	49.7	775.7
Nov.		279.1	21.1	0.4	78.0	1.0	76.3	0.6	4.8	1.9	2.9	341.9	8.1	51.5	785.0
Dec.	225.2	204.6	20.4	0.1	87.8	1.1	86.2	0.5	5.5	1.8	3.7	322.3	7.9	49.3	698.0
1999 Jan.	524.2	503.6	20.4	0.2	89.2	1.3	87.3	0.6	8.2	4.1	4.1	416.8	9.3	57.1	1,104.7
Feb.	647.3	626.7	20.4	0.2	90.7	1.5	88.6	0.5	8.3	4.2	4.1	365.2	9.3	56.8	1,177.7
Mar.	608.6	587.9	20.4	0.2	94.0	1.5	91.9	0.6	8.1	4.0	4.1	426.0	9.3	52.2	1,198.3
Apr.	540.8	520.2	20.4	0.2	93.2	1.2	91.3	0.7	8.1	4.0	4.1	435.7	9.6		1,140.2
May	481.2	460.6	20.4	0.2	93.1	1.6	90.8	0.7	8.2	4.0	4.2	387.6	9.6		1,030.9
June	788.9	768.3	20.4	0.2	92.4	1.5	90.0	0.9	8.7	4.4	4.3	499.4	9.7	48.1	1,447.1
July	755.2	734.7	20.4	0.2	92.3	1.5	89.9	0.9	8.7	4.4	4.4	451.9	9.8		1,370.8
Aug.	531.0		20.4	0.1	91.9	1.1	90.0	0.7	8.8	4.4	4.4	423.0	9.9		1,118.3
Sep.	457.0	436.5	20.4	0.2	92.4	1.4	89.9	1.1	8.7	4.3	4.4	427.8	9.8		1,040.2
Oct. (p)	567.1	546.6	20.4	0.1	92.4	1.9	89.4	1.2	8.6	4.3	4.3	432.4	9.9	53.9	1,164.2

2. Liabilities

											Total
	Currency	Deposits				Money	Debt	Capital	External	Remaining	
	in	of euro area	MFIs	Central	Other general	market	securities	and	liabilities 2)	liabilities	
	circulation	residents		government	government/	paper	issued	reserves			
					other euro						
	1	2	2	4	area residents		7	8	9	10	11
	1	2	3	4	5	6	/	8	9	10	11
1998 Mar.	340.5	137.9	88.4	46.8	2.7	14.0	14.5	107.4	31.7	64.3	710.3
Apr.	343.8	131.3	84.8	44.3	2.2	14.6	14.4	106.5	32.6	66.3	709.5
May	346.1	141.8	90.9	47.0	4.0	14.7	13.7	106.2	32.1	62.8	717.4
June	345.5	217.8	159.1	54.2	4.5	14.4	13.3	114.3	27.2	62.5	795.0
July	350.4	215.9	148.8	64.0	3.0	15.1	13.0	112.9	24.0	66.7	798.0
Aug.	344.7	222.8	149.5	69.7	3.5	13.4	12.5	112.7	23.6	73.0	802.7
Sep.	341.5	211.8	140.2	67.1	4.5	11.9	12.0	109.6	23.2	67.6	777.6
Oct.	342.4	213.3	144.3	64.7	4.3	11.8	11.7	108.6	22.6	65.3	775.7
Nov.	344.1	225.7	162.5	56.8	6.4	13.0	11.0	105.3	20.0	65.8	785.0
Dec.	359.1	152.0	94.2	55.0	2.9	8.5	5.3	97.1	18.6	57.4	698.0
1999 Jan.	343.8	467.5	410.9	50.3	6.2	6.3	5.3	125.7	99.3	56.8	1,104.7
Feb.	342.4	594.2	532.5	55.0	6.7	6.3	5.3	122.9	50.5	56.0	1,177.7
Mar.	348.3	549.5	486.6	55.1	7.9	4.9	5.3	137.9	97.9	54.5	1,198.3
Apr.	349.6	486.1	440.9	38.8	6.3	4.9	5.3	138.9	105.0	50.5	1,140.2
May	353.0	419.7	369.5	42.7	7.4	4.9	5.3	137.4	61.5	49.2	1,030.9
June	355.8	724.3	672.3	44.1	7.8	4.9	5.3	140.7	171.4	44.8	1,447.1
July	363.6	682.6	620.6	56.4	5.7	4.9	5.3	139.9	124.2	50.2	1,370.8
Aug.	358.6	463.8	403.4	54.5	5.9	4.9	5.3	139.9	93.9	52.0	1,118.3
Sep.	359.4	390.6	333.0	50.7	6.9	3.3	5.3	146.3	88.8	46.5	1,040.2
Oct. ^(p)	361.2	500.6	440.9	50.9	8.8	3.3	5.3	150.6	93.8	49.4	1,164.2

Source: ECB.

1) The ECB was established on 1 June 1998. The data shown for the Eurosystem relate to the ECB (as from June 1998) and the national central banks of

Member States in the euro area. Data have been revised in the light of new information.

2) From January 1999 including temporary gross positions of the Eurosystem with the national central banks of Member States not participating in the euro area related to the operation of the TARGET system. These positions amounted to approximately EUR 75 billion at end-January, EUR 27 billion at end-February, EUR 77 billion at end-March, EUR 84 billion at end-April, EUR 40 billion at end-May, EUR 149 billion at end-June, EUR 101 billion at end-July, EUR 72 billion at end-August, EUR 66 billion at end-September and EUR 71 billion at end-October.

Table 2.2

Aggregated balance sheet of the euro area MFIs, excluding the Eurosystem ¹) (EUR billions (not seasonally adjusted; end of period))

1. Assets

1998 Ma	,	ea MFIs		Other euro area residents		MFIs	General govern- ment	Other euro area residents	2	Holdings of shares/ other equity issued by euro area residents	MFIs	Other euro area residents	External assets	Fixed assets	Re- maining assets	
	resider ar. 8,561	1 2	govern- ment	euro area	securities other than shares issued by euro area	MFIs	govern-	euro area		other equity issued by euro area	MFIs	euro area	assets	assets	U	
	ar. 8,561	1 2	ment		other than shares issued by euro area		Ũ		paper	equity issued by euro area					assets	
1998 Ma	,	1 <u>2</u> 6 2,979.8		residents	than shares issued by euro area		ment	residents		issued by euro area		residents				
	,	1 <u>2</u> 6 2,979.8	3	4	shares issued by euro area					by euro area						
	,	<u>1</u> <u>2</u> 6 2,979.8	3	4	issued by euro area					area						
1998 Ma	,	<u>1</u> 2 6 2,979.8	3	4	by euro area											
1998 Ma	,	1 2 6 2,979.8	3	4	area					residents						
	,	1 2 6 2,979.8	3	4												
1998 Ma	,	1 2 6 2,979.8	3	4	residents											
1998 Ma	,	6 2,979.8	5	-	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
1998 Ma	,	6 2,979.8			5	0	,		-							
	or. 8.617			,	1,954.5		1,103.7		107.8	384.4			1,676.7	238.0		13,734.4
Api		1 2,999.7		,	5 1,975.6		1,114.8		108.2	396.1	114.0		1,634.0	238.2		13,800.1
Ma	· ·	2 2,994.0		,	1,998.3		1,126.5		107.4	404.0			1,632.9	247.0		13,853.4
Jun	· · ·	6 3,070.5		,	2,013.7		1,137.6		104.9	401.0			1,674.8	240.2		13,923.5
July	- ·	2 3,013.8		,	2,034.4		1,137.2		105.3	392.2			1,632.7	235.3		13,911.9
Au	0 ,	1 3,035.8		,	2,040.5		1,136.1	201.6	104.7	386.4	118.2		1,641.1	236.3		13,933.9
Sep	•	,		,	5 2,047.7		1,136.4		105.7	380.3	108.9		1,654.4	236.9		14,045.8
Oct	,	6 3,169.0		,	2,074.5		1,151.2		106.0	387.3	115.0		1,636.3	239.0		14,196.9
No	,	,		,	2,071.5		1,147.2		113.5	401.9			1,681.3	241.2		14,408.5
Dec	ec. 9,083	9 3,172.1	820.5	5 5,091.3	2,016.7	728.0	1,095.2	193.6	107.1	422.2	120.9	301.3	1,591.4	243.8	778.5	14,243.6
1999 Jan	n. 9,304	1 3,382.6	820.4	5,101.0	2,047.0	736.8	1,103.2	206.9	108.0	430.4	112.9	317.5	1,634.5	244.6	933.9	14,702.4
Feb	b. 9,200	4 3,269.5	820.9	5,110.0	2,063.4	744.9	1,115.5	202.9	112.2	441.5	117.5	324.0	1,589.9	243.4	952.4	14,603.2
Ma	ar. 9,256	7 3,284.4	818.7	5,153.5	2,086.4	759.3	1,129.4	197.6	99.1	467.9	125.5	342.4	1,644.1	244.6	882.2	14,680.9
Api	or. 9,301	1 3,312.1	811.4	5,177.7	2,103.8	773.4	1,128.5	201.9	104.8	481.1	126.0	355.0	1,632.4	246.3	845.2	14,714.7
Ma	ay 9,315	8 3,290.4	810.3	5,215.1	2,141.5	786.2	1,147.1	208.3	102.8	496.7	127.8	368.9	1,620.8	247.5	828.2	14,753.4
Jun	ne 9,457	2 3,335.2	816.9	5,305.1	2,131.4	798.6	1,120.1	212.7	101.9	484.7	124.6	360.1	1,639.9	250.0	865.2	14,930.3
July	ly 9,467	0 3,323.7	808.5	5,334.8	3 2,124.9	800.6	1,108.3	215.9	108.2	483.5	126.3	357.2	1,628.0	254.5	845.4	14,911.5
Au	ıg. 9,488	5 3,352.9	804.6	5 5,331.0	2,147.8	808.5	1,114.8	224.4	110.4	482.8	127.0	355.8	1,629.6	255.4	830.7	14,945.2
Sep	p. 9,561	5 3,377.7	810.1	5,373.7	2,179.1	825.4	1,133.2	220.6	110.8	483.9	129.2	354.7	1,655.6	257.5	811.6	15,060.2
Oct	ct. ^(p) 9,686	6 3,451.2	819.4	5,415.9	2,188.9	828.8	1,144.7	215.4	114.0	487.2	131.1	356.1	1,684.3	259.3	854.5	15,274.8

2. Liabilities

																	Total
		Currency	Deposits								Money	Debt	Money	Capital	External	Re-	
		in	of euro	MFIs	Central	Other					market	securities	market	and	liabilities	maining	
		circulation			govern-	general	Over-	With		Repur-	fund	issued	paper	reserves		liabilities	
			residents		ment	govern-	night	agreed	able at	chase	shares/						
						ment/		maturity	notice	agree-	units						
						other				ments							
						euro											
						area residents											
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
1998	Mar.	0.4	7,845.7	3,086.2	92.8	4,666.7	1,210.8	1,897.2	1,346.4	212.2	255.5	1,987.2	149.5	710.3	1,512.0	1,273.7	13,734.4
	Apr.	0.4	7,876.4	3,088.8	97.2	4,690.3	1,225.3	1,912.4	1,346.0	206.6	258.3	2,001.5	156.3	702.6	1,483.3	1,321.3	13,800.1
	May	0.4	7,898.9	3,101.7	88.2	4,709.0	1,242.3	1,910.6	1,347.9	208.2	261.2	2,013.3	150.9	712.2	1,476.3	1,340.2	13,853.4
	June	0.4	7,999.4	3,174.8	94.0	4,730.5	1,289.8	1,890.8	1,346.5	203.4	259.8	2,042.4	145.9	718.7	1,496.1	1,260.8	13,923.5
	July	0.4	7,961.8	3,163.3	92.4	4,706.1	1,250.8	1,893.9	1,345.9	215.5	259.8	2,063.1	152.8	720.1	1,472.9	1,281.2	13,911.9
	Aug.		7,982.1	-,		,	1,241.8	,	1,347.6	208.2		2,074.7	152.9	720.1	1,475.8	1,263.3	13,933.9
	Sep.		8,038.0	,		4,714.0	1,264.3	1,890.8	1,347.6	211.3		2,093.9	154.1	721.7	1,490.4	1,287.0	14,045.8
	Oct.		8,136.8	,		,	1,270.7	,	1,350.8	222.3		2,096.9	161.1		,	1,286.8	,
	Nov.		8,245.3	,		,	1,309.9	,	1,353.5	202.4		2,112.8			,	1,294.9	,
	Dec.	0.4	8,263.1	3,311.8	95.7	4,855.5	1,382.7	1,909.7	1,385.9	177.2	241.1	2,113.9	160.8	738.0	1,505.3	1,220.9	14,243.6
1999	Jan.	0.4	8,398.7	3,451.6	81.8	4,865.3	1,407.7	1,975.8	1,310.6	171.2	272.0	2,148.5	169.6	748.5	1,590.4	1,374.3	14,702.4
	Feb.	0.4	8,298.7	3,361.7	85.3	4,851.7	1,382.1	1,973.0	1,312.6	183.9	286.5	2,173.7	174.7	753.2	1,589.5	1,326.4	14,603.2
	Mar.	0.5	8,346.6	3,406.0	79.1	4,861.6	1,383.8	1,988.0	1,310.8	178.9	279.8	2,193.6	180.5	759.3	1,618.1	1,302.5	14,680.9
	Apr.	0.5	8,348.4	3,395.7			1,403.5		1,314.2	172.3	297.4	2,223.8	190.1	769.5	1,632.6	1,252.5	14,714.7
	May		8,375.4	,			1,434.7			172.5		2,247.9	190.2		,	1,208.2	,
	June		8,447.3	,		,	1,478.2	,	1,318.6	166.5		2,268.9	182.9		,	1,281.6	,
	July		8,452.6	,		,	1,467.7	,	1,320.9	163.7		2,275.3	183.9		,	1,267.7	,
	Aug.		8,451.4	,		,	1,439.5	,	,	162.6		2,291.1	194.6		,	1,237.0	,
	Sep.		8,494.4	,		,	,	,	1,318.0	158.4		2,330.0			,	1,251.6	,
	Oct. (p)	0.6	8,594.9	3,572.0	85.5	4,937.5	1,469.6	1,997.8	1,314.4	155.8	304.3	2,356.3	210.4	798.8	1,748.6	1,260.9	15,274.8

Source: ECB.

1) Data have been revised in the light of new information.

Table 2.3

Consolidated balance sheet of the euro area MFIs, including the Eurosystem¹⁾ (EUR billions (not seasonally adjusted; end of period))

1. Assets: levels outstanding

		Loans to			Holdings of			Holdings of	External	Fixed	Remaining		
		euro area	General	Other	securities	General	Other	shares/other	assets 3)	assets	assets		
		residents	government	euro	other than	government	euro area	equity					
			0	area	shares	0	residents						
				residents	issued by			other					
					euro area			euro area					
					residents			residents					
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	
1998	Mar.	5,603.2	827.2	4,776.0	1,407.7	1,207.9	199.8	276.1	2,000.2	245.5	821.7	10,354.4	
	Apr.	5,639.0	832.1	4,806.9	1,414.9	1,215.0	199.9	284.7	1,961.8	245.8	845.1	10,391.2	
	May	5,645.6	820.9	4,824.7	1,429.4	1,225.9	203.5	290.3	1,963.9	254.7	863.2	10,447.1	
	June	5,703.4	826.9	4,876.6	1,433.7	1,237.3	196.4	285.4	2,012.1	248.0	753.8	10,436.4	
	July	5,739.7	822.5	4,917.2	1,424.9	1,223.1	201.8	277.9	1,965.9	243.3	799.4	10,451.2	
	Aug.	5,741.6	825.0	4,916.6	1,424.8	1,222.4	202.4	271.1	1,974.1	244.3	793.6	10,449.5	
	Sep.	5,785.6	828.9	4,956.7	1,421.9	1,217.3	204.6	274.2	1,983.8	244.9	803.2	10,513.5	
	Oct.	5,825.9	834.8	4,991.1	1,431.0	1,222.9	208.1	275.2	1,971.1	247.1	800.5	10,550.7	
	Nov.	5,877.2	838.8	5,038.4	1,426.5	1,223.5	203.0	288.7	2,023.2	249.3	818.3	10,683.2	
	Dec.	5,932.3	840.8	5,091.4	1,375.5	1,181.4	194.1	304.9	1,913.8	251.8	791.9	10,570.1	
1999	Jan.	5,942.0	840.8	5,101.2	1,398.0	1,190.5	207.6	321.6	2,051.3	253.9	960.0	10,926.8	
	Feb.	5,951.5	841.3	5,110.2	1,407.6	1,204.1	203.5	328.1	1,955.2	252.7	979.1	10,874.1	
	Mar.	5,992.8					198.2		2,070.1	254.0	903.2	10,986.1	
	Apr.	6,009.6			1,422.4		202.6		2,068.1	255.9	867.5	10,982.7	
	May	6,046.0	830.8	5,215.2	1,446.8	1,237.9	209.0	373.1	2,008.4	257.1	847.2	10,978.6	
	June	6,142.6	837.3	5,305.2	1,423.7	1,210.1	213.6	364.4	2,139.3	259.6	880.6	11,210.2	
	July	6,163.9	828.9	5,335.0	1,415.1	1,198.2	216.9	361.5	2,079.9	264.4	865.7	11,150.4	
	Aug.	6,156.1	825.0	5,331.1	1,430.0	1,204.9	225.2	360.2	2,052.6	265.2	851.6	11,115.7	
	Sep.	6,204.4	830.5	5,373.9	1,444.7	1,223.1	221.7	359.1	2,083.4	267.3	823.0	11,182.3	
	Oct. ^(p)	6,255.9	839.8	5,416.1	1,450.6	1,234.0	216.6	360.4	2,116.6	269.2	875.9	11,328.7	

2. Liabilities: levels outstanding

															Total
		Currency	Deposits	Deposits					Money	Debt	Capital	External	Re-	Excess	
		in	of central	of other	Over-	With	Redeem-	Repur-	market	securities	and	liabilities	maining	of inter-	
		circula-	govern-	general	night	agreed	able at	chase	fund	issued	reserves	3)	liabilities	MFI	
		tion	ment	govern-	Ũ	maturity	notice	agree-	shares/					liabilities	
				ment/				ments	units and						
				other					money						
				euro					market						
				area											
				residents					paper						
		1	2	residents 3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
1998	Mar.	311.8	139.6	4,669.4	1,213.6	1,897.2	1,346.4	212.2	311.2	1,348.3	706.4	1,543.7	1,338.0	-14.0	10,354.4
	Apr.	314.8			1,227.5	1,912.4		206.6					1,387.6	-29.4	10,391.2
	May	317.2	135.1	4,713.0	1,246.3	1,910.6	1,347.9	208.2	319.4	1,356.2	701.7	1,508.4	1,403.0	-7.0	10,447.1
	June	315.5	148.2	4,735.0	1,294.3	1,890.8	1,346.5	203.4	315.1	1,370.3	714.3	1,523.3	1,323.3	-8.7	10,436.4
	July	320.7			1,253.8	1,893.9		215.5					1,347.9	5.4	10,451.2
	Aug.	314.9		· · ·	1,245.3	1,905.4	,	208.2		· · ·			1,336.4	4.8	10,449.5
	Sep.	311.7		4,718.5	1,268.8	1,890.8		211.3						19.5	10,513.5
	Oct.	313.3		· · ·	1,275.0	1,889.2	,	222.3					1,352.1	4.7	10,550.7
	Nov.	314.2		,	1,316.2	1,888.9	,	202.4		· · ·		,	1,360.7	35.8	10,683.2
	Dec.	323.6	150.7	4,858.4	1,385.6	1,909.7	1,385.9	177.2	303.4	1,390.2	712.4	1,523.9	1,278.3	29.2	10,570.1
1999	Jan.	313.2	132.1	4,871.5	1,413.9	1,975.8	1,310.6	171.2	339.9	1,415.6	757.3	1,689.7	1,431.1	-23.7	10,926.8
	Feb.	312.7	140.4	4,858.4	1,388.8	1,973.0	1,312.6	183.9	355.3	1,432.5	754.4	1,640.0	1,382.4	-2.0	10,874.1
	Mar.	317.5			1,391.7	1,988.0		178.9					1,357.0	20.1	10,986.1
	Apr.	319.5		,	1,409.8	1,984.9	,	172.3		· · ·			1,302.9	4.3	10,982.7
	May	321.3		4,903.9	1,442.1	1,975.2	,	172.5		,			1,257.4	18.6	10,978.6
	June	323.7		4,932.6	1,486.0	1,961.5	1,318.6	166.5		,			1,326.4	9.2	11,210.2
	July	331.8		· · ·	1,473.4	1,978.6	,	163.7		· · ·		,	,	5.0	11,150.4
	Aug.	326.2		,	1,445.4	1,987.9	,	162.6				,	,	-2.0	11,115.7
	Sep.	327.0		4,929.7	1,475.8	1,977.5		158.4					1,298.1	8.1	11,182.3
	Oct. ^(p)	329.3	136.4	4,946.3	1,478.4	1,997.8	1,314.4	155.8	404.0	1,530.9	814.0	1,842.4	1,310.3	15.0	11,328.7

Source: ECB.

3) See Table 2.1, footnote 2.

¹⁾ The ECB was established on 1 June 1998. The data shown for the Eurosystem relate to the ECB (as from June 1998) and the national central banks of Member States in the euro area. Data have been revised in the light of new information.

²⁾ Calculated from monthly differences in levels adjusted for reclassifications, other revaluations, exchange rate variations and any other changes which do not arise from transactions.

(EUR billions (not seasonally adjusted))

3. Assets: flows ²⁾

												Total
		Loans to			Holdings of			Holdings of	External	Fixed	Remaining	
		euro area	General	Other	securities	General	Other	shares/other	assets 3)	assets	assets	
		residents	government	euro	other than	government	euro area	equity				
				area	shares		residents	issued by				
				residents	issued by			other				
					euro area			euro area				
					residents			residents				
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1998	Apr.	39.8	5.0	34.7	7.8	7.5	0.3	8.6	-5.2	0.3	23.1	74.3
	May	8.3		19.4			3.7		15.9	9.0	17.9	71.3
	June	66.7		60.8			-7.8		32.1	-6.7	-104.5	-15.6
	July	39.9	-4.2	44.2	-11.7	-17.3	5.6	-6.8	-23.6	-4.7	45.9	39.1
	Aug.	1.5	2.4	-0.9	-0.4	-0.9	0.5	-6.7	-1.8	1.0	-6.0	-12.5
	Sep.	50.8					2.6		79.9	0.6	-4.4	127.5
	Oct.	40.2					3.2		-21.9	2.3	-2.6	26.5
	Nov.	53.4		49.5			-5.2		25.1	2.4	17.5	107.2
	Dec.	64.9	2.1	62.7	-50.1	-41.2	-8.9	16.2	-102.3	2.6	-26.0	-94.7
1999	Jan.	70.8	0.9	69.9) 17.8	17.4	0.4	10.5	106.9	-0.2	154.9	360.7
	Feb.	7.0	0.3	6.6	i 9.1	13.5	-4.3	6.5	-132.4	-1.2	19.1	-91.9
	Mar.	36.0	-2.9	39.0) 28.0	25.5	2.5	18.2	65.2	1.3	-86.5	62.2
	Apr.	15.3	-8.9	24.2	2. 3.7	-0.6	4.3	12.6	-17.1	2.0	-35.7	-19.2
	May	35.4	-1.1	36.5	5 24.2	18.0	6.2		-71.8	1.2	-20.3	-17.4
	June	97.7					4.5		116.3	2.3	33.0	215.7
	July	24.3					3.5		-22.7	4.7	-15.0	-19.7
	Aug.	-8.7					8.0		-48.5	0.9	-14.1	-57.7
	Sep.	50.0					-3.5		31.2	2.1	-21.7	74.8
	Oct. (p)	50.1	9.2	41.0) 7.8	15.8	-8.0	1.3	5.5	1.9	53.1	119.5

4. Liabilities: flows 2)

															Total
		Currency	Deposits	Deposits					Money	Debt	Capital	External	Re-	Excess	
		in	of central	of other	Over-	With	Redeem-	Repur-	market	securities	and	liabilities	maining	of inter-	
		circula-	govern-	general	night	agreed	able at	chase	fund	issued	reserves	3)	liabilities	MFI	
		tion	ment	govern-	0	maturity	notice	agree-	shares/					liabilities	
				ment/				0	units and						
				other				mento	money						
				euro					market						
				area					paper						
		1	2	residents 3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
		1	2	5	7	5	0	/	0	,	10	11	12	15	14
1998	Apr.	3.0	2.0	26.1	15.0	17.0	-0.4	-5.6	10.1				52.4	-15.4	74.3
	May	2.4			19.3	-1.1	1.9	1.6						22.3	71.3
	June	-1.7	13.1		47.4	-20.5	-1.4	-4.8					-77.2	0.6	-15.6
	July	5.2			-39.7	4.4		12.2					24.8	15.6	39.1
	Aug.	-5.7	8.8		-8.9	10.8	1.7	-7.3						-0.5	-12.5
	Sep.	-3.2		18.6	25.6		0.2	3.2					22.4		127.5
	Oct.	1.5	-1.6		5.8	-2.0		11.0					-5.5	-15.1	26.5
	Nov.	0.9	-6.7		40.3	-1.7	2.6	-19.9					11.3	31.2	107.2
	Dec.	9.4	1.9	99.9	70.0	22.7	32.4	-25.2	-24.8	-11.0	-2.9	-84.0	-77.4	-6.0	-94.7
1999	Jan.	-9.4	-6.6	39.0	28.1	-2.0	14.8	-1.9	13.6	26.8	14.2	157.8	162.5	-37.2	360.7
	Feb.	-0.6	8.3	-23.3	-26.3	-11.7	2.0	12.7	15.1	13.0	-2.1	-83.7	-47.1	28.5	-91.9
	Mar.	4.8	-6.0	7.9	1.6	13.3	-1.9	-5.1	6.5	7.4	12.5	48.9	-35.6	15.9	62.2
	Apr.	2.0	-17.5	10.6	17.7	-3.9	3.4	-6.6	20.9	15.2	11.1	8.7	-54.7	-15.5	-19.2
	May	1.8	4.9	21.5	31.9	-10.4	-0.2	0.2	1.3	9.4	5.5	-31.2	-44.7	14.2	-17.4
	June	2.4	4.8	27.1	43.3	-14.7	4.4	-6.0				99.6	71.4		215.7
	July	8.1	9.1	7.1	-11.5	19.0	2.4	-2.8	-7.9	7.3	4.6	-33.4	-9.9	-4.8	-19.7
	Aug.	-5.6	2.5	-22.6	-28.8	8.2	-0.9	-1.1	13.1	5.5			-30.2	-6.3	-57.7
	Sep.	0.8	-4.7	14.5	30.9	-10.2	-2.1	-4.2					7.5	10.1	74.8
	Oct. (p)	2.3	3.3	14.3	1.7	18.9	-3.6	-2.7	5.3	15.4	6.2	41.4	24.4	6.9	119.5
Table 2.4

Monetary aggregates 1)

(EUR billions (not seasonally adjusted) and annual percentage changes, unless otherwise indicated)

1. Levels outstanding at the end of the period

							M2		Repur- chase	Money market	Debt securities
							Total		agree-	fund shares/	up to
		N	M1		Deposits	Deposits		Dec 98=100	ments	units	2 years
		Г	Total		with agreed maturity up	redeemable at notice up				and money market	
	~			Dec 98=100	to 2 years	to 3 months				paper	
	Currency in circulation	Overnight deposits		2)							
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1998 Mar.	311.8	1,283.8	1,595.6	89.65	878.8	1,183.4	3,657.7	93.74	212.2	311.2	85.8
Apr.	314.8	1,295.9	1,610.7	90.56	892.6	1,185.1	3,688.4		206.6	321.0	86.4
May	317.2	1,313.0	1,630.3	91.69	888.8	1,189.2	3,708.3		208.2	319.4	88.7
June	315.5	1,361.7	1,677.2	94.30	871.2	1,189.0	3,737.5		203.4	315.1	87.8
July	320.7	1,321.7	1,642.3	92.38	872.5	1,189.7	3,704.6		215.5	322.3	93.5
Aug.	314.9	1,312.6	1,627.5	91.53	879.3	1,192.9	3,699.7		208.2	326.3	88.8
Sep.	311.7	1,334.7	1,646.5	92.71	864.8	1,193.8	3,705.1	95.19	211.3	320.6	80.5
Oct.	313.3	1,339.7	1,653.0	93.06	867.2	1,197.3	3,717.5	95.49	222.3	325.3	81.5
Nov.	314.2	1,380.7	1,694.9	95.37	871.1	1,199.9	3,765.8	96.68	202.4	328.7	80.0
Dec.	323.6	1,453.0	1,776.6	100.00	885.1	1,231.6	3,893.3	100.00	177.2	303.4	67.8
1999 Jan.	313.2	1,481.7	1,795.0	101.08	881.7	1,247.8	3,924.5		171.2	339.9	55.0
Feb.	312.7	1,452.9	1,765.6	99.36	868.0	1,251.6	3,885.2	99.65	183.9	355.3	56.9
Mar.	317.5	1,465.2	1,782.7	100.24	878.3	1,250.4	3,911.3		178.9	366.0	48.6
Apr.	319.5	1,480.1	1,799.6	101.17	871.9	1,255.3	3,926.8		172.3	387.5	53.4
May	321.3	1,509.9	1,831.2	102.92	862.5	1,259.3	3,953.0		172.5	388.9	59.2
June	323.7	1,548.7	1,872.3	105.21	841.4	1,265.1	3,978.9		166.5	391.2	58.9
July	331.8	1,542.2	1,874.0	105.36	853.3	1,269.9	3,997.2		163.7	382.8	62.7
Aug.	326.2	1,513.2	1,839.4	103.37	856.6	1,270.2	3,966.2		162.6	396.1	64.9
Sep.	327.0	1,538.0	1,865.0	104.84	844.0	1,268.2	3,977.2		158.4	398.2	67.7
Oct. ^(p)	329.3	1,542.7	1,872.0	105.19	859.3	1,266.5	3,997.8	102.32	155.8	404.0	77.1

2. Flows 3)

							M2		Repur-	Money	Debt
							T (1	4 1	chase		securities
			M 1		Deposits	Deposits	Total	Annual	agree- ments	fund shares/ units	up to
		r	v11		with agreed			percentage change 3)	ments	and money	2 years
		Γ	Total		maturity up	at notice up		enange		market	
				percentage	to 2 years	to 3 months				paper	
	Currency in	Overnight		change 3)							
	circulation	deposits 2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
	1						1		9		
1998 Apr.	3.0	13.2	16.2	10.3	15.1	1.8	33.1	5.1	-5.6	10.1	0.9
May	2.4	17.6	20.0	10.1	-3.1	4.1	21.0	5.3	1.6	-1.4	2.6
June	-1.7	48.1	46.4	9.6	-18.2	-0.2	28.0	5.3	-4.8	-4.4	-1.0
July	5.2	-39.2	-34.1	8.2	2.4	0.7	-31.0	4.4	12.2	7.4	6.0
Aug.	-5.7	-9.4	-15.2	8.3	6.3	3.2	-5.7	4.3	-7.3	3.8	-4.8
Sep.	-3.2	24.3	21.1	8.0	-11.3	1.1	10.9	4.7	3.2	-5.0	-7.4
Oct.	1.5	4.6	6.2	8.1	2.2	3.5	11.8	4.6	11.0	4.8	0.7
Nov.	0.9	40.1	41.0	8.4	2.7	2.5	46.2	5.0	-19.9	3.1	-1.8
Dec.	9.4	72.8	82.3	9.6	15.6	31.4	129.3	6.0	-25.2	-24.8	-12.3
1999 Jan.	-9.4	28.6	19.2	14.9	-6.7	15.8	28.3	7.6	-1.9	13.6	-1.1
Feb.	-0.6	-30.0	-30.5	12.9	-15.3	3.7	-42.1	6.4	12.7	15.1	1.3
Mar.	4.8	10.9	15.7	11.8	9.0	-1.4	23.3	6.9	-5.1	6.5	-1.6
Apr.	2.0	14.4	16.5	11.7	-7.0	5.0	14.5	6.4	-6.6	20.9	1.9
May	1.8	29.4	31.2	12.3	-9.9	3.9	25.2	6.4	0.2	1.3	5.6
June	2.4	38.2	40.6	11.6	-21.7	5.8	24.7	6.3	-6.0	1.1	-0.5
July	8.1	-5.3	2.8	14.0	13.2	4.9	20.8	7.8	-2.8	-7.9	4.2
Aug.	-5.6	-29.8	-35.3	12.9	2.4	0.2	-32.7	7.0	-1.1	13.1	1.9
Sep.	0.8	25.2	26.1	13.1	-12.4	-1.9	11.7	7.0	-4.2	1.7	8.4
Oct. (p)	2.3	3.9	6.2	13.0	12.6	-1.7	17.0	7.2	-2.7	5.3	0.8

Source: ECB.

Monetary aggregates comprise monetary liabilities of MFIs and central government (Post Office, Treasury) vis-à-vis non-MFI euro area residents excluding central government. Data have been revised in the light of new information.

2) Taking the December 1998 outstanding level (not seasonally adjusted) as 100, the index shows the cumulative product of changes from that date calculated from flows as described in footnote 3. The percentage change in the index between any two dates corresponds to the change in the aggregate excluding such

reclassifications, etc.
 Calculated from monthly differences in levels adjusted for reclassifications, other revaluations, exchange rate variations and any other changes which do not arise from transactions. For the calculation of growth rates, see the technical notes on page 48*.

13				Memo :	Non-monetary liabi	lities of MFIs			
Total	Index, Dec 98=100						Γ	Total	
			Deposits	With agreed maturity over 2 years	Redeemable at notice over 3 months	Debt securities over 2 years	Capital and reserves		
12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	
4,267.0	95.83		1,235.8	1,019.1	216.8	1,262.5	706.4	3,204.7	1998 Mar.
4,302.4	96.70		1,235.2	1,020.5	214.7	1,266.2	694.7	3.196.2	Apr.
4,324.6	97.23		1,235.3	1,022.3	213.0	1,267.5	701.7	3,204.6	May
4,343.9	97.64		1,232.2	1,020.2	212.0	1,282.5	714.3	3,228.9	June
4,336.0	97.51		1,232.6	1,021.8	210.8	1,285.2	713.8	3,231.7	July
4,323.0	97.20		1,236.5	1,026.6	209.9	1,294.6	712.7	3,243.8	Aug.
4,317.6	97.24		1,235.8	1,026.5	209.3	1,317.0	720.4	3,273.2	Sep.
4,346.7	97.87		1,231.5	1,022.4	209.1	1,310.2	717.6	3,259.3	Oct.
4,376.9	98.49		1,227.8	1,018.3	209.5	1,320.9	714.9	3,263.6	Nov.
4,441.7	100.00		1,239.8	1,025.1	214.6	1,322.4	712.4	3,274.6	Dec.
4,490.6	100.87		1,218.0	1.094.9	123.1	1,360.6	757.3	3.335.9	1999 Jan.
4,481.3	100.58		1,227.6	1,105.8	121.8	1,375.7	754.4	3,357.7	Feb.
4,504.9	101.10		1,231.5	1,110.5	120.9	1,389.4	767.8	3,388.6	Mar.
4,540.0	101.79		1,232.7	1,114.0	118.7	1,401.1	778.4	3,412.2	Apr.
4,573.6	102.51		1,228.9	1,113.7	115.2	1,406.2	783.1	3,418.2	May
4,595.4	102.95		1,235.2	1,121.1	114.2	1,415.3	793.8	3,444.3	June
4,606.4	103.27		1,238.0	1,126.0	112.0	1,415.8	797.6	3,451.3	July
4,589.8	102.85		1,243.0	1,132.0	111.0	1,421.9	796.7	3,461.6	Aug
4,601.7	103.24		1,245.4	1,134.2	111.2	1,440.7	805.4	3,491.6	Sep.
4,634.7	103.70		1,249.5	1,138.9	110.6	1,453.8	814.0	3,517.4	Oct.

M3				Memo :	Non-monetary liabi	lities of MFIs			
Total	Annual percentage change ³⁾	3-month moving average (centred)	Deposits	With agreed maturity	Redeemable at notice	Debt securities over 2 years	Capital and reserves	Total	
				over 2 years	over 3 months	over 2 years	ieserves		
12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	
38.6	5.2	5.0	-0.1	1.9	-2.0	7.2	-11.1	-3.9	1998 Apr.
23.8	5.0	5.1	0.2	1.9	-1.7	3.6	7.4	11.2	May
17.9	4.9	4.9	-3.3	-2.3	-1.0	15.5	15.4	27.7	June
-5.4	4.8	4.8	0.7	1.9	-1.2	5.6	-1.1	5.2	July
-14.1	4.5	4.6	3.6	4.5	-0.9	7.9	-0.2	11.4	Aug.
1.7	4.6	4.7	0.3	0.8	-0.6	14.4	8.7	23.3	Sep.
28.3	4.9	4.7	-4.4	-4.1	-0.2	-9.7	-2.5	-16.6	Oct.
27.5	4.7	4.7	-4.0	-4.4	0.4	9.4	-1.9	3.5	Nov.
67.0	4.6	5.0	12.6	7.1	5.5	1.4	-2.9	11.1	Dec.
38.8	5.7	5.1	3.9	4.9	-1.0	27.9	14.2	46.0	1999 Jan.
-12.9	5.1	5.4	2.3	3.6	-1.3	11.6	-2.1	11.8	Feb.
23.1	5.5	5.3	3.5	4.3	-0.8	9.0	12.5	25.0	Mar.
30.7	5.3	5.4	1.1	3.3	-2.2	13.3	11.1	25.4	Apr.
32.3	5.4	5.4	-4.1	-0.6	-3.5	3.8	5.5	5.2	May
19.3	5.4	5.6	6.1	7.1	-1.0	7.6	12.4	26.1	June
14.4	5.9	5.7	3.3	5.5	-2.2	3.1	4.6	11.0	July
-18.8	5.8	6.0	4.7	5.7	-1.0	3.6	-0.2	8.2	Aug.
17.7	6.2	6.0	2.5	2.3	0.2	18.9	4.3	25.7	Sep.
20.4	6.0	-	5.4	6.0	-0.6	14.6	6.2	26.2	Oct. 9

Table 2.4 (cont.)

Monetary aggregates 1)

(EUR billions and percentage changes, unless otherwise indicated)

3. Seasonally adjusted levels

									M3	
					M2		Marketable inst	ruments 4)	Total	Index 2)
				Γ	Total	Index 2)	Total			
	M1		Other short-term de	posits 3)						
	Total	Index 2)	Total							
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1998 Mar.	1,606.6	90.27	2,063.9		3,670.5	94.11	605.3		4,275.8	96.12
Apr.	1,626.3	91.44	2,063.8		3,690.1	94.67	604.2		4,294.3	96.61
May	1,634.7	91.94	2,071.4		3,706.2	95.12	602.2		4,308.3	96.96
June	1,650.0	92.77	2,074.0		3,724.0	95.55	604.0		4,328.0	97.38
July	1,643.3	92.44	2,068.9		3,712.3	95.29	630.3		4,342.6	97.76
Aug.	1,651.7	92.89	2,074.0		3,725.7	95.62	613.8		4,339.5	97.66
Sep.	1,661.3	93.55	2,077.5		3,738.8	96.09	613.2		4,352.0	98.11
Oct.	1,675.5	94.33	2,078.4		3,753.9	96.47	633.2		4,387.1	98.88
Nov.	1,682.0	94.65	2,094.6		3,776.7	97.00	614.3		4,391.0	98.91
Dec.	1,697.2	95.53	2,106.8		3,803.9	97.74	577.1		4,381.0	98.73
1999 Jan.	1,791.9	100.91	2,101.0		3,892.8	99.96	572.9		4,465.7	100.41
Feb.	1,787.7	100.61	2,096.8		3,884.5	99.67	592.3		4,476.8	100.58
Mar.	1,800.6	101.25	2,129.6		3,930.3	100.77	590.1		4,520.3	101.55
Apr.	1,816.3	102.11	2,113.1		3,929.4	100.72	602.6		4,531.9	101.71
May	1,835.2	103.15	2,118.9		3,954.1	101.33	606.1		4,560.2	102.31
June	1,846.9	103.78	2,119.2		3,966.0	101.61	613.8		4,579.9	102.70
July	1,869.3	105.10	2,131.3		4,000.6	102.56	609.1		4,609.7	103.44
Aug.	1,869.4	105.06	2,128.5		3,997.9	102.44	615.2		4,613.1	103.47
Sep.	1,881.3	105.76	2,132.7		4,014.0	102.87	623.8		4,637.7	104.15
Oct. (p)	1,890.9	106.25	2,141.1		4,032.1	103.24	640.6		4,672.7	104.65

4. Seasonally adjusted flows ⁵⁾

								Ν	M 3	
					M2		Marketable i	nstruments 4)	Total	Change on previous month
	M1		Other short-ter	m deposits ³⁾	Total	Change on previous month (%)	Total	Change on previous month (%)		(%)
	Total	Change on previous month (%) 2	Total	Change on previous month (%) 4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1998 Mar. Apr. May June July Aug. Sep. Oct. Nov. Dec. 1999 Jan.	16.7 20.7 8.9 14.7 -5.9 8.0 11.8 13.8 5.7 15.6 95.5	1.1 1.3 0.5 0.9 -0.4 0.5 0.7 0.8 0.3 0.9 5.6	0.1 1.3 8.3 2.0 -4.0 4.6 6.9 0.6 15.0 13.4 -9.5	0.0 0.1 0.4 0.1 -0.2 0.2 0.3 0.0 0.7 0.6 -0.4	16.8 22.0 17.2 16.7 -9.8 12.5 18.7 14.5 20.7 29.1 86.0	0.5 0.6 0.5 0.5 -0.3 0.5 0.4 0.6 0.8 2.3	3.8 -0.3 -1.6 1.6 26.9 -16.8 1.0 19.8 -19.5 -36.8 -11.5	0.6 -0.1 -0.3 0.3 4.5 -2.7 0.2 3.2 -3.1 -6.0 -2.0	20.6 21.7 15.6 18.4 17.1 -4.3 19.7 34.3 1.2 -7.7 74.6	$\begin{array}{c} 10\\ 0.5\\ 0.5\\ 0.4\\ 0.4\\ 0.4\\ -0.1\\ 0.5\\ 0.8\\ 0.0\\ -0.2\\ 1.7\end{array}$
Feb. Mar. Apr. May June July Aug. Sep. Oct. (P	-5.3 11.5 15.2 18.5 11.1 23.5 -0.7 12.4	-0.3 0.6 0.8 1.0 0.6 1.3 0.0 0.7 0.5	-5.7 31.3 -17.1 5.3 -0.5 13.6 -3.7 4.4 5.7	-0.3 1.5 -0.8 0.3 0.0 0.6 -0.2 0.2 0.3	-11.1 42.8 -1.9 23.8 10.7 37.1 -4.4 16.8 14.5	-0.3 1.1 0.0 0.6 0.3 0.9 -0.1 0.4 0.4	18.5 0.1 9.1 3.2 6.4 -3.8 5.6 13.7 7.7	$\begin{array}{c} 3.2 \\ 0.0 \\ 1.5 \\ 0.5 \\ 1.1 \\ -0.6 \\ 0.9 \\ 2.2 \\ 1.2 \end{array}$	7.5 43.0 7.2 27.0 17.1 33.2 1.2 30.5 22.2	$\begin{array}{c} 0.2 \\ 1.0 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.0 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.5 \end{array}$

Source: ECB.

Source: ECB.
See page 14*, footnote 1.
See page 14*, footnote 2. For the calculation of growth rates, see the technical notes on page 48*.
Other short-term deposits comprise deposits with an agreed maturity of up to two years and deposits redeemable at notice of up to three months.
Marketable instruments comprise repurchase agreements, money market fund shares/units and money market paper together with debt securities issued with an original maturity of up to two years.5) See page 14*, footnote 3.

Table 2.5

Outstanding MFI loans by counterpart, type and original maturity ¹⁾

(EUR billions (not seasonally adjusted; end of period))

1. Loans to non-financial sectors other than government

	Non-				House-										Non-
	financial				holds 2)	Cons	sumer cre	edit 3)	Lending	for house p	ourchase 3)	Ot	her lending		profit
	corpora-		~											~	institu-
	tions 2)	Up to	Over 1	Over			Over 1	Over	Up to	Over 1	Over	Up to	Over 1	Over	tions
		1 year	and up	5 years		1 year	and up	5 years	1 year	and up	5 years	1 year	and up	5 years	serving
			_ to				_ to			_ to			, to		house-
	1	2	5 years	4	5		5 years	8	9	5 years 10		12	5 years 13	14	holds 2)
	1	2	3	4	3	6	/	0	9	101	11	12	15	14	15
1998 Q1	2,163.1	770.9	319.8	1,072.5	2,318.2	75.0	119.0	185.9	28.0	49.0	1,320.7	108.2	76.6	355.8	37.7
Q2	2,200.2	785.4	317.8	1,096.9	2,374.5	77.9	122.1	190.2	28.4	49.2	1,346.0	113.4	77.4	369.8	37.6
Q3	2,222.2	774.3	324.0	1,123.8	2,419.2	80.2	125.9	195.1	28.9	48.6	1,378.8	111.6	86.5	363.6	36.7
Q4	2,284.9	810.7	320.1	1,154.0	2,478.7	84.7	128.2	199.8	28.2	45.9	1,415.9	114.2	84.8	376.9	37.0
1999 Q1	2,279.1	816.3	347.0	1,115.7	2,526.2	86.1	147.5	187.3	15.4	70.5	1,460.4	131.5	100.3	327.2	35.8
Q2	2,339.0	842.7	355.2	1,141.1	2,592.1	84.9	152.3	193.0	18.7	67.8	1,508.8	138.1	98.2	330.1	35.8
Q3 (p)	2,337.9	829.0	363.9	1,145.1	2,642.7	85.4	154.3	195.5	18.8	67.3	1,550.3	136.3	100.6	334.2	36.2

2. Loans to non-monetary financial corporations

	Other financial inte	rmediaries 2)			Insurance corpo pension funds			
		Up to 1 year	Over 1 and up to 5 years	Over 5 years		Up to 1 year	Over 1 and up to 5 years	Over 5 years
	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23
1998 Q1	240.4	146.1	50.0	44.3	23.5	17.5	2.0	4.0
Q2	244.6	146.4	51.0	47.2	23.4	16.4	2.2	4.8
Q3	246.4	142.6	54.0	49.8	35.1	27.1	2.4	5.6
Q4	262.2	157.3	52.8	52.1	27.9	19.2	2.5	6.3
1999 Q1 Q2 Q3 ^(p)	275.9 297.9 310.0	174.6 193.8 190.1	52.8 49.6 54.2	48.5 54.5 65.6	36.6 40.4 43.2	27.5 29.0 31.6	3.1 2.7 2.7	6.0 8.8 8.9

3. Loans to government

	General gover	rnment ²⁾									
		Central govern-			C	ther generation	al government				Social security
		ment ⁴⁾	State governm	nent			Local governi	nent			funds
				Up to 1 year	Over 1 and up to 5 years	Over 5 years		Up to 1 year	Over 1 and up to 5 years	Over 5 years	
	24	25	26	27	28	29	30	31	32	33	34
1998 Q1	828.0	221.2	269.2	9.9	14.6	244.6	327.0	19.9	52.4	254.7	10.6
Q2	827.5	217.2	271.3	8.5	14.5	248.3	333.3	19.8	54.0	259.6	5.7
Q3	829.5	216.4	272.9	7.8	14.0	251.1	325.0	17.7	50.7	256.6	15.2
Q4	841.0	202.6	290.5	11.3	13.7	265.6	333.8	19.1	51.2	263.6	14.0
1999 Q1	839.1	221.7	277.8	11.0	21.1	245.6	326.0	19.0	12.6	294.4	13.6
Q2	837.3	212.3	279.3	11.5	20.6	247.1	328.4	20.0	10.9	297.5	17.3
Q3 ^(p)	830.3	205.9	278.9	10.7	21.2	247.0	327.5	19.1	10.7	297.6	18.0

Source: ECB.

1) Data have been revised in the light of new information. Outstanding amounts are not adjusted for reclassifications, other revaluations or exchange rate variations. Data are partially estimated.

Correponding ESA 95 sector codes: non-financial corporations, S11; households, S14; non-profit institutions serving households, S15; other financial intermediaries, S123 (including financial auxiliaries, S124); insurance corporations and pension funds, S125; general government, S13.

3) The definitions of consumer credit and lending for house purchase are not fully consistent across the euro area.
4) A maturity breakdown is not available for loans to central government.

Table 2.6

Currency analysis of certain liabilities and assets of the euro area MFIs ¹) (EUR billions (not seasonally adjusted; end of period))

Liabilities outstanding

1. Deposits placed by euro area residents

	MFIs								Non	-MFIs						
	All curren-	Euro 2)	Other EU	Other curren-					All curren-	Euro ²⁾	Other EU	Other curren-				
	cies		curren-	cies	USD	JPY	CHF	Other	cies		curren-	cies	USD	JPY	CHF	Other
	1	2	cies 3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	cies 11	12	13	14	15	16
1998 Q1	3,180.6	2,809.4	43.5	327.7	234.5	27.0	44.9	21.3	4,816.8	4,658.3	21.1	137.3	103.3	15.1	10.3	8.6
Q2	3,280.6	2,929.7	41.8	309.1	223.0	21.8	43.6	20.6	4,887.4	4,734.8	18.6	134.0	99.0	15.6	10.1	9.3
Q3	3,316.5	2,927.3	42.4	346.8	241.3	27.9	45.2	32.4	4,877.0	4,726.3	19.5	131.2	94.0	12.6	13.6	11.0
Q4	3,405.6	3,009.7	43.3	352.6	247.0	27.5	51.3	26.8	5,009.1	4,864.9	19.4	124.8	89.6	13.0	13.2	9.0
1999 Q1 Q2 Q3 ^(p)	3,892.5 4,112.7 3,823.1	3,466.6 3,711.3 3,415.6	48.9 43.7 46.6	357.6	265.9 255.1 253.6	27.7 27.1 30.1	54.7 51.5 56.2	23.9	5,003.5 5,058.3 5,058.8	4,897.8	23.6 25.7 27.0	128.1 134.8 135.0	89.0 96.8 96.8	13.9 15.0 15.9	14.5 12.5 12.0	10.7 10.5 10.3

2. Deposits placed by non-residents of the euro area

	Banks 3)							Non-b	oanks						
	All curren-	Euro ²⁾	Other EU	Other curren-					All curren-	Euro ²⁾	Other EU	Other curren-				
	cies		curren- cies	cies	USD	JPY	CHF	Other	cies		curren- cies	cies	USD	JPY	CHF	Other
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
1998 Q1	1,161.9	470.3	121.0	570.6	448.6	44.0	52.5	25.6	388.7	150.1	39.0	199.6	145.7	22.4	13.9	17.7
Q2	1,150.4	470.0	122.6	557.7	435.9	42.7	51.3	27.7	370.7	145.0	34.6	191.1	142.8	18.4	11.5	18.3
Q3	1,174.7	468.4	129.1	577.2	443.7	47.5	54.1	32.0	332.6	143.1	30.6	158.9	122.3	13.8	11.2	11.6
Q4	1,158.3	458.9	124.0	575.4	441.4	55.8	52.5	25.8	364.7	153.5	33.4	177.8	130.7	22.4	12.1	12.6
1999 Q1 Q2 Q3 ^(p)	1,291.9 1,374.6 1,301.2	557.0 611.9 547.7	128.9 136.0 128.4	605.9 626.7 625.1	467.3 498.9 494.1	53.5 39.4 42.9	53.2 52.2 53.4	31.9 36.2 34.8	417.4 452.0 457.5	179.5 192.0 197.4	38.9 40.8 43.6	198.9 219.2 216.5	148.0 168.2 163.1	24.4 24.6 27.2	12.5 11.7 11.4	$14.0 \\ 14.8 \\ 14.9$

3. Debt securities and money market issued by euro area MFIs

	Debt	securities							Money	market pa	per					
	All curren-	Euro 2)	Other EU	Other curren-					All curren-	Euro ²⁾	Other EU	Other curren-				
	cies		curren-	cies	USD	JPY	CHF	Other	cies		curren-	cies	USD	JPY	CHF	Other
	1	2	cies 3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	cies 11	12	13	14	15	16
1998 Q1	2,001.2	1,784.0	20.7	196.6	110.7	38.9	31.2	15.8	163.5	151.0	0.3	12.2	10.6	0.9	0.4	0.4
Q2	2,055.0	1,835.8	22.5	196.7	112.5	37.4	30.5	16.3	160.2	144.2	0.7	15.3	10.9	1.8	1.2	1.3
Q3	2,105.1	1,892.6	26.0	186.5	104.7	33.3	32.7	15.8	166.1	147.9	0.6	17.6	15.5	1.0	0.7	0.3
Q4	2,119.2	1,903.5	26.4	189.4	106.3	35.2	33.0	14.9	169.4	155.4	0.6	13.4	11.3	0.9	1.1	0.1
1999 Q1 Q2	2,198.9 2,274.2	1,966.9 2,026.9	25.3 30.1	206.7 217.2	111.6 114.3	32.8 31.8	31.6 32.1	30.7 38.9	185.4 187.8	169.8 169.9	$0.8 \\ 1.4$	14.9 16.5	12.6 13.8	$0.8 \\ 1.1$	1.3 1.5	0.2 0.2
Q3 (p)	2,336.6	2,078.9	31.9	225.8	118.1	34.7	32.7	40.2	204.0	184.2	1.2	18.6	13.5	2.7	2.2	0.2

Source: ECB.

1) Data have been revised in the light of new information. Outstanding amounts are not adjusted for reclassifications, other revaluations or exchange rate variations. Data are partially estimated.
Including items expressed in the national denominations of the euro.
The term "banks" is used in this table to indicate institutions of a similar type to MFIs resident outside the euro area.

Assets outstanding

4. Loans to euro area residents

	MFIs								Non	-MFIs						
	All curren-	Euro ²⁾	Other EU	Other curren-					All curren-	Euro ²⁾	Other EU	Other curren-				
	cies		curren-	cies	USD	JPY	CHF	Other	cies		curren-	cies	USD	JPY	CHF	Other
	1	2	cies 3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	cies 11	12	13	14	15	16
1998 Q1	3,188.6	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	5,604.6	5,437.2	26.6	140.8	86.0	15.3	36.9	2.6
Q2	3,342.6	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	5,704.2	5,541.9	25.5	136.8	81.6	13.9	38.2	3.0
Q3	3,354.7	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	5,786.7	5,624.1	26.4	136.3	77.8	12.7	42.8	3.0
Q4	3,376.8	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	5,932.3	5,759.1	26.3	146.9	79.2	15.1	48.9	3.7
1999 Q1	3,872.4	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	5,992.8	5,797.4	19.7	175.7	99.0	18.5	53.7	4.5
Q2	4,103.5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	6,142.6	5,931.2	21.4	190.0	109.4	19.5	57.9	3.2
Q3 (p)	3,814.2	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	6,203.7	5,984.5	22.8	196.5	106.5	23.9	61.6	4.5

5. Holdings of securities other than shares issued by euro area residents

	MFIs								Non	-MFIs						
	All curren-	Euro 2)	Other EU	Other curren-					All curren-	Euro ²⁾	Other EU	Other curren-				
	cies		curren-	cies	USD	JPY	CHF	Other	cies		curren-	cies	USD	JPY	CHF	Other
	1	2	cies 3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	cies 11	12	13	14	15	16
1998 Q1	653.5	625.7	6.7	22.2	14.6	2.7	1.2	3.8	1,407.7	1,366.7	10.1	32.8	16.8	6.9	2.6	6.5
Q2	685.4	657.0	6.2	23.2	14.7	2.6	1.2	4.7	1,433.7	1,390.2	10.7	34.7	17.2	7.2	2.7	7.5
Q3	708.5	680.3	7.4	21.1	13.7	3.0	1.4	3.0	1,421.9	1,384.4	10.8	27.2	15.0	7.6	2.4	2.2
Q4	729.0	686.0	18.0	25.0	16.9	3.7	1.8	2.6	1,375.5	1,338.5	10.6	26.4	14.4	8.6	2.3	1.1
1999 Q1	760.9	725.4	7.7	27.7	18.3	5.5	1.3	2.6	1,419.5		3.9	28.6	15.2	10.5	2.0	0.9
Q2	800.1	766.2	6.5	27.4	18.1	5.2	1.1	3.1	1,423.7		3.2	26.7	13.5	10.2	2.1	1.0
Q3 (p)	826.8	792.9	6.9	26.6	17.5	4.5	1.7	2.9	1,444.7	1,414.9	3.1	26.6	13.5	10.0	2.3	0.9

6. Loans to non-residents of the euro area

	Banks ³	()							Non-t	anks						
	All curren- cies	Euro ²⁾	Other EU curren-	Other curren- cies	USD	JPY	CHF	Other	All curren- cies	Euro ²⁾	Other EU curren-	Other curren- cies	USD	JPY	CHF	Other
	1	2	cies 3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	cies 11	12	13	14	15	16
1998 Q1	1,081.2	441.5	83.8	555.9	426.6	63.7	29.8	35.8	420.7	190.9	25.5	204.3	171.7	5.7	11.0	15.9
Q2	1,053.1	429.6	88.5	535.0	404.9	66.8	29.6	33.8	384.9	179.5	23.0	182.4	162.8	4.5	11.2	3.9
Q3	1,026.9	423.6	100.6	502.6	365.2	67.5	26.7	43.2	380.2	174.6	26.0	179.6	156.5	5.3	11.9	5.9
Q4	972.0	380.2	76.7	515.1	375.5	73.9	27.1	38.7	378.7	152.3	27.0	199.4	173.2	8.3	13.3	4.5
1999 Q1 Q2 Q3 ^(p)	1,008.1 1,018.8 948.0	467.1 471.8 427.7	81.4 79.5 77.0	459.6 467.5 443.3	328.2 347.3 320.8	62.7 53.2 53.8	26.8 26.2 28.3	41.9 40.9 40.5	385.5 416.6 413.5	137.1 139.2 143.3	28.9 35.0 35.5	219.5 242.4 234.7	191.7 211.9 200.7	7.7 8.0 10.4	14.5 16.3 17.9	5.5 6.3 5.7

7. Holding of securities other than shares issued by non-residents of the euro area

	Banks ³	i)							Non-b	oanks						
	All curren-	Euro 2)	Other EU	Other curren-					All curren-	Euro ²⁾	Other EU	Other curren-				
	cies		curren- cies	cies	USD	JPY	CHF	Other	cies		curren- cies	cies	USD	JPY	CHF	Other
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
1998 Q1	71.5	15.9	4.5	51.1	38.2	3.7	0.6	8.6	262.9	38.8	32.2	192.0	148.1	23.9	3.9	18.8
Q2	88.2	17.1	4.7	66.4	38.1	4.4	0.7	23.2	274.4	49.5	28.2	196.8	138.7	20.2	3.8	36.6
Q3	77.0	19.5	3.9	53.7	39.7	5.2	1.0	7.8	286.0	41.4	33.7	210.9	158.5	29.9	4.3	20.8
Q4	65.3	18.8	5.1	41.5	27.9	5.0	0.8	7.7	316.2	47.3	33.2	235.7	179.7	34.6	4.2	19.6
1999 Q1	75.6	19.7	5.7	50.2	35.0	5.4	0.9	9.0	410.1	52.5	30.8	326.8	255.4	37.6	4.4	29.4
Q2	82.7	21.7	6.3	54.8	39.2	5.6	1.2	8.8	413.0	66.8	33.7	312.4	247.6	37.1	4.9	22.8
Q3 ^(p)	82.6	23.1	6.7	52.8	38.1	5.8	1.0	7.9	412.0	70.3	34.9	306.8	242.0	38.5	4.8	21.6

3 **Financial markets and interest rates** in the euro area

Table 3.1

Money market interest rates 1)

(percentages per annum)²⁾

		Eu	iro area 3)4)			United States 5)	Japan 5)
	Overnight deposits 1	1-month deposits 2	3-month deposits 3	6-month deposits 4	12-month deposits 5	3-month deposits 6	3-month deposits 7
1994	5.24	6.12	6.38	6.83	7.34	6.37	2.34
1995	5.62	5.57	5.49	5.62	5.42	5.44	0.50
1996	4.04	4.08	4.08	4.06	3.98	5.43	0.31
1997	3.98	3.94	4.01	4.05	4.15	5.62	0.36
1998	3.09	3.18	3.17	3.14	3.13	5.00	0.18
1998 Nov.	3.40	3.62	3.51	3.43	3.36	5.12	0.68
Dec.	3.09	3.18	3.17	3.14	3.13	5.00	0.18
1999 Jan.	3.14	3.16	3.13	3.10	3.06	4.99	0.35
Feb.	3.12	3.13	3.09	3.04	3.03	5.00	0.38
Mar.	2.93	3.05	3.05	3.02	3.05	4.99	0.20
Apr.	2.71	2.69	2.70	2.70	2.76	4.97	0.18
May	2.55	2.57	2.58	2.60	2.68	4.98	0.12
June	2.56	2.61	2.63	2.68	2.84	5.17	0.10
July	2.52	2.63	2.68	2.90	3.03	5.30	0.12
Aug.	2.44	2.61	2.70	3.05	3.24	5.46	0.13
Sep.	2.43	2.58	2.73	3.11	3.30	5.56	0.14
Oct.	2.50	2.76	3.38	3.46	3.68	6.20	0.24
Nov.	2.94	3.06	3.47	3.48	3.69	6.09	0.31
1999 5 Nov.	2.95	3.03	3.51	3.54	3.71	6.05	0.28
12	2.97	3.00	3.45	3.46	3.61	6.06	0.34
19	2.74	3.03	3.45	3.45	3.66	6.05	0.33
26	3.04	3.06	3.45	3.47	3.78	6.16	0.34

Euro area money market rates (monthly)



3-month money market rates (monthly)



Sources: Reuters and ECB.

Interbank deposit bid rates to December 1998; offered rates thereafter.
 End-of-period rates to December 1998; period averages thereafter.
 Before January 1999 synthetic euro area rates were calculated on the basis of national rates weighted by GDP.

4) From January 1999 column 1 shows the euro overnight interest average (EONIA); other euro area money market rates from January 1999 are euro

interbank offered rates (EURIBOR).
5) From February 1999, London interbank offered rate (LIBOR).

Government bond yields ¹⁾

(percentages per annum)

			Euro area 2)			United States	Japan
	2 years	3 years 2	5 years 3	7 years 4	10 years 5	10 years 6	10 years 7
1994	8.08	8.52	8.91	9.08	8.18	7.21	4.24
1995	5.69	5.97	6.48	7.06	8.73	6.69	3.32
1996	4.17	4.41	5.06	5.82	7.23	6.54	3.03
1997	4.33	4.51	4.87	5.20	5.99	6.45	2.15
1998	3.16	3.22	3.38	3.67	4.71	5.33	1.30
1998 Nov.	3.33	3.44	3.62	3.90	4.24	4.89	0.89
Dec.	3.16	3.22	3.38	3.67	3.95	4.69	1.39
1999 Jan.	2.98	3.11	3.30	3.64	3.82	4.78	2.07
Feb.	3.05	3.19	3.43	3.78	3.98	4.99	2.09
Mar.	3.08	3.25	3.53	3.92	4.18	5.23	1.72
Apr.	2.83	3.00	3.31	3.70	4.04	5.18	1.55
May	2.82	3.00	3.37	3.81	4.21	5.54	1.36
June	3.09	3.34	3.77	4.20	4.53	5.90	1.60
July	3.30	3.64	4.13	4.55	4.86	5.80	1.69
Aug.	3.56	3.87	4.39	4.78	5.06	5.94	1.89
Sep.	3.68	4.02	4.55	4.94	5.24	5.91	1.75
Oct.	4.07	4.40	4.87	5.23	5.47	6.10	1.79
Nov.	3.99	4.27	4.67	4.97	5.18	6.03	1.81
1999 5 Nov.	3.93	4.21	4.62	4.92	5.11	5.92	1.76
12	3.82	4.07	4.46	4.79	5.00	5.95	1.76
19	4.02	4.32	4.69	4.98	5.20	6.08	1.85
26	4.16	4.45	4.84	5.14	5.36	6.12	1.90

Euro area government bond yields (monthly)





10-year government bond yields

(monthly)



Sources: Reuters, ECB, Federal Reserve and Bank of Japan.

- 1) To December 1998, 2, 3, 5 and 7-year euro area yields are end-of-period values and 10-year yields are period averages. Thereafter, all yields are
- period averages. To December 1998, euro area yields are calculated on the basis of harmonised national government bond yields weighted by GDP. Thereafter, the weights are the nominal outstanding amounts of government bonds in each maturity band. 2)

Stock market indices

(index levels, in points) 1)

				D	ow Jones EU	JRO STO	XX indice	es				United States	Japan
	Benc	hmark				Main eco	onomic sec	tor indices				Builds	
	Broad	50	materials	Consumer cyclical	non- cyclical			Conglom- erates		logy	Utilities	Standard & Poor's 500	Nikkei 225
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
1994 1995 1996 1997 1998	127.33 138.37 167.75 229.86 298.37	1,320.59 1,506.82 1,850.32 2,531.99 3,342.32	145.88 137.78 145.11 166.33 147.10	107.82 111.06 120.25 159.82 156.74	143.90 181.13 274.94 324.06 485.39	125.92 145.46 180.64 249.22 232.87	109.29 117.66 137.84 188.87 250.29	125.91 133.05 156.11 210.33 218.78	132.31 136.18 171.05 204.75 283.76	128.66 145.57 153.17 248.37 353.38	122.60 152.09 192.40 225.11 329.50	455.19 614.57 743.25 962.37 1,229.23	19,299.47 19,417.95 20,147.27 15,917.07 13,842.17
1998 Nov. Dec.	291.73 298.37	3,232.44 3,342.32	147.95 147.10	153.01 156.74	442.91 485.39	237.51 232.87	236.66 250.29	208.39 218.78	270.40 283.76	339.22 353.38	306.30 329.50	1,176.46 1,229.23	14,883.70 13,842.17
1999 Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May June July Aug. Sep. Oct. Nov.	$\begin{array}{c} 306.01\\ 302.69\\ 305.52\\ 316.39\\ 317.05\\ 321.66\\ 328.07\\ 316.78\\ 325.88\\ 322.44\\ 351.17 \end{array}$	3,486.40 3,450.87 3,524.19 3,671.80 3,669.07 3,749.45 3,846.24 3,691.33 3,772.79 3,742.62 4,159.97	146.59 149.74 153.81 172.06 176.93 177.95 190.82 204.66 199.93 193.96 200.99	152.92 152.16 155.94 162.67 167.47 168.33 168.19 162.31 161.67 159.46 164.75	498.08 496.17 480.73 493.62 482.10 487.77 487.34 468.57 500.44 482.52 508.19	226.40 225.01 254.11 276.64 291.29 299.00 316.01 314.74 312.33 295.41 305.69	254.13 246.99 249.73 257.18 253.77 251.77 246.24 235.93 242.61 238.87 259.69	229.20 229.33 229.77 238.42 257.12 268.06 277.97 278.08 273.47 262.05 275.80	301.23 312.25 311.75 334.72 344.94 365.11 379.94 365.94 380.45 381.39 418.69	$\begin{array}{c} 367.41\\ 366.43\\ 374.45\\ 403.94\\ 413.34\\ 440.22\\ 481.62\\ 455.23\\ 480.77\\ 488.96\\ 589.93 \end{array}$	339.23 330.00 318.57 306.87 300.15 300.26 302.28 289.80 296.06 281.85 297.38	1,335.79 1,330.72 1,325.93 1,380.99 1,327.49	18,008.62 17,670.31 17,532.77
1999 5 Nov. 12 19 26	341.00 349.24 360.34 366.30	4,014.08 4,133.93 4,292.40 4,380.77	195.83 189.65 207.96 207.21	164.13 165.37 167.23 166.42	509.40 513.63 510.92 514.43	285.90 304.83 317.32 313.01	260.51 262.35 263.23 256.53	274.76 276.13 278.47 277.20	392.30 424.31 435.16 444.19	551.91 573.01 613.73 656.57	292.34 299.90 298.48 304.65	1,370.23 1,396.06 1,422.00 1,416.62	

Dow Jones EURO STOXX Broad, Standard & Poor's 500 and Nikkei 225 re-based

(base month: January 1994= 100; monthly)



Source: Reuters.

1) End-of-period values to December 1998; period averages thereafter.

Retail bank interest rates

(percentages per annum; period averages)

			Deposit inte	rest rates				Lending int	erest rates	
	Overnight	With a	greed maturity	r	Redeemable	e at notice	To enterp	orises	To hous	seholds
		Up to 1 year	Up to 2 years	Over 2 years	Up to 3 months	Over 3 months	Up to 1 year	Over 1 year	Consumer lending	For house purchase
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1996 1997 1998	1.94 1.46 1.10	4.08 3.41 3.20	4.68 3.63 3.22	5.04 4.40 4.06	3.05 2.80 2.61	3.16 3.09 3.25	8.84 7.58 6.74	6.64 5.80	11.56 10.61 10.05	7.46 6.63 5.87
1998 Oct. Nov. Dec.	1.04 0.94 0.87	3.12 3.06 2.81	3.13 3.05 2.81	3.74 3.70 3.56	2.49 2.48 2.44	3.14 3.12 3.03	6.50 6.38 6.22	5.52 5.43 5.11	9.79 9.68 9.61	5.49 5.43 5.29
1999 Jan. Feb. Mar. May June July Aug. Sep. Oct.	$\begin{array}{c} 0.77\\ 0.72\\ 0.71\\ 0.68\\ 0.63\\ 0.61\\ 0.60\\ 0.60\\ 0.60\\ 0.61\\ \end{array}$	2.67 2.60 2.57 2.39 2.25 2.22 2.24 2.24 2.32 2.50	2.67 2.59 2.56 2.39 2.25 2.22 2.24 2.25 2.32 2.51	$\begin{array}{c} 3.41\\ 3.37\\ 3.37\\ 3.26\\ 3.21\\ 3.30\\ 3.44\\ 3.66\\ 3.79\\ 4.01\\ \end{array}$	2.37 2.34 2.31 2.27 2.16 2.15 2.15 2.01 1.99 2.01	2.86 2.78 2.79 2.61 2.48 2.45 2.63 2.73 2.80 2.93	$\begin{array}{c} 6.07 \\ 5.98 \\ 5.85 \\ 5.68 \\ 5.57 \\ 5.49 \\ 5.41 \\ 5.42 \\ 5.37 \\ 5.43 \end{array}$	5.04 5.00 4.99 4.82 4.73 4.78 4.96 5.16 5.19 5.41	9.61 9.54 9.50 9.37 9.31 9.29 9.21 9.31 9.29 9.33	5.10 5.02 5.05 4.91 4.84 4.96 5.18 5.47 5.53 5.72



Lending interest rates



Source: ECB.

These euro area retail bank interest rates should be used with caution and for statistical purposes only, primarily to analyse their development over time rather than their level. They are calculated as the weighted average of national interest rates provided by the national central banks. The national rates represent those rates that are currently available from national sources and which are judged to fit the standard categories. These national rates have been aggregated to derive information for the euro area, in some cases relying on proxies and working assumptions due to the heterogeneity observed in the national financial instruments across MU Member States. Furthermore, the national interest rates are not harmonised in terms of their coverage (new business and/or outstanding amounts), the autor of the data (nominal or effective) or the compilation method. The country weights for the euro area retail bank interest rates are derived from MFI balance sheet statistics or close proxies. The weights reflect the country-specific proportions of the relevant instruments within the euro area, measured as outstanding amounts, the weights are adjusted monthly, so that interest rates and weights always refer to the same month.

Securities issues other than shares by original maturity, residency of the issuer and currency denomination ¹⁰² (EUR billions; transactions during the period and end-of-period stocks; nominal values)

1. Short-term ³⁾

						By euro are	ea residents			
						In eur	0 4)			In other
·	Issues	Redemptions	Net issues	Amounts outstanding	Issues	Redemptions	Net issues	Amounts outstanding	Issues	Redemptions
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1998 Dec.				526.1				517.1		
1999 Jan.	199.2	182.7	16.5	539.2	192.5	177.2	15.3	529.0	6.7	5.5
Feb.	166.6	162.4	4.3	539.2	162.1	159.5	2.6	527.2	4.5	2.8
Mar.	175.3	174.3	1.0	543.6	170.6	170.8	-0.2	530.4	4.7	3.5
Apr.	206.0	194.2	11.8	561.7	201.0	190.0	11.1	547.7	4.9	4.2
May	162.8	164.1	-1.2	561.1	156.4	159.3	-2.8	545.5	6.4	4.8
June	167.6	176.3	-8.7	548.9	161.9	171.7	-9.8	532.0	5.7	4.6
July	197.8	195.9	2.0	545.2	191.4	189.7	1.7	528.1	6.4	6.1
Aug.	171.4	157.1	14.3	563.5	164.7	151.7	12.9	545.0	6.7	5.3
Sep.										

2. Long-term ³⁾

						By euro are	a residents			
						In euro	D ⁴⁾			In other
-	Issues	Redemptions	Net issues	Amounts outstanding	Issues	Redemptions	Net issues	Amounts outstanding	Issues	Redemptions
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1998 Dec.				5,263.8				4,968.0		
1999 Jan.	145.3	99.7	45.6	5,320.2	139.5	94.5	44.9	5,023.0	5.9	5.2
Feb.	118.8	75.2	43.7	5,372.3	110.2	73.4	36.8	5,063.7	8.6	1.8
Mar.	113.4	77.9	35.4	5,413.0	107.3	72.1	35.2	5,098.6	6.1	5.8
Apr.	114.3	73.7	40.6	5,441.3	109.1	72.0	37.1	5,120.5	5.1	1.7
May	102.7	62.6	40.1	5,487.5	93.7	57.9	35.8	5,162.8	9.0	4.7
June	97.3	63.0	34.4	5,528.5	93.2	60.6	32.6	5,199.0	4.1	2.4
July	118.9	84.9	34.0	5,564.0	113.9	78.0	35.9	5,239.2	4.9	6.9
Aug.	63.1	47.0	16.1	5,575.6	56.1	42.3	13.8	5,246.7	6.9	4.7
Sep.										

3. Total

						By euro are	a residents			
						In euro	0 4)			In other
	Issues	Redemptions	Net issues	Amounts outstanding	Issues	Redemptions	Net issues	Amounts outstanding	Issues	Redemptions
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1998 Dec.				5,789.9				5,485.1		
1999 Jan.	344.5	282.4	62.1	5,859.4	332.0	271.7	60.2	5,552.0	12.6	10.7
Feb.	285.4	237.5	47.9	5,911.5	272.3	232.9	39.4	5,590.9	13.1	4.6
Mar.	288.7	252.2	36.4	5,956.6	277.9	242.9	35.0	5,629.1	10.7	9.3
Apr.	320.2	267.8	52.4	6,003.0	310.2	262.0	48.2	5,668.2	10.0	5.9
May	265.5	226.7	38.8	6,048.6	250.2	217.2	33.0	5,708.3	15.4	9.5
June	265.0	239.3	25.7	6,077.4	255.1	232.3	22.8	5,731.1	9.8	7.0
July	316.7	280.7	36.0	6,109.2	305.3	267.8	37.6	5,767.3	11.4	13.0
Aug.	234.5	204.0	30.4	6,139.2	220.8	194.0	26.8	5,791.7	13.7	10.0
Sep.								•		

Sources: ECB and BIS (for issues by non-residents of the euro area). 1) Data coverage for euro area residents is estimated at around 95% of total issues. This is expected to increase over the coming months, though full coverage will not be feasible in the short term.

2)

Net issues differ from the change in amounts outstanding because of valuation changes, reclassifications and other adjustments. "Short-term" means securities with an original maturity of one year or less (in accordance with the ESA 95, in exceptional cases two years or less). Securities with longer original maturity, or with optional maturity dates, the latest of which is more than one year away, or with indefinite maturity dates, are classified as long-term. 3)

4) Including items expressed in the national denominations of the euro.

		By not	n-residents of th	e euro area in	euro ⁴⁾		Total ii	n euro ⁴⁾		
currencies										
Net issues	Amounts outstanding 12	Issues (during quarter) 13	Redemptions (during quarter) 14	Net issues (during quarter) 15		Issues (during quarter) 17			Amounts outstanding (end-quarter) 20	
	8.9				12.4				529.5	1998 Dec
1.2 1.7	10.2 12.0									1999 Jan Feb
1.2 0.7	13.2 14.0	23.3	11.1	12.2	25.4	548.6	518.7	29.9	555.8	Ma Apr
1.6 1.1	15.6 16.8	19.2		-3.5	22.8	538.6	543.6	-5.1	554.9	Maj
0.3 1.4	17.1 18.5						• •			July
		27.8	18.4	9.4	31.7					Sep

		By nor	n-residents of th	ie euro area in	euro ⁴⁾		Total ir	n euro ⁴⁾		
currencies										
Net issues	Amounts outstanding 12	Issues (during quarter) 13	Redemptions (during quarter) 14	Net issues (during quarter) 15	Amounts outstanding (end-quarter) 16	Issues (during quarter) 17	Redemptions (during quarter) 18	Net issues (during quarter) 19		
	295.8	•			426.7		•		5,394.8	1998 Dec
0.7 6.9	297.2 308.6									1999 Jan Fet
0.3 3.5	314.3 320.8	53.4	16.8	36.5	462.6	410.3	256.9	153.4	5,561.2	Ma Api
4.3 1.7 -1.9	324.7 329.4 324.7	56.1	11.4	44.7	506.9	352.1	201.9	150.2	5,706.0	Ma Jun Jul
2.3	328.9	62.5	8.2	54.3	561.4		•		· ·	Aug

		euro ⁴⁾	Total in		euro ⁴⁾	e euro area in	n-residents of th	By nor		
										currencies
	Amounts outstanding (end-quarter) 20	Net issues (during quarter) 19	Redemptions (during quarter) 18	Issues I (during quarter) 17		Net issues (during quarter) 15	Redemptions (during quarter) 14	Issues (during quarter) 13	Amounts outstanding 12	Net issues
1998 Dec	5,924.2				439.1				304.8	
1999 Jan. Feb									307.4 320.6	1.9 8.6
Mai Apr	6,117.1	183.3	775.5	958.9 [.]	488.0	48.7	27.9	76.7	327.6 334.8	1.4 4.2
May June	6,260.8		745.5	890.7	529.7	41.2	34.0	75.2	340.3 346.3	5.9 2.9
July Aug	•		•						341.9 347.4	-1.6 3.7
Sep					593.1	63.7	26.6	90.3		

HICP and other prices in the euro area 4

Table 4.1

Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices

(annual percentage changes, unless otherwise indicated)

	Total	Total								
	(index,	[Goods							Services
	1996 = 100)			Food 1)			Industrial			
					Processed food ¹⁾	Unprocessed food	goods	Non-energy industrial goods	Energy	
Weight in the total (%) ²⁾	100.0	100.0	63.6	22.4	13.4	9.0	41.2	32.5	8.7	36.4
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1995	97.9	2.5	2.1	2.4	2.4	2.2	1.8	1.9	1.4	3.6
1996	100.0	2.2	1.8	1.9	2.0	1.7	1.8	1.5	3.0	2.9
1997	101.6	1.6	1.1	1.4	1.4	1.4	1.0	0.5	2.8	2.4
1998	102.7	1.1	0.6	1.6	1.4	2.0	0.1	0.9	-2.6	2.0
1998 Q3	102.9	1.1	0.7	1.7	1.4	2.1	0.1	1.0	-3.2	2.0
Q4	102.8	0.8	0.2	1.1	1.2	0.8	-0.2	0.9	-4.4	2.0
1999 Q1	103.1	0.8	0.3	1.3	1.2	1.5	-0.2	0.8	-3.8	1.7
Q2 Q3	103.8	1.0	0.6	0.6	0.9	0.3	0.6	0.6	0.8	1.6
Q3	104.1	1.1	0.9	-0.1	0.7	-1.4	1.5	0.5	4.9	1.5
1998 Oct.	102.8	0.9	0.3	1.2	1.3	1.1	-0.1	1.0	-4.0	2.1
Nov.	102.8	0.8	0.2	1.0	1.2	0.6	-0.2	0.9	-4.4	2.0
Dec.	102.9	0.8	0.1	1.0	1.1	0.9	-0.4	0.9	-4.8	1.9
1999 Jan.	102.8	0.8	0.2	1.2	1.3	1.1	-0.3	0.8	-4.4	1.8
Feb.	103.1	0.8	0.2	1.3	1.3	1.5	-0.4	0.7	-4.3	1.7
Mar.	103.4	1.0	0.5	1.4	1.1	1.8	0.0	0.7	-2.8	1.8
Apr.	103.7	1.1	0.8	1.2	1.2	1.2	0.6	0.6	0.3	1.7
May	103.8	1.0	0.6	0.6	0.8	0.4	0.6	0.6	0.5	1.5
June	103.8	0.9	0.5	0.1	0.7	-0.7	0.8	0.6	1.4	1.5
July	104.0	1.1	0.7	-0.1	0.7	-1.4	1.1	0.6	3.2	1.6
Aug.	104.1	1.2	0.9	-0.2	0.7	-1.6	1.5	0.6	5.0	1.5
Sep.	104.1	1.2	1.1	-0.1	0.7	-1.2	1.7	0.4	6.4	1.4
Oct.	104.2	1.4	1.3	0.4	0.9	-0.4	1.8	0.5	6.4	1.3



Source: Eurostat. Data before 1995 are estimates based on national definitions and are not fully comparable with HICPs starting in 1995. Including alcoholic beverages and tobacco.
 Referring to index period 1999.

Table 4.2

Selected other price indicators

(annual percentage changes, unless otherwise indicated)

1. Industry and commodity prices

			Ι	ndustrial proc	lucer prices			World mark raw mat	tet prices of erials ²⁾	Oil prices ³⁾ (EUR per barrel)		
	Total excl construct	uding tion	Manufacturing						Con- struction ¹⁾	Total	Total excluding energy	
	Index, 1995 = 100			Inter- mediate goods	Capital goods	Consume goods	r				energy	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	Durable consumer goods 7	Non- durable consumer goods 8	9	10	11	12
1995	100.0	3.6	3.9	5.0	1.8	-	-	2.4	-	0.2	2.1	13.0
1996	100.4	0.4	1.0	-1.1	1.2	1.7	1.7	1.7	1.3	6.5	-6.9	15.9
1997 1998	101.4 100.6	1.1 -0.8	0.6 -0.7	1.2 -2.2	0.3 0.5	$0.8 \\ 0.4$	0.1 0.1	1.2 0.6	1.3 0.2	10.0 -21.2	12.9 -12.5	17.1 12.0
		-0.8	-0.7	-2.2	0.5	0.4	0.1	0.0	0.2	-21.2	-12.5	12.0
1998 Q3 Q4		-1.5	-1.1	-2.9 -4.5	0.7	-0.2	0.5	-0.3	0.0	-24.2	-18.2	10.1
1999 Q1		-2.6	-2.1	-4.8	0.2	-0.1	0.2	-0.2	0.8	-17.6	-16.0	10.3
Q2	99.7	-1.3	-1.0	-2.8	0.0	-0.2	0.1	-0.3	•	5.9	-8.2	15.0
Q3		0.6	0.8	0.6	-0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1		31.0	1.1	19.7
1998 No		-2.4 -2.6	-2.2 -2.3	-4.6	0.4	-0.2	0.1 0.2	-0.4 -0.3	-	-28.6 -30.8	-18.4	10.2 8.8
De				-4.9	0.4	-0.1			-		-19.5	
1999 Jar Fel		-2.7 -2.7	-2.4 -2.3	-5.1 -5.1	0.2 0.3	-0.1 0.0	0.3 0.2	-0.3 -0.2	-	-23.4 -20.6	-17.3 -16.0	9.6 9.4
Ma	ar. 99.0	-2.3	-1.8	-4.3	0.2	-0.1	0.2	-0.2	-	-8.4	-14.6	11.8
Ар		-1.6	-1.2	-3.3	0.2	-0.1	0.2	-0.3	-	0.3	-12.5	14.4
Ma Jur		-1.4 -1.0	-1.0 -0.7	-2.8 -2.1	-0.1 0.0	-0.2 -0.1	$0.1 \\ 0.0$	-0.3 -0.2	-	5.1 12.8	-7.8 -4.2	14.9 15.6
Jul		-0.1	-0.7	-0.6	-0.1	-0.1	0.0	-0.2	-	22.7	-4.2	18.1
Au	íg. 101.0	0.6	0.9	0.6	-0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	-	29.2	-0.5	19.2
Sej		1.3	1.5	1.7	-0.1	0.3	0.3	0.3	-	41.4	6.6	21.8
Oc No		•		•	•	•			-	44.3 60.4	10.7 11.9	20.8 23.5
110		•	•	•	•	•	•	•		00.4	11.7	23.5

2. Deflators of gross domestic product

				Deflator	rs of GDP ⁴⁾ (s.a.)			
	GDP		Domestic demand	Private consumption	Government consumption	Gross fixed capital	Exports	Imports
	Index, 1995 = 100			Ĩ	1	formation		
	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20
1995	100.0	2.6	2.5	2.6	2.9	1.5	2.6	2.3
1996	102.1	2.1	2.1	2.5	2.2	0.8	0.9	0.8
1997	103.7	1.6	1.7	1.9	1.8	1.0	2.2	2.7
1998	105.3	1.6	1.1	1.3	1.5	0.5	-0.1	-1.6
1997 Q2	103.5	1.6	1.6	1.8	2.0	0.9	2.0	2.2
Q3	103.9	1.6	1.9	2.1	1.7	1.2	3.0	3.9
Q4	104.2	1.5	1.7	1.8	1.8	1.3	2.5	3.0
1998 Q1	104.8	1.6	1.3	1.6	1.2	0.8	1.4	0.8
Q2	105.2	1.6	1.4	1.6	1.4	0.8	0.4	-0.4
Q3	105.5	1.5	0.8	1.1	1.8	0.3	-0.6	-2.6
Q4	105.8	1.5	0.7	1.0	1.6	0.1	-1.7	-4.1
1999 Q1	106.3	1.4	0.9	1.0	1.8	0.1	-2.0	-4.0
Q2	106.3	1.1	0.9	1.2	1.9	0.2	-0.8	-1.5

Sources: Eurostat, except columns 10 and 11 (HWWA - Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung, Hamburg), column 12 (International Petroleum Exchange), Sources: Eurostat, except columns to and 11 (H wWA – Institut fur Wirtschaftsforschung, Hamburg), column and columns 13 to 20 (ECB calculations based on Eurostat data).
Residential buildings, based on non-harmonised data.
To December 1998, in ECU; from January 1999, in euro.
Brent Blend (for one-month forward delivery). To December 1998, in ECU; from January 1999, in euro.
Based mainly on the ESA 95; data to end-1998 are based on national deflators in domestic currency.

Table 5.1

National accounts ¹⁾

1. Current prices

(EUR billions (ECU billions to end-1998), seasonally adjusted)

	GDP	Domestic demand	Private consumption	Government consumption	Gross fixed capital formation	Changes in inventories 2)	Exports 3)	Imports 3)
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1995	5,307.4	5,412.6	2,995.9	1,097.0	1,093.9	32.7	1,548.8	1,461.0
1996	5,528.7		3,138.6	1,147.4	1,119.6	7.0	1,636.6	1,520.5
1997	5,641.4		3,190.1	1,152.8	1,134.7	25.2	1,804.0	1,665.3
1998	5,863.9		3,313.7	1,180.4	1,188.5	46.8	1,909.7	1,775.3
1998 Q2	1,458.0		823.5	294.2	292.2	12.5	480.5	444.9
Q3	1,474.0		833.6	296.0	299.9	8.7	481.2	445.4
Q4	1,487.9		843.5	298.1	302.6	13.5	472.3	442.0
1999 Q1	1,501.6	1,472.6	850.8	303.9	309.2	8.6	471.1	442.1
Q2	1,510.3	1,484.7	857.6	306.3	312.5	8.4	482.1	456.5

2. Constant prices

(EUR billions (ECU billions to end-1998), seasonally adjusted, at 1995 prices)

	GDP	Domestic demand	Private consumption	Government consumption	Gross fixed capital formation	Changes in inventories ²⁾	Exports 3)	Imports 3)
	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
1995 1996 1997 1998	5,307.4 5,378.4 5,496.5 5,646.2	5,219.5 5,265.8 5,353.7 5,530.2	2,995.9 3,039.1 3,081.2 3,170.9	1,097.0 1,117.0 1,122.6 1,137.2	1,093.9 1,103.8 1,126.9 1,175.1	32.7 5.9 23.0 47.0	1,548.8 1,618.6 1,779.9 1,892.3	1,461.0 1,506.1 1,637.2 1,776.3
1998 Q2 Q3 Q4	1,409.0 1,416.7 1,418.6	1,376.4 1,386.8 1,396.8	789.9 796.2 800.8	284.4 284.5 283.9	289.7 296.6 296.9	12.4 9.6 15.2	475.4 477.0 470.1	442.8 447.2 448.3
1999 Q1 Q2	1,424.8 1,432.2	1,405.6 1,411.5	805.2 807.0	287.3 287.8	303.3 305.3	9.8 11.5	471.2 478.5	452.1 457.8
(annual pe	ercentage changes)							
1995 1996 1997 1998	2.2 1.3 2.2 2.7	2.2 0.9 1.7 3.3	1.8 1.4 1.4 2.9	0.8 1.8 0.5 1.3	2.5 0.9 2.1 4.3	- - -	6.5 4.5 10.0 6.3	6.8 3.1 8.7 8.5
1998 Q2 Q3 Q4	2.8 2.6 1.9	3.0 3.5 3.0	2.7 3.4 3.1	1.5 1.1 1.0	3.2 4.7 3.5	- -	8.6 4.7 1.6	9.8 7.7 5.0
1999 Q1 Q2	1.6 1.6	2.6 2.5	2.7 2.2	1.0 1.2	3.9 5.4	-	0.3 0.6	3.2 3.4

Source: Eurostat.
1) Based mainly on the ESA 95. See the first section of the general notes for a brief explanation of features of current price data expressed in ECU up to end-1998.

2) Including acquisitions less disposals of valuables.

3) Exports and imports cover goods and services and include cross-border trade within the euro area.

Table 5.2 Selected other real economy indicators 1)

1. Industrial production

(annual percentage changes, unless otherwise indicated)

	Total incluc construction		Total exclud construction		Manufacturing	;					Construction
	Index (s.a.)		Index (s.a.)			Intermediate goods	Capital goods	Consumer goods			
	1995 = 100		1995 = 100			goous	goous	goous	Durable consumer goods	Non-durable consumer goods	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1995 1996 1997 1998	100.1 100.1 103.9 107.4	2.8 -0.1 3.8 3.4	100.1 100.5 104.9 109.2	3.4 0.4 4.4 4.1	3.5 0.1 5.0 4.6	2.6 -0.2 5.4 3.7	7.3 1.6 4.8 6.7	0.8 0.0 2.7 3.0	-1.1 0.1 2.7 6.3	1.8 -0.2 2.6 1.4	-0.4 -2.4 -0.5 -0.9
1998 Q3 Q4	107.7 107.2	3.2 0.8	109.4 109.2	3.9 1.5	4.3 1.4	2.8 0.3	6.6 4.2	3.3 1.2	6.5 4.5	1.8 -0.4	-1.1 -3.7
1999 Q1 Q2 Q3	107.7 108.2	0.3 0.8	109.3 109.8 110.8	0.5 0.4 1.4	0.2 0.3 1.3	-0.2 0.1 1.5	1.0 -0.5 0.1	1.2 1.2 1.9	1.9 2.7 2.9	0.9 0.2 1.8	-1.1 0.8
1998 Oct. Nov Dec	. 107.5	1.6 1.5 -0.8	109.7 109.5 108.2	2.4 2.3 -0.2	2.7 2.1 -0.7	1.2 1.3 -1.9	5.7 4.7 2.3	2.8 1.5 -0.7	8.0 4.3 0.5	0.2 -0.1 -1.2	-2.9 -3.6 -4.7
1999 Jan. Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sep Oct.	. 107.1 . 107.9 . 107.9 . 107.9 . 108.1 . 108.7 . 108.5 	1.3 -0.8 0.3 0.1 0.3 1.9 0.8	$109.3 \\ 108.9 \\ 109.8 \\ 109.1 \\ 109.8 \\ 110.5 \\ 110.4 \\ 110.8 \\ 111.0 \\$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.4 \\ -0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ -0.3 \\ 0.0 \\ 1.5 \\ 0.4 \\ 2.5 \\ 1.4 \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{c} 1.4 \\ -0.9 \\ 0.1 \\ -0.3 \\ -0.1 \\ 1.3 \\ 0.2 \\ 2.5 \\ 1.4 \\ \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 0.1 \\ -0.8 \\ 0.2 \\ -0.7 \\ -0.4 \\ 1.2 \\ 0.6 \\ 2.2 \\ 1.9 \end{array}$	3.4 0.3 -0.4 -0.3 -1.3 0.1 -1.4 0.6 1.2	$2.5 \\ 0.0 \\ 1.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 1.4 \\ 2.1 \\ 1.2 \\ 4.6 \\ 0.6$	4.6 0.9 0.6 1.1 3.2 3.9 1.5 11.0 -0.2	-0.3 1.7 -0.2 -0.1 0.8 1.3	$\begin{array}{c} 1.1 \\ -4.5 \\ 0.0 \\ 0.9 \\ 0.0 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.1 \\ \end{array}$

2. Retail sales and car registrations

(annual percentage changes, unless otherwise indicated)

					Retail sales		New passenger car registrations			
	Current	t prices			Con	stant prices			8	
-	Total		Total		Food, beverages,	Non-food			Thousands ²⁾ (s.a.)	
-	Index (s.a.) 1995 = 100		Index (s.a.) 1995 = 100		tobacco		Textiles, clothing, footwear	Household equipment		
	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21
1995			100.0						777	0.8
1996			100.4	0.4	0.6		-1.0	0.0	826	6.2
1997			101.6	1.2	1.2	0.9	0.6	1.1	861	4.2
1998	•		104.5	2.8	1.9	2.7	1.7	3.8	922	7.1
1998 Q3			105.1	3.6	2.2	3.8	4.7	3.8	881	6.7
Q4			105.4	2.8	3.2	2.5	0.3	2.9	852	6.3
1999 Q1			105.8	2.4	2.5	2.0	2.1	1.1	1,070	7.1
Q2			106.3	2.1	2.8	1.6	1.9	2.5	1,035	8.3
Q3			107.0	1.8	3.8	0.8	-0.9	3.2	936	6.3
1998 Oct			105.0	1.7	1.7	2.1	-1.2	2.7	951	5.0
Nov	<i>.</i> .		106.4	5.2	5.7	4.0	4.5	4.5	961	9.8
Dec			104.9	1.8	2.6	1.6	-1.9	1.8	918	3.9
1999 Jan.			105.5	2.2	1.6	0.9	2.0	2.6	986	9.0
Feb			105.5	1.7	2.3	0.9	-2.3	0.3	964	5.5
Mar			106.5	3.1	3.4	4.0	5.8	0.6	982	6.7
Apr			105.6	1.6	1.2	1.4	2.4	3.6	991	11.2
Ma		•	106.1	1.0	1.0	0.6	-0.4	1.1	971	5.9
Jun		•	107.0	3.6	6.1	2.7	3.8	2.8	980	7.8
July		•	107.0	2.0	2.6	1.4	-0.2	3.2	1,049	10.4
Aug		•	107.2	1.7	5.9	1.9	1.6	3.5	964	5.3
Sep		•	106.9	1.8	2.8	-0.8	-3.4	2.9	967	1.9
Oct						•		•	976	2.9

Sources: Eurostat, except columns 20 and 21 (ECB calculation based on data from the ACEA/A.A.A. – European Automobile Manufacturers' Association).
Adjusted for variations in the number of working days.
Monthly averages.

Table 5.3

Business and consumer surveys

(percentage balances, seasonally adjusted, unless otherwise indicated)

		Manufacturin	g industry		Construction confidence	Retail trade confidence	Consumer
	Confidence indicator	Production expectations	Assessment of order books	Capacity utilisation ¹⁾ (percentages)	indicator	indicator	indicator
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1996 1997 1998	-16 -4 -1	-1 11 11	-30 -15 -5	80.6 81.0 83.0	-36 -33 -19	-11 -9 -3	-20 -15 -5
1999	-1		-5	81.8	-19	- 5	-5
1998 Q4	-7	3	-13	82.8	-15	-3	-2
1999 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4	-11 -10 -6	1 3 8	-20 -21 -17	82.0 81.8 81.6 81.9	-9 -7 -7	-3 -4 -7	0 -4 -4
1998 Oct. Nov. Dec.	-5 -8 -9	5 2 2	-10 -14 -15	-	-17 -14 -14	-1 -4 -4	-3 -2 -1
1999 Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May June July Aug. Sep. Oct.	-9 -11 -12 -11 -11 -9 -7 -7 -7 -5 -3	2 1 0 2 3 5 7 7 7 10 13	-16 -20 -23 -20 -22 -22 -18 -17 -15 -11		-9 -9 -7 -8 -6 -5 -9 -8 -6	0 -4 -6 -1 -3 -9 -6 -7 -7 -7 -8	0 0 -1 -3 -4 -5 -3 -4 -4 -2

Consumer and industrial confidence indicators

(percentage balances; monthly, seasonally adjusted)

Capacity utilisation and order books

(capacity utilisation, percentages, quarterly; order books, percentage balances, monthly; seasonally adjusted)





capacity utilisation (left-hand scale) 2)

Source: European Commission Business and Consumer Surveys.
Data on capacity utilisation are collected in January, April, July and October. Annual data are averages of the four quarterly surveys.
Manufacturing.

Table 5.4

Labour market indicators

1. Employment and unemployment ¹⁾

(annual percentage changes, unless otherwise indicated)

			Employ	ment			Unemployment (s.a.)				
-		Whole	economy		Industry (excluding	Services	То	tal	Adult 2)	Youth 2)	
	Index, 1995 = 100		Employees	Self- employed	construction)		Millions	% of labour force	% of labour force	% of labour force	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
1995 1996 1997 1998	100.0 100.2 100.7 101.9	0.2 0.5 1.2	0.2 0.6 1.3	0.3 -0.1 0.5	-1.2 -0.6 0.9	1.3 1.1 1.6	14.286 14.701 14.789 14.004	11.3 11.6 11.6 10.9	9.5 9.8 9.9 9.4	23.2 23.9 23.2 21.3	
1998 Q3 Q4			1.2 1.5				13.897 13.620	10.8 10.6	9.3 9.2	21.1 20.8	
1999 Q1 Q2 Q3							13.261 13.020 12.899	10.3 10.1 10.0	9.0 8.9 8.8	20.0 19.3 19.1	
1998 Sep. Oct. Nov. Dec.	- - -	- - -	-	- - -	- - -		13.823 13.727 13.640 13.494	10.7 10.7 10.6 10.5	9.3 9.2 9.2 9.1	21.1 21.0 20.8 20.5	
1999 Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May June July Aug. Sep.		- - - - - -					13.358 13.295 13.129 13.081 12.995 12.986 12.937 12.945 12.815	10.4 10.3 10.2 10.2 10.1 10.1 10.0 10.0 10.0	9.0 9.0 8.9 8.8 8.8 8.8 8.8 8.8 8.8 8.8 8.8	20.3 20.1 19.7 19.4 19.2 19.2 19.2 19.2 18.9	

2. Labour costs and productivity

(annual percentage changes)

		r cost in the whol nd components (s				Earnings per employee in manufacturing			
	Unit labour cost	Compensation per employee	Labour productivity	Total					
	cost	per employee	productivity		Wages and salaries	Other	Industry	Services	
					Sultries	-	Total	Total	
	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19
1995	1.5	3.6	2.0	-	-	-	-	-	3.7
1996	2.0	3.3	1.2	2.8	2.4	3.8	3.4	1.1	3.7
1997	0.7	2.5	1.8	2.6	2.5	3.3	2.5	2.6	2.6
1998				1.7	2.2	1.1	1.8	1.3	2.4
1997 Q2	0.6	2.8	2.3	3.0	2.7	3.9	2.5	3.6	3.0
Q3	0.3	2.3	1.9	2.4	2.4	2.9	2.5	2.2	2.3
Q4	0.2	2.2	2.0	2.5	2.4	3.1	2.5	2.0	2.4
1998 Q1	-1.5	1.2	2.7	1.8	2.4	1.1	1.5	1.6	2.0
Q2	0.0	1.3	1.3	1.7	2.3	0.8	1.9	1.2	2.6
Q3	0.4	1.5	1.2	1.6	2.0	1.1	1.9	1.1	2.4
Q4				1.8	2.2	1.1	2.1	1.3	2.7
1999 Q1				2.3	2.2	2.7	2.3	2.1	2.4
Q2				2.1	2.2	2.0	2.1	2.0	2.1

Sources: ECB calculations based on Eurostat data (columns 1 to 6 and 18), Eurostat (columns 7 to 10, 14 to 17) and ECB calculations based on national data (columns 11 to 13 and 19).
Data for employment are based on the ESA 95. Data for unemployment follow ILO recommendations.
Adult, 25 years and over; youth, below 25 years; expressed as a percentage of the labour force for the relevant age group.
Hourly labour costs for the whole economy, excluding the agriculture, public administration, education and health sectors. Owing to differences in coverage, components are not consistent with the total.

Saving, investment and financing in the 6 euro area

Table 6

Saving, investment and financing

(as a percentage of GDP, unless otherwise indicated)

	Euro area	saving and in	vestment 1)			Investment	t of private no	on-financial se	ctors 1) 2)		
	Gross		Net lending	Gross fixed		Net					
	saving	capital	to the rest	capital	Non-	acquisition	Currency	Securities		Shares	Insurance
		formation	of the world	formation			and	other	Long-term		technical
					corporations	assets	deposits	than shares	securities		reserves
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1991	21.9	23.0	-1.3	19.1	14.3	16.7	3.9	3.0	2.5	1.7	2.5
1992	20.9	22.2	-1.0	18.4	13.7	14.2	4.4	1.7	0.5	1.4	2.6
1993	20.0	20.2	0.5	16.6	12.3	13.0	5.3	0.6	1.0	0.8	2.9
1994	20.4	19.8	0.3	16.5	12.3	13.7	3.3	2.2	2.4	1.8	2.9
1995	21.3	20.1	0.8	16.9	12.6	13.3	4.5	2.2	1.9	1.6	3.4
1996	20.9	19.8	1.2	16.6	12.3	11.8	3.9	0.2	1.2	1.2	3.6
1997	21.6	19.2	1.9	16.2	12.0	12.7	2.3	-0.8	-0.1	1.6	3.9
1998	21.9	19.3	1.3	16.2	12.1	13.8	2.2	-2.1	-1.2	2.2	3.1

			Financi	ng of private r	ion-financial s	ectors ^{1) 2)}			Net financial	Financial investment	Net incurrence
	Gross saving	Households	Net incurrence	Securities		Shares	Loans		investment	as a % of gross	of liabilities as a % of
	barnig	liousenoids	of liabilities	other than shares	Long-term securities	bildies		Long-term loans		investment	financing
									(col. 6-14)	(col. 6+(4+6))	(col. 14÷(12+14))
	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22
1991	21.0	12.1	13.3	0.4	0.4	1.6	9.1	5.0	3.4	46.6	38.8
1992	20.7	12.1	10.6	0.7	0.6	1.4	6.8	4.7	3.6	43.6	33.9
1993	20.4	11.5	7.4	1.3	1.4	1.6	3.6	4.4	5.6	43.9	26.6
1994	20.3	10.6	9.6	1.0	1.1	1.8	3.6	3.5	4.1	45.4	32.1
1995	21.1	10.9	7.0	-1.8	-1.8	1.4	5.4	3.6	6.3	44.0	24.9
1996	20.3	10.7	8.0	0.2	0.0	1.7	5.3	4.3	3.8	41.5	28.3
1997	19.8	9.4	9.3	0.1	0.0	1.5	6.5	4.8	3.4	43.9	32.0
1998	18.7	8.7	11.9	0.5	0.3	2.6	7.5	5.6	1.9	46.0	38.9

Investment and financing of private non-financial sectors ^{1) 2)}

(as a percentage of GDP)

Investment



Financing

Source: ECB.

Selected items of investment and financing.
 Private non-financial sectors comprise non-financial corporations, households and non-profit institutions serving households.

7 General government fiscal position in the euro area and in the euro area countries

Table 7

General government fiscal position (as a percentage of GDP)

1. Euro area $^{(1)(2)}$ – receipts and expenditure

	-			Receipts							Expen	diture			
	Total	Current					Capital	Total	Current					Capital	
		receipts	Direct	Indirect	Social	Sales	receipts		expenditure	Compen-	Inter-	Interest	Transfers	expenditure	Investment
			taxes	taxes	contri-					sation of	mediate		to		
					butions					employees	consump-		households		
											tion				
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
1991	46.6	46.0	11.9	12.9	16.7	2.2	0.5	51.0	46.1	11.2	5.4	5.0	20.5	4.9	3.1
1992	47.7	46.8	12.0	12.9	17.1	2.3	0.9	52.3	47.5	11.4	5.5	5.5	21.4	4.8	3.1
1993	48.4	47.8	12.1	13.2	17.5	2.4	0.7	54.0	49.2	11.6	5.7	5.8	22.3	4.9	2.9
1994	47.8	47.2	11.6	13.4	17.5	2.3	0.6	52.9	48.3	11.3	5.5	5.4	22.3	4.5	2.8
1995	47.5	46.9	11.7	13.3	17.4	2.4	0.7	52.6	48.0	11.2	5.3	5.7	22.3	4.6	2.6
1996	48.4	47.8	12.1	13.4	17.7	2.5	0.6	52.6	48.5	11.2	5.4	5.7	22.8	4.1	2.5
1997	48.6	47.8	12.3	13.5	17.7	2.4	0.8	51.2	47.3	11.0	5.3	5.1	22.6	3.8	2.3
1998	48.2	47.6	12.5	14.2	16.6	2.4	0.6	50.1	46.2	10.7	5.2	4.6	22.2	3.9	2.3

2. Euro area $^{1)2)}$ – saving, deficit and debt

	Gross		Deficit (-) /	surplus (+)		Primary	Deficit/		Change	in debt 4)		Gros	s nominal c	onsolidated	debt
	saving-	Total	Central govern- ment	State and local gov- ernment	Social security	deficit/ surplus	debt adjust- ment ³⁾	Total	Currency, deposits and loans		Medium/ long-term securities		Currency, deposits and loans		Medium/ long-term securities
	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30
1991	0.0	-4.4	-4.2	-0.4	0.3	0.6	1.2	5.6	1.5	0.0	4.1	58.0	18.4	8.5	31.1
1992	-0.7	-4.6	-4.1	-0.5	-0.1	0.8	1.7	6.6	1.7	0.8	4.1	61.6	19.1	8.9	33.5
1993	-1.4	-5.6	-4.9	-0.6	0.0	0.2	2.5	8.0	1.5	-0.3	6.9	68.1	20.2	8.3	39.6
1994	-1.1	-5.1	-4.4	-0.7	0.0	0.4	0.8	5.8	0.2	0.6	5.0	70.6	19.4	8.5	42.7
1995	-1.1	-5.1	-4.3	-0.5	-0.3	0.6	1.7	6.8	1.9	-0.3	5.2	74.6	20.6	7.8	46.2
1996	-0.8	-4.2	-3.6	-0.4	-0.2	1.5	-0.3	3.9	0.3	0.2	3.4	75.9	20.2	7.8	48.0
1997	0.5	-2.5	-2.3	-0.3	0.1	2.6	-0.3	2.2	-0.1	-0.9	3.2	75.2	19.3	6.5	49.4
1998	1.4	-2.0	-2.1	0.1	0.1	2.7	-0.4	1.6	-0.3	-0.7	2.6	73.4	18.2	5.5	49.7

3. Euro area countries – deficit (-) / surplus (+)

	BE	DE	ES	FR	IE	IT	LU	NL	AT	PT	FI
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1991	-6.3	-3.1	-4.4	-2.0	-2.3	-10.1	1.9	-2.9	-3.0	-6.0	-1.0
1992	-7.0	-2.6	-4.0	-3.8	-2.5	-9.6	0.7	-3.9	-2.0	-3.0	-5.9
1993	-7.3	-3.2	-6.8	-5.7	-2.2	-9.5	1.6	-3.2	-4.2	-6.1	-7.1
1994	-4.9	-2.4	-6.2	-5.8	-1.7	-9.2	2.7	-3.8	-5.0	-6.0	-6.4
1995	-3.8	-3.3	-7.1	-4.9	-2.1	-7.7	1.8	-4.1	-5.1	-5.7	-4.6
1996	-3.1	-3.4	-4.5	-4.1	-0.2	-6.6	2.8	-1.8	-3.7	-3.3	-3.1
1997	-1.6	-2.7	-2.5	-3.0	1.0	-2.7	3.8	-1.0	-1.8	-2.5	-1.2
1998	-0.9	-2.0	-1.7	-2.9	2.4	-2.7	2.5	-0.7	-2.2	-2.2	0.9

4. Euro area countries - gross nominal consolidated debt

	BE	DE	ES	FR	IE	IT	LU	NL	AT	PT	FI
	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22
1991	128.5	41.4	44.6	35.7	94.3	101.5	4.0	79.0	57.9	62.9	23.1
1992	130.1	44.0	47.1	39.6	91.1	108.7	4.9	80.0	57.9	56.3	41.3
1993	136.8	48.0	59.0	45.7	92.6	119.1	5.9	81.2	62.7	61.0	57.6
1994	135.1	50.2	61.3	48.5	86.1	124.9	5.5	77.9	65.4	63.8	59.3
1995	132.0	58.3	64.2	52.8	78.4	125.3	5.8	77.9	69.4	65.9	58.1
1996	128.8	60.8	68.5	55.7	68.6	124.6	6.3	76.1	69.8	64.9	57.6
1997	123.4	61.5	67.1	58.1	59.9	122.4	6.4	70.8	64.1	61.7	55.0
1998	118.2	61.1	65.1	58.8	49.5	118.7	6.9	67.5	63.0	57.8	49.7

Sources: ECB for euro area aggregated data; for data relating to countries' deficit/surplus and debt, 1995-98: European Commission (Economic and Financial Affairs DG and Eurostat), 1991-94: ECB.

1) Receipts, expenditure and deficit aggregates based mainly on the ESA 95.

2) Euro area excluding Luxembourg; transactions among the euro area countries are not consolidated.

3) Difference between the annual change in nominal gross consolidated debt and the deficit as a percentage of GDP.

4) Annual change in nominal gross consolidated debt expressed as a percentage of GDP: [debt(t)-debt(t-1)] ÷ GDP(t).

Balance of payments and international 8 investment position of the euro area (including reserves)

Table 8.1

Summary balance of payments

(EUR billions (ECU billions to end-1998); net flows)

		Cı	urrent accou	int		Capital account			Financi	al account 1)			Errors and
	Total	Goods	Services	Income	Current transfers		Total 2)	Direct investment	Portfolio investment	Financial derivatives	Other investment 2) 3)	Reserve assets 2)	omissions 2)
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
1998	60.3	118.8	-0.9	-11.9	-45.8	12.7	-69.1	-102.6	-85.3	-8.2	118.5	8.5	-3.8
1998 Q3 Q4	15.5 14.2	32.0 31.0	-0.4 -1.2	-3.7 -2.3	-12.5 -13.4	3.1 3.7	-15.6 -36.2	-20.0 -56.5	8.8 -39.7	1.1 -5.3	-8.2 58.7	2.6 6.7	-3.0 18.3
1999 Q1 Q2 Q3	11.9 14.8 7.8	21.5 24.8 26.8	-3.2 0.2 -1.6	-0.8 -0.9 -3.6	-5.5 -9.3 -13.8	2.8 3.4 1.7	-33.1 -28.3 -3.4	-15.6 -52.6 -18.6	-54.7 -7.0 25.0	-1.4 -0.6 2.6	33.0 25.3 -13.9	5.5 6.6 1.5	18.4 10.1 -6.1
1998 July Aug. Sep. Oct. Nov. Dec.	10.5 4.3 0.7 3.7 4.4 6.1	15.1 9.0 7.9 10.6 10.2 10.3	0.3 0.1 -0.8 -1.0 -0.3 0.1	-2.3 0.2 -1.6 -1.0 -1.0 -0.3	-2.6 -4.9 -4.9 -4.9 -4.6 -3.9	1.1 1.5 0.5 0.8 0.9 2.0	17.3 4.3 -37.2 -9.7 7.4 -33.8	-5.9 -7.6 -6.5 -18.0 -35.3 -3.2	13.4 8.0 -12.6 -30.7 3.1 -12.0	-1.4 2.2 0.3 -2.9 -2.3 -0.1	11.0 3.7 -22.9 44.8 47.8 -33.9	0.1 -2.0 4.5 -2.9 -5.8 15.4	-28.9 -10.1 36.0 5.3 -12.6 25.7
1999 Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May June July Aug. Sep.	-0.5 4.1 8.3 6.8 0.5 7.4 8.2 1.5 -1.9	4.8 6.9 9.8 8.0 5.9 11.0 13.3 7.0 6.5	-2.9 0.0 -0.4 -0.4 0.7 -0.1 0.8 -1.1 -1.3	-0.4 -0.6 0.2 2.1 -2.9 -0.2 -1.5 0.4 -2.5	-2.0 -2.2 -1.4 -2.9 -3.2 -3.2 -3.2 -4.4 -4.8 -4.6	$2.7 \\ -0.1 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.5 \\ 1.4 \\ 1.4 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.4$	0.4 6.8 -40.3 -5.1 -11.0 -12.2 -3.4 32.9 -32.8	-4.7 -6.2 -4.6 -14.6 -19.1 -18.9 -5.7 -5.9 -7.0	8.8 -26.4 -37.1 13.6 -28.5 7.9 3.0 1.8 20.2	-1.9 -0.4 0.9 3.5 -3.9 -0.1 1.8 1.5 -0.7	0.3 34.8 -2.1 -9.3 37.0 -2.3 -1.8 34.9 -47.0	-2.1 5.0 2.7 1.8 3.5 1.3 -0.7 0.5 1.7	-2.6 -10.8 31.8 -2.3 9.1 3.3 -5.5 -35.0 34.3

Current and capital accounts

(EUR billions (ECU billions to end-1998); net flows)



Direct and portfolio investment

(EUR billions (ECU billions to end-1998); net flows)



1) Inflows (+); outflows (-). Reserve assets: increase (-); decrease (+).

Data before end-1998 are not closely comparable with later observations.
 Flows before January 1999 include estimates.

Source: ECB.

Balance of payments – current and capital accounts (EUR billions (ECU billions to end-1998); gross flows)

					Current a	ccount					Capital a	ccount
	Tot	tal	Goo	ds	Servic	es	Incon	ne	Current tra	ansfers		
	Credit	Debit	Credit	Debit	Credit	Debit	Credit	Debit	Credit	Debit	Credit	Debit
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
1998	1,264.0	1,203.7	772.4	653.6	232.0	232.8	198.5	210.4	61.1	106.9	17.8	5.1
1998 Q3 Q4	310.8 316.6	295.2 302.4	189.4 195.7	157.4 164.7	61.6 58.1	62.0 59.3	47.5 50.3	51.2 52.6	12.2 12.4	24.6 25.9	4.3 5.2	1.2 1.6
1999 Q1 Q2 Q3	299.7 324.0 314.7	287.7 309.2 306.9	179.7 193.1 193.3	158.2 168.2 166.5	50.7 59.3 62.4	53.9 59.1 64.0	45.5 56.8 46.3	46.3 57.8 50.0	23.8 14.8 12.6	29.3 24.2 26.4	4.4 4.6 3.1	1.7 1.2 1.4
1998 July Aug. Sep. Oct. Nov. Dec.	113.4 93.8 103.6 105.7 101.5 109.4	102.9 89.4 102.9 101.9 97.1 103.3	70.0 55.7 63.6 67.1 64.4 64.3	55.0 46.7 55.7 56.5 54.2 54.0	21.8 20.3 19.6 19.4 17.9 20.8	21.4 20.2 20.4 20.4 18.1 20.8	16.9 14.0 16.6 15.7 15.3 19.3	19.1 13.9 18.2 16.7 16.3 19.6	4.8 3.7 3.7 3.4 4.0 5.0	7.4 8.7 8.6 8.4 8.5 9.0	1.5 1.8 0.9 1.2 1.3 2.7	$0.5 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.6$
1999 Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May June July Aug. Sep.	95.0 94.7 110.0 105.4 102.2 116.4 111.9 96.0 106.8	95.5 90.5 101.7 98.5 101.7 109.0 103.7 94.5 108.7	53.5 57.4 68.8 63.3 60.7 69.1 69.4 57.3 66.6	48.7 50.5 59.0 55.3 54.9 58.1 56.0 50.3 60.2	14.9 17.2 18.7 18.5 19.2 21.6 22.7 19.9 19.8	17.8 17.2 19.0 18.9 18.5 21.7 21.9 21.0 21.1	14.4 13.8 17.3 18.7 16.9 21.2 15.4 14.8 16.2	14.8 14.5 17.1 16.6 19.7 21.4 16.9 14.4 18.7	$12.3 \\ 6.2 \\ 5.3 \\ 4.9 \\ 5.4 \\ 4.6 \\ 4.4 \\ 4.0 \\ 4.2 \\ $	14.3 8.4 6.6 7.8 8.6 7.8 8.8 8.8 8.8 8.8	$\begin{array}{c} 3.1 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.6 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.8 \\ 1.9 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.0 \\ 0.9 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.4 \\ 0.8 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.5 \end{array}$

Source: ECB.

Balance of payments – income account (EUR billions; gross flows)

	Total		Compens employ					Investme	nt income			
			1.	_	Tota	1	Direct inv	vestment	Portfolio in	vestment	Other inve	stment
	Credit	Debit	Credit	Debit	Credit	Debit	Credit	Debit	Credit	Debit	Credit	Debit
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
1999 Q1 Q2	45.5 56.8	46.3 57.8	2.3 2.3	0.9 1.3	43.2 54.5	45.4 56.5	7.8 12.7	8.8 8.1	12.5 16.2	15.0 24.1	23.0 25.5	21.6 24.3

	Inco	me on dire	ect investmer	nt			Inc	ome on port	folio investme	ent		
	Equit	У	De	ebt	Equ	iity			Debt inst	ruments		
							To	otal	Bonds an	id notes	Money n instrum	
	Credit	Debit	Credit	Debit	Credit	Debit	Credit	Debit	Credit	Debit	Credit	Debit
	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24
1999 Q1 Q2	6.9 11.5	8.0 7.0	0.9 1.2	0.9 1.1	1.6 3.4	3.6 10.9	10.9 12.9	11.3 13.1	10.5 12.3	10.9 12.5	0.5 0.6	0.5 0.7

Source: ECB.

Balance of payments – direct and portfolio investment accounts ¹⁾ (EUR billions (ECU billions to end-1998); net flows)

1. Direct investment; portfolio investment by instrument

	Direct in	vestment				Portfoli	o investmer	nt ²⁾				
-	Abroad	In the euro area	To	otal	Equ	iity			Debt inst	ruments		
								Assets			Liabilities	
			Assets	Liabilities	Assets	Liabilities	Total	Bonds and notes	market	Total	Bonds and notes	Money market
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	instruments 9	10	11	instruments 12
1998	-183.0	80.4	-302.1	216.8	-98.7	98.3	-203.3	-187.1	-16.3	118.5	102.7	15.8
1998 Q3 Q4	-25.3 -70.0	5.3 13.5	-60.2 -61.4	69.1 21.7	-13.2 -20.1	5.5 41.6	-47.1 -41.2	-42.2 -29.2	-4.8 -12.0	63.5 -19.9	47.0 -18.0	16.6 -1.9
1999 Q1 Q2 Q3	-36.3 -76.9 -19.8	20.8 24.3 1.2	-65.3 -85.6 -56.9	10.7 78.6 82.0	-21.7 -40.9 -24.2	-5.4 31.3 20.5	-43.6 -44.7 -32.7	-43.8 -52.5 -22.3	7.8	16.1 47.3 61.5	2.9 33.7 24.8	13.2 13.7 36.7
1998 July Aug. Sep. Oct. Nov. Dec.	-2.0 -4.1 -19.2 -13.0 -42.7 -14.2	-3.9 -3.5 12.7 -5.0 7.4 11.0	-24.3 -16.4 -19.5 -9.6 -32.0 -19.8	37.7 24.4 6.9 -21.1 35.0 7.7	-4.5 -0.6 -8.1 -2.0 -10.0 -8.1	10.9 -3.4 -2.0 -2.0 36.4 7.1	-19.8 -15.8 -11.4 -7.6 -21.9 -11.7	-20.2 -14.2 -7.8 -6.7 -13.8 -8.8	-1.6 -3.6 -0.9 -8.2	26.8 27.8 8.9 -19.1 -1.4 0.6	15.5 22.1 9.4 -24.7 -0.8 7.5	11.3 5.8 -0.6 5.6 -0.6 -6.9
1999 Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May June July Aug. Sep.	-11.8 -12.0 -12.5 -23.3 -28.3 -25.3 0.1 -9.4 -10.5	7.1 5.8 7.9 8.7 9.1 6.4 -5.8 3.5 3.5	-19.1 -16.2 -30.0 -22.2 -37.9 -25.5 -19.0 -20.7 -17.2	27.9 -10.2 -7.1 35.8 9.4 33.4 22.1 22.5 37.5	-6.4 -4.3 -11.0 -11.7 -15.7 -13.5 -5.2 -10.3 -8.7	9.5 1.9 -16.9 8.2 10.8 12.3 9.5 3.1 8.0	-12.7 -11.9 -19.0 -10.5 -22.2 -12.0 -13.9 -10.3 -8.5	-9.3 -13.2 -21.2 -14.8 -23.3 -14.4 -13.3 -5.7 -3.2	2.3 4.3 1.1 2.4	18.4 -12.1 9.7 27.6 -1.4 21.1 12.6 19.4 29.5	15.7 -18.0 5.2 27.7 -9.2 15.2 0.7 7.7 16.4	2.7 6.0 4.5 -0.1 7.8 5.9 11.9 11.7 13.1

2. Portfolio investment assets by instrument and sector of holder

		Equit	У					Debt inst	ruments			
				-		Bonds a	nd notes		М	oney marke	t instruments	
	Euro-	General	MFIs	Other	Euro-	General	MFIs	Other	Euro-	General	MFIs	Other
	system	govern-	(excl. the	sectors	system	govern-	(excl. the	sectors	system	govern-	(excl. the	sectors
		ment	Euro-			ment	Euro-			ment	Euro-	
			system)				system)				system)	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
1999 Q1	0.1	-0.4	1.1	-22.5	0.1	-0.4	5.1	-48.6	1.4	-0.2	-1.1	0.0
Q2	0.0	-0.3	-3.0	-37.7	0.8	-0.3	-10.5	-42.5	0.5	-0.5	1.1	6.6

Source: ECB.
Inflows (+); outflows (-).
Data before end-1998 are not closely comparable with later observations and include estimates.

Balance of payments – other investment account and reserve assets ¹⁾ (EUR billions (ECU billions to end-1998); net flows)

1. Other investment by sector ²)

	Tot	al	Eurosy	stem	Gene govern			MFIs (excluding t	he Eurosys	tem)		Other se	ectors
							To	tal	Long-	term	Short-	term		
	Assets 1	Liabili- ties 2	Assets 3	Liabili- ties 4	Assets 5	Liabili- ties 6	Assets 7	Liabili- ties 8	Assets 9	Liabili- ties 10	Assets 11	Liabili- ties 12	Assets 13	Liabili- ties 14
1998	-67.5	186.0	-0.7	3.5	-1.4	-7.7	-22.6	178.1	-34.2	34.8	11.6	143.3	-42.8	12.1
1998 Q3 Q4	-84.3 59.1	76.1 -0.4	0.4 -0.5	-0.6 2.9	0.6 3.0	-1.9 -2.5	-71.2 53.7	77.8 -4.1	-13.2 -3.7	1.7 14.2	-58.0 57.4	76.2 -18.3	-14.0 2.9	0.8 3.2
1999 Q1 Q2 Q3	-34.6 1.0 -35.1	67.7 24.4 21.2	2.9 4.4 0.0	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0 \\ 0.0 \\ 0.0 \end{array}$	-3.3 3.9 -0.1	-4.2 -2.9 -3.1	-13.4 8.2 -19.0	58.6 19.4 24.8	-13.9 -15.7 -13.6	7.1 13.2 7.4	0.6 23.8 -5.4	51.5 6.2 17.4	-20.9 -15.6 -16.0	13.3 7.8 -0.6
1998 July Aug. Sep. Oct. Nov. Dec.	-6.7 -12.5 -65.1 3.5 6.7 49.0	17.7 16.2 42.2 41.3 41.1 -82.8	0.2 0.1 0.1 -0.1 -0.1 -0.4	-0.1 -0.2 -0.4 0.4 -2.6 5.2	0.2 0.5 -0.2 0.0 1.2 1.9	-3.4 0.5 0.9 0.2 2.2 -4.9	7.2 -22.0 -56.4 13.5 1.6 38.6	21.6 17.1 39.2 38.5 39.8 -82.4	-2.8 -5.6 -4.8 -1.3 -0.8 -1.6	0.9 -1.5 2.3 2.8 1.8 9.6	10.0 -16.4 -51.6 14.8 2.4 40.3	20.7 18.6 36.9 35.7 38.0 -92.0	-14.3 8.9 -8.5 -10.1 4.1 8.9	-0.4 -1.2 2.4 2.2 1.7 -0.7
1999 Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May June July Aug. Sep.	-64.7 30.9 -0.8 10.5 -10.7 1.1 -16.6 -3.3 -15.1	65.1 3.9 -1.3 -19.8 47.6 -3.5 14.8 38.3 -31.9	8.4 -4.5 -1.0 0.4 3.1 0.9 0.6 -1.2 0.6	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0\\ 0.0\\ 0.0\\ 0.0\\ 0.0\\ 0.0\\ 0.0\\ 0.0$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0 \\ -2.2 \\ -1.1 \\ -0.2 \\ 1.0 \\ 3.0 \\ -1.4 \\ 0.3 \\ 1.0 \end{array}$	-4.8 -0.6 1.2 0.3 -0.9 -2.3 -1.7 -0.1 -1.2	-65.0 48.5 3.2 15.0 -13.4 6.6 -8.3 0.2 -10.9	65.2 1.5 -8.1 -20.8 50.4 -10.1 16.7 38.1 -30.0	-6.2 -0.6 -7.1 -4.7 -3.9 -7.1 -2.3 -6.1 -5.2	3.4 -3.2 6.8 2.7 6.1 4.5 2.3 3.4 1.6	-58.8 49.1 10.3 19.7 -9.5 13.6 -6.0 6.3 -5.7	61.7 4.6 -14.9 -23.5 44.3 -14.6 14.4 34.7 -31.6	-8.2 -10.9 -1.8 -4.8 -1.4 -9.4 -7.5 -2.7 -5.8	4.6 3.1 5.6 0.7 -1.9 9.0 -0.2 0.3 -0.7

2. Other investment by sector and instrument

2.1. Eurosystem

	Loa	ns/currency and depos	sits	(Other assets/liabilities	
	Assets 1	Liabilities 2	Balance 3	Assets 4	Liabilities 5	Balance 6
1999 Q1 Q2	3.6 4.3	0.0 0.0	3.6 4.3	-0.7 0.1	$0.0 \\ 0.0$	-0.7 0.1

Source: ECB.
Inflows (+); outflows (-).
Data before end-1998 are not closely comparable with later observations and include estimates.

2.2. General government

		Trade credits		Loan	s/currency and dep	osits	Ot	her assets/liabilitie	es
	Assets	Liabilities	Balance	Assets	Liabilities	Balance	Assets	Liabilities	Balance
	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
1999 Q1	-0.2	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0\\ 0.0\end{array}$	-0.2	-2.9	-4.1	-7.0	-0.3	-0.1	-0.4
Q2	-0.1		-0.1	5.7	-2.7	3.0	-1.8	-0.2	-2.0

2.3. MFIs (excluding the Eurosystem)

	I	loans/currency and deposit	its		Other assets/liabilities	
	Assets	Liabilities	Balance	Assets	Liabilities	Balance
	16	17	18	19	20	21
1999 Q1	-17.1	61.3	44.2	3.7	-2.7	1.0
Q2	9.1	18.4	27.4	-0.8	1.1	0.2

2.4. Other sectors

		Trade credits		Loan	s/currency and de	posits	0	ther assets/liabiliti	es
	Assets	Liabilities	Balance	Assets	Liabilities	Balance	Assets	Liabilities	Balance
	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30
1999 Q1	-3.5	4.1	0.6	-11.8	3.4	-8.4	-5.5	5.8	0.2
Q2	-6.2	-2.9	-9.1	1.4	9.6	11.1	-10.8	1.0	-9.7

3. Reserve assets ¹⁾

	Total	Monetary gold	Special drawing	Reserve position in			Fo	oreign excha	nge			Other claims
		Ū	rights	the IMF	Total	Currency ar	nd deposits		Securities		Financial derivatives	
						With monetary authorities and the BIS	With banks	Equity	Bonds and notes			
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
1999 Q1 Q2	5.5 6.6	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0\\ 0.0\end{array}$	2.5 -1.1	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0\\ 0.8\end{array}$	3.3 6.8	1.5 -4.6	3.0 -2.4	$0.0 \\ 0.0$	1.3 11.0	-2.5 2.8	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0\\ 0.0\end{array}$	-0.3 0.1

Source: ECB. 1) Increase (-); decrease (+).

International investment position

1. Net international investment position ¹⁾ (EUR billions (ECU billions in 1997); assets minus liabilities; end-of-period positions)

	Total	Dire	ect investme	nt		Portfo	lio investr	nent		Financial deriva-		Other inv	estment		Reserve assets 2)
		Total	Equity (including	Other capital	Total	Equity securities	Debt	instrument	S ²⁾	tives 2)	Total	Trade credits	Loans/ currency	Other assets/	
			reinvested earnings)				Total	Bonds and notes	Money market instru-					liabilities	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	ments 9	10	11	12	13	14	15
1997 1998	42.2 -132.4	114.4 164.6	129.9 175.4	-15.5 -10.8	-599.6 -609.1	-361.8 -475.5	-237.8 -133.6	-210.7 -125.5	-27.0 -8.2	-5.7 -3.6	169.8 -13.8	80.0 86.5	0.4 -172.2	89.3 71.9	363.3 329.4

2. Reserves and related assets of the Eurosystem ³) (EUR billions; end-of-period positions, unless otherwise indicated)

]	Reserve asser	ts						Memo: related assets
	Total	Monetary gold		Special drawing	Reserve position			For	eign exch	ange			Other claims	Claims on euro
		0	In fine troy ounces	rights	in the IMF	Total	Currenc			Securities		Financial derivatives		area residents denom-
			(millions)				With monetary authorities and the BIS	With banks	Equity	Bonds and notes	Money market instru- ments			inated in foreign currency
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
1998 Dec.	⁴⁾ 329.4	99.6	404.13	5.1	23.4	199.8	12.5	18.3	0.0	116.7	52.4	0.0	1.5	7.6
1999 Jan. Feb.	338.7 340.5	101.3 105.3	404.08 404.08	6.0 3.0	22.7 22.7	207.0 208.9	-	-	-	-	-	0.0 0.0	1.6 0.7	7.7 9.7
Mar. Apr.	349.3 352.6	105.1 109.3	404.08 404.08	3.9 5.5	23.5 23.9	215.1 212.3	-	-	-	-	-	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0\\ 0.0\end{array}$	1.8 1.7	10.4 11.7
May	344.7	103.8	404.08	5.0	24.1	210.2	-	-	-	-	-	0.0	1.7	12.7
June	347.2	102.0	403.73	3.9	25.2	214.5	-	-	-	-	-	0.0	1.6	12.6
July	340.1 341.5	96.5 96.9	403.73 403.73	3.6 3.8	24.5 24.3	213.7 214.9		-	-	-	-	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0\\ 0.0\end{array}$	1.7 1.7	12.8 12.4
Aug. Sep.	354.2	113.2	403.73	3.8	24.3	214.9	-	-		-	-	0.0	1.7	12.4
Oct.	357.8	115.5	403.73	3.7	23.6	213.6	-	-	-	-	-	0.0	1.4	13.8

Source: ECB.

Source: ECB.
 Obtained by aggregating national data.
 Data for end-1997 are not closely comparable with those for end-1998.
 The figures are not fully comparable with those in Table 1.1 owing to differences in coverage and valuation.
 Position as at 1 January 1999.

9 External trade in goods of the euro area

Table 9

1. Exports ¹⁾

(EUR billions (ECU billions to end-1998); f.o.b. value)

$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Total	Food, drink, tobacco	Raw materials	Energy	Chemicals	Other manu- factured	Machinery, transport equipment	Other	1	ort trade ind 1995 = 100	ices
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$										Value 2)	Volume 2)	Unit value
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1996	669.7	49.2	14.2	13.1	85.5	195.5	295.9	16.3	107.6	104.7	102.8
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												105.7
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		793.5				104.2		369.8	16.9	127.5	119.6	106.6
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												105.3
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Q2											105.1
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												106.6
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	-											105.7
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												107.8
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												106.8
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												106.5 105.2
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	-											
Q3 204.1 . <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>50.9</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>107.2</td>							50.9					107.2
1998 Jan. 58.5 4.1 1.3 1.2 8.4 16.3 25.9 1.3 112.7 104.7 10 Feb. 63.7 4.3 1.4 1.0 8.6 18.1 28.9 1.4 122.7 113.9 10 Mar. 72.0 4.8 1.5 1.2 9.6 20.3 33.1 1.5 138.8 128.5 10 Apr. 67.9 4.7 1.3 1.1 9.2 19.0 31.1 1.5 130.9 122.5 10 May 65.7 4.6 1.3 1.1 9.1 19.3 33.4 1.4 126.6 118.4 10 June 70.3 4.7 1.3 1.1 9.1 19.3 33.4 1.4 140.5 13.1 4.0 13.1 4.0 13.1 4.1 144 140.5 13.1 4.0 13.1 14.0 10 5.3 102.5 10 12.0 14.0 13.1 14.0 15 127.1 119.2 10 14.0 14.1 132.8 122.5				3.9	3.1	27.9	54.6	93.6				108.8
Feb. 63.7 4.3 1.4 1.0 8.6 18.1 28.9 1.4 122.7 113.9 10 Mar. 72.0 4.8 1.5 1.2 9.6 20.3 33.1 1.5 138.8 128.5 10 Apr. 67.9 4.7 1.3 1.1 9.2 19.0 31.1 1.5 138.8 128.5 10 May 65.7 4.6 1.3 1.1 9.2 19.0 31.1 1.5 130.9 122.5 10 June 70.3 4.7 1.3 1.1 9.2 30.5 1.4 126.6 118.4 10 July 72.9 4.6 1.3 1.1 9.2 21.1 34.1 1.4 140.5 131.4 10 Aug. 56.3 4.0 1.2 0.9 7.7 15.5 25.6 1.3 108.5 102.5 10 Sep. 65.9 4.3 1.3 0.9 8.8 18.4 30.8 1.5 127.1 119.2 10 Oct. 68.9 4.6 1.3 1.0 8.6 19.5 32.4 1.4 132.8 122.8 100 Dec. 64.7 4.4 1.2 0.9 8.2 17.0 31.5 1.4 124.7 118.4 100 1999 Jan. 54.4 3.6 1.2 0.8 7.8 14.6 24.9 1.6 104.9 98.4 100 Mar. 72.8 4.6 <td>Q3</td> <td>204.1</td> <td>•</td> <td>•</td> <td>•</td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td>•</td> <td>•</td> <td>131.2</td> <td>•</td> <td>•</td>	Q3	204.1	•	•	•	-		•	•	131.2	•	•
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												107.6
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												107.8
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												108.0
June 70.3 4.7 1.3 1.1 9.1 19.3 33.4 1.4 135.5 127.0 10 July 72.9 4.6 1.3 1.1 9.2 21.1 34.1 1.4 140.5 131.4 10 Aug. 56.3 4.0 1.2 0.9 7.7 15.5 25.6 1.3 108.5 102.5 100.5 Sep. 65.9 4.3 1.3 0.9 8.8 18.4 30.8 1.5 127.1 119.2 100.5 Oct. 68.9 4.6 1.3 1.0 8.6 19.5 32.4 1.4 132.8 122.5 100.5 Nov. 66.8 4.5 1.3 0.9 8.1 18.1 32.4 1.5 128.8 123.0 100.5 Dec. 64.7 4.4 1.2 0.9 8.2 17.0 31.5 1.4 124.7 118.4 100.5 1999 Jan. 54.4 3.6 1.2 0.8 7.8 14.6 24.9 1.6 104.9 98.4 100.5 Mar. 72.8 4.6 1.4 1.0 9.8 19.8 34.1 2.2 140.3 130.1 100.5 Mar. 72.8 4.6 1.4 1.0 9.8 19.8 34.1 2.2 140.3 130.1 100.5 Mar. 72.8 4.6 1.4 1.0 9.8 19.8 34.1 2.2 140.3 130.1 100.5												106.9 106.9
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												106.9
Aug. 56.3 4.0 1.2 0.9 7.7 15.5 25.6 1.3 108.5 102.5 100.5 Sep. 65.9 4.3 1.3 0.9 8.8 18.4 30.8 1.5 127.1 119.2 100.5 Oct. 68.9 4.6 1.3 1.0 8.6 19.5 32.4 1.4 132.8 125.8 100.5 Nov. 66.8 4.5 1.3 0.9 8.1 18.1 32.4 1.5 128.8 123.0 100.5 Dec. 64.7 4.4 1.2 0.9 8.2 17.0 31.5 1.4 124.7 118.4 100.5 1999 Jan. 54.4 3.6 1.2 0.8 7.8 14.6 24.9 1.6 104.9 98.4 100.5 Mar. 72.8 4.6 1.4 1.0 9.8 19.8 34.1 2.2 140.3 130.1 100.5 Mar. 72.8 4.6 1.4 1.0 9.8 19.8 34.1 2.2 140.3 130.1 100.5 May 63.6 4.4 1.3 1.0 9.1 17.7 30.6 1.8 126.8 116.4 100.5 May 63.6 4.4 1.3 1.0 9.0 17.3 28.8 1.9 122.5 113.0 100.5 June 72.9 4.5 1.3 1.1 9.8 19.7 34.2 2.3 140.6 128.9 100.5												106.9
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												105.9
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		65.9		1.3	0.9	8.8		30.8	1.5		119.2	106.6
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												105.6
												104.7
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												105.3
Mar. 72.8 4.6 1.4 1.0 9.8 19.8 34.1 2.2 140.3 130.1 10 Apr. 65.8 4.3 1.3 1.0 9.1 17.7 30.6 1.8 126.8 116.4 10 May 63.6 4.4 1.3 1.0 9.0 17.3 28.8 1.9 122.5 113.0 10 June 72.9 4.5 1.3 1.1 9.8 19.7 34.2 2.3 140.6 128.9 10 July 74.9 4.2 1.3 1.1 9.8 20.2 34.7 3.6 144.4 .												106.6
Apr.65.84.31.31.09.117.730.61.8126.8116.410May63.64.41.31.09.017.328.81.9122.5113.010June72.94.51.31.19.819.734.22.3140.6128.910July74.94.21.31.19.820.234.73.6144.4.												106.8
May 63.6 4.4 1.3 1.0 9.0 17.3 28.8 1.9 122.5 113.0 10 June 72.9 4.5 1.3 1.1 9.8 19.7 34.2 2.3 140.6 128.9 10 July 74.9 4.2 1.3 1.1 9.8 20.2 34.7 3.6 144.4 .												107.9
June72.94.51.31.19.819.734.22.3140.6128.910July74.94.21.31.19.820.234.73.6144.4.												$108.9 \\ 108.4$
July 74.9 4.2 1.3 1.1 9.8 20.2 34.7 3.6 144.4 .												108.4
											120.7	
ли <u>д</u> . 00.1	Aug.	60.1	-							115.9		
Sep. 69.1		69.1	•									

Source: Eurostat; the commodity breakdown is in accordance with the SITC Rev. 3.
Owing to differences in definitions, coverage and time of recording, trade data (as compiled by Eurostat) are not fully comparable with the goods item in the balance of payments statistics compiled by the ECB (Table 8.2).

2) ECB calculations based on Eurostat data.

Table 9

2. Imports ¹⁾

(EUR billions (ECU billions to end-1998); c.i.f. value)

	Total	Food, drink, tobacco	Raw materials	Energy	Chemicals	Other manu- factured	Machinery, transport equipment	Other	Impo	ort trade indi 1995 = 100	ces
		tobacco				articles	equipment		Value 2)	Volume 2)	Unit value
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1996 1997 1998	593.9 674.2 712.4	46.6 49.7 50.8	36.5 41.3 41.2	71.6 81.2 62.1	54.1 62.0 67.6	167.0 188.1 201.7	193.6 228.8 268.9	24.6 23.1 20.1	105.5 119.8 126.6	102.9 110.3 123.4	102.6 108.6 102.6
1997 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4	159.1 168.0 166.6 180.4	11.4 12.6 12.2 13.5	9.7 11.0 10.0 10.6	21.2 18.6 20.0 21.4	14.7 16.0 15.2 16.1	44.6 46.5 48.9 48.2	51.8 57.5 55.6 63.8	5.8 5.7 4.7 6.8	113.1 119.4 118.5 128.2	106.0 111.4 106.9 117.0	106.7 107.2 110.8 109.6
1998 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4	180.8 179.6 171.4 180.6	12.7 12.7 12.3 13.1	10.9 11.1 9.7 9.6	17.5 15.9 14.7 13.9	17.6 17.2 16.4 16.4	51.5 50.4 50.6 49.2	65.3 67.0 63.1 73.5	5.3 5.3 4.6 4.9	128.5 127.7 121.8 128.4	119.8 122.1 119.8 132.2	107.3 104.6 101.7 97.1
1999 Q1 Q2 Q3	177.1 187.6 186.6	11.7 12.4	9.1 10.0	13.4 16.8	16.9 17.6	49.8 50.2	70.3 74.6	5.7 6.0	125.9 133.3 132.7	127.4 128.6	98.8 103.7
1998 Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May June July Aug. Sep. Oct. Nov. Dec.	58.0 58.2 64.6 60.2 57.1 62.3 59.3 50.1 61.9 62.5 59.6 58.4	$\begin{array}{c} 4.1 \\ 4.0 \\ 4.6 \\ 4.4 \\ 4.0 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.4 \\ 3.7 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.4 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.4 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.5 \\ 2.6 \end{array}$	3.5 3.8 3.7 3.5 3.9 3.6 2.8 3.3 3.3 3.1 3.1	$\begin{array}{c} 6.2 \\ 5.7 \\ 5.6 \\ 5.4 \\ 5.5 \\ 4.9 \\ 4.9 \\ 4.7 \\ 5.0 \\ 5.0 \\ 4.4 \\ 4.5 \end{array}$	5.6 5.5 5.7 5.6 5.9 5.9 5.9 4.7 5.7 5.8 5.4 5.3	16.6 16.7 18.3 16.8 15.8 17.8 17.8 14.9 17.9 17.9 17.3 16.2 15.7	20.3 20.9 24.1 22.5 21.1 18.0 24.0 25.0 24.7 23.9	$1.7 \\ 1.9 \\ 1.7 \\ 1.7 \\ 1.5 \\ 2.1 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.7 \\ 1.8 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.2 $	123.8 124.1 137.7 128.3 121.8 132.8 126.6 106.9 132.0 133.4 127.1 124.6	115.0 115.2 129.4 121.6 116.1 128.5 123.9 105.8 129.6 134.3 132.0 130.4	$107.6 \\ 107.8 \\ 106.4 \\ 105.5 \\ 104.9 \\ 103.4 \\ 102.1 \\ 101.1 \\ 101.8 \\ 99.3 \\ 96.3 \\ 95.6 \\ 00.1 \\ 100.1 \\ 000.1 \\ $
1999 Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May June July Aug. Sep.	54.4 55.8 66.8 61.0 61.8 64.8 63.0 57.1 66.6	$3.6 \\ 3.7 \\ 4.4 \\ 4.0 \\ 4.1 \\ 4.3 \\ 4.0 \\ . $	2.9 2.9 3.3 3.3 3.3 3.5 3.2	4.5 4.1 4.9 5.6 5.7 5.4 6.4	5.1 5.4 6.4 5.7 5.7 6.1 5.5	15.4 16.0 18.5 15.9 16.4 17.9 17.6	21.1 21.8 27.4 24.4 24.7 25.5 23.0	1.8 2.0 2.0 1.9 2.1 3.2	116.1 118.9 142.5 130.1 131.8 138.2 134.3 121.7 142.0	118.4 120.9 143.1 127.2 126.2 132.3	98.1 98.4 99.6 102.3 104.4 104.4

Source: Eurostat; the commodity breakdown is in accordance with the SITC Rev. 3.

Owing to differences in definitions, coverage and time of recording, trade data (as compiled by Eurostat) are not fully comparable with the goods item in the balance of payments statistics compiled by the ECB (Table 8.2). Part of the difference arises from the inclusion of insurance and freight services in the recording of goods imported, which accounted for about 3.8% of the value of imports (c.i.f.) in 1998.
 ECB calculations based on Eurostat data.

Table 9

3. Trade balance ¹⁾

(EUR billions (ECU billions to end-1998); exports (f.o.b.) - imports (c.i.f.))

	Total	Food, drink, tobacco	Raw materials	Energy	Chemicals	Other manufactured articles	Machinery, transport equipment	Other
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1996 1997 1998	75.8 88.6 81.1	2.7 3.2 2.8	-22.3 -25.0 -25.5	-58.5 -66.8 -49.5	31.4 37.0 36.5	28.5 28.5 19.1	102.3 114.0 100.9	-8.3 -2.2 -3.3
1997 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4	11.6 23.8 26.8 26.3	0.6 0.7 0.9 1.0	-5.8 -6.9 -5.9 -6.4	-17.5 -15.0 -16.6 -17.7	7.9 9.1 10.4 9.5	4.3 7.4 6.8 10.0	22.8 28.9 30.9 31.3	-0.8 -0.4 0.3 -1.3
1998 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4	13.3 24.3 23.7 19.8	0.5 1.3 0.5 0.4	-6.7 -7.3 -5.8 -5.7	-14.1 -12.6 -11.7 -11.1	9.0 9.7 9.3 8.5	3.1 6.1 4.5 5.5	22.6 28.1 27.3 22.9	-1.1 -1.1 -0.5 -0.7
1999 Q1 Q2 Q3	10.2 14.7 17.5	0.4 0.8	-5.3 -6.1	-10.8 -13.7	8.9 10.3	1.0 4.4	15.9 19.0	0.2 -0.1
1998 Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May June July Aug. Sep. Oct. Nov. Dec.	$\begin{array}{c} 0.4 \\ 5.5 \\ 7.4 \\ 7.7 \\ 8.5 \\ 8.0 \\ 13.5 \\ 6.1 \\ 4.1 \\ 6.4 \\ 7.2 \\ 6.2 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} -0.1\\ 0.4\\ 0.2\\ 0.3\\ 0.5\\ 0.5\\ 0.2\\ 0.3\\ 0.1\\ 0.2\\ 0.3\\ -0.1\end{array}$	-2.2 -2.3 -2.4 -2.3 -2.6 -2.2 -1.6 -2.0 -2.0 -1.9 -1.9	-5.0 -4.7 -4.4 -4.3 -4.5 -3.8 -3.9 -3.8 -4.1 -4.0 -3.5 -3.6	2.8 3.1 3.4 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.0 3.0 2.8 2.7 2.9	-0.3 1.4 2.0 2.2 2.4 1.4 3.3 0.7 0.5 2.2 1.9 1.3	$5.6 \\ 8.0 \\ 9.0 \\ 8.6 \\ 9.4 \\ 10.1 \\ 13.0 \\ 7.6 \\ 6.8 \\ 7.5 \\ 7.7 \\ 7.$	$\begin{array}{c} -0.4 \\ -0.5 \\ -0.1 \\ -0.2 \\ -0.2 \\ -0.7 \\ -0.2 \\ 0.0 \\ -0.3 \\ -0.4 \\ -0.1 \\ -0.1 \end{array}$
1999 Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May June July Aug. Sep.	-0.1 4.3 6.0 4.8 1.8 8.2 11.9 3.1 2.5	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.1 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.2 \\ \end{array}$	-1.8 -1.7 -1.9 -1.9 -2.0 -2.1 -1.9	-3.7 -3.2 -3.9 -4.6 -4.8 -4.3 -5.4	2.6 2.8 3.4 3.4 3.3 3.6 4.3	-0.8 0.5 1.3 1.7 0.9 1.7 2.6	3.8 5.5 6.6 6.2 4.1 8.8 11.8	-0.2 0.2 -0.2 -0.2 0.0 0.2 0.4

Source: Eurostat; the commodity breakdown is in accordance with the SITC Rev. 3.
Owing to differences in definitions, coverage and time of recording, trade data (as compiled by Eurostat) are not fully comparable with the goods item in the balance of payments statistics compiled by the ECB (Table 8.1). Part of the difference arises from the inclusion of insurance and freight services in the recording of goods imported, which accounted for about 3.8% of the value of imports (c.i.f.) in 1998.

IO Exchange rates

Table 10

Exchange rates

(period averages; units of national currency per ECU or euro (bilateral); index 1999 Q1 = 100 (effective))

	Effective exchan of the euro			Bilate	eral ECU or euro	exchange rates	2)	
-	Nominal 1	Real 2	US dollar 3	Japanese yen 4	Swiss franc 5	Pound sterling 6	Swedish krona 7	Danish krone 8
1995	107.8	108.7	1.308	123.0	1.546	0.829	9.33	7.33
1996	107.9	108.8	1.270	138.1	1.568	0.814	8.51	7.36
997	99.1	99.4	1.134	137.1	1.644	0.692	8.65	7.48
1998	101.5	101.3	1.121	146.4	1.622	0.676	8.92	7.50
.998 Q3	102.5	102.5	1.118	156.3	1.642	0.676	8.95	7.50
Q4	104.2	103.8	1.177	140.6	1.600	0.702	9.38	7.44
999 Q1	100.0	100.0	1.122	130.7	1.599	0.687	8.98	7.44
Q2	96.1	96.0	1.057	127.7	1.600	0.658	8.90	7.43
Q3	94.6	94.7	1.049	118.7	1.602	0.655	8.71	7.44
998 Nov.	103.6	103.2	1.164	140.1	1.612	0.701	9.31	7.44
Dec.	103.4	103.2	1.172	137.4	1.594	0.702	9.45	7.45
999 Jan.	102.0	101.8	1.161	131.3	1.605	0.703	9.08	7.44
Feb.	99.9	99.9	1.121	130.8	1.598	0.689	8.91	7.44
Mar.	98.3	98.3	1.088	130.2	1.595	0.671	8.94	7.43
Apr.	97.1	96.9	1.070	128.2	1.602	0.665	8.91	7.43
May	96.6	96.5	1.063	129.7	1.603	0.658	8.97	7.43
June	94.7	94.7	1.038	125.3	1.595	0.650	8.83	7.43
July	94.8	95.1	1.035	123.7	1.604	0.658	8.74	7.44
Aug.	95.4	95.6	1.060	120.1	1.600	0.660	8.75	7.44
Sep.	93.6	93.4	1.050	112.4	1.602	0.647	8.63	7.43
Oct.	94.4	94.2	1.071	113.5	1.594	0.646	8.73	7.43
Nov.	92.0	91.9	1.034	108.2	1.605	0.637	8.63	7.44
% ch. vs. ³⁾ prev. month								
1999 Nov.	-2.5	-2.5	-3.4	-4.6	0.7	-1.4	-1.1	0.0
% ch. vs. ³⁾ prev. year								
999 Nov.	-11.2	-11.0						

			Bilateral E	CU or euro exchan	ge rates 2)		
	Greek	Norwegian	Canadian	Australian	Hong Kong	Korean	Singapore
	drachma	krone	dollar	dollar	dollar ⁴⁾	won ⁴⁾	dollar ⁴⁾
	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
1995	303.0	8.29	1.795	1.765	10.01	999.7	1.833
1996	305.5	8.20	1.731	1.623	9.68	1,007.9	1.765
1997	309.3	8.02	1.569	1.528	8.75	1,069.8	1.678
1998	330.7	8.47	1.665	1.787	8.69	1,568.9	1.876
1998 Q3	332.7	8.54	1.690	1.867	8.67	1,486.8	1.935
Q4	331.5	8.82	1.814	1.887	9.16	1,516.6	1.942
1999 Q1	322.7	8.60	1.696	1.770	8.69	1,342.6	1.911
Q2	325.0	8.24	1.557	1.618	8.19	1,258.8	1.810
Q3	326.1	8.22	1.558	1.613	8.14	1,252.8	1.772
1998 Nov.	329.1	8.68	1.793	1.834	9.05	1,511.9	1.913
Dec.	328.8	8.91	1.807	1.893	9.11	1,426.3	1.941
1999 Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May June July Aug. Sep. Oct. Nov.	323.6 322.0 322.5 325.5 325.2 324.2 325.0 326.4 327.0 329.2 328.7	8.65 8.65 8.51 8.32 8.23 8.17 8.18 8.26 8.23 8.29 8.19	$\begin{array}{c} 1.765\\ 1.679\\ 1.651\\ 1.594\\ 1.553\\ 1.524\\ 1.540\\ 1.583\\ 1.552\\ 1.581\\ 1.516\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.839 \\ 1.751 \\ 1.726 \\ 1.608 \\ 1.605 \\ 1.580 \\ 1.576 \\ 1.645 \\ 1.619 \\ 1.641 \\ 1.618 \end{array}$	8.99 8.68 8.43 8.30 8.24 8.05 8.03 8.23 8.15 8.32 8.04	$\begin{array}{c} 1,362.4\\ 1,330.2\\ 1,336.2\\ 1,292.2\\ 1,272.1\\ 1,212.6\\ 1,229.4\\ 1,269.1\\ 1,260.1\\ 1,289.9\\ 1,215.9\end{array}$	1.950 1.905 1.881 1.834 1.820 1.775 1.756 1.775 1.756 1.779 1.781 1.793 1.727
% ch. vs. ³⁾ prev. month							
1999 Nov.	-0.1	-1.2	-4.1	-1.4	-3.4	-5.7	-3.7

Source: ECB.

1) ECB calculations; based on weighted averages of bilateral euro exchange rates. Weights are based on 1995-97 manufactured goods trade with the trading partners whose currencies are shown in the table, and capture third-market effects. Real rates are calculated using national CPIs (HICP for the euro area and the other EU Member States). Where CPI data are not yet available, estimates are used.

To December 1998, rates for the ECU (source BIS); from January 1999, rates for the euro.
 The table shows the percentage change in the latest monthly observation vis-à-vis the previous month, and vis-à-vis the same month of the previous year (for the effective exchange rate only). A positive change denotes an appreciation of the euro.
 As the ECB does not provide official reference rates, indicative rates are shown.

II Economic and financial developments in the other EU Member States

Table 11

Economic and financial developments

(annual percentage changes, unless otherwise indicated)

(annua	i percenti	ige changes, i											
		HICP			Long-term		Current	Unit	Real	Industrial		Broad	3-month
			govern- ment	govern- ment gross	govern- ment bond	rate ²⁾ as national	and new	labour	GDP	production		money 6)	interest
			deficit (-) /	debt	vield 1)	currency	capital	costs 4)		index 5)	unemploy-		rate 1)
			surplus (+)	as a % of	as a %	per ECU	account 3)				ment rate		as a %
			as a % of	GDP	per	or euro	as a % of GDP				as a % of		per annum
			GDP		annum		GDP				labour		aiiiuiii
		1	2	2	4	5	6	7	0	9	force (s.a.)	11	12
		1	2	3	4	De De	6 enmark	7	8	9	10	11	12
1995		-	-2.4	72.1	8.27	7.33		0.5	3.7	4.4	7.2	-2.0	6.20
1996		2.1	-0.9	67.7	7.19	7.36	. :	1.4	2.8	2.0	6.8	7.2 4.7	3.98
1997 1998		1.9 1.3	0.4 1.0	63.9 58.0	6.26 4.94	7.48 7.50	0.6 -1.1	2.8 2.4	3.1 2.7	5.6 2.3		4.7 4.6	3.73 4.28
1998	Q3	1.3	1.0	- 58.0	4.94	7.50	-1.1	2.4	3.6	2.3 3.4		4.0 6.6	4.28
1770	Q4	1.1	-	-	4.51	7.44	-3.7	3.5	2.5	0.0		3.7	4.51
1999	Q1	1.4	-	-	4.22	7.44	1.8	5.9	0.8	-0.9		4.5	3.64
	Q2 Q3	1.8 2.3	-		4.50 5.35	7.43 7.44	1.3	4.6	1.5	5.3 -0.3		4.9 3.4	3.12 3.19
1999	May	1.6	_	_	4.46	7.43				11.8			3.11
	June	1.9	-	-	4.81	7.43	-	-	-	-2.7	4.5	5.2 5.5	3.13
	July Aug.	2.0 2.4	-	-	5.11 5.38	7.44 7.44	-	-	-	-2.6 -1.8		3.1 4.9	3.17 3.21
	Sep.	2.4	-	-	5.55	7.43	-	-	_	3.7		2.2	3.18
	Oct.	2.6	-	-	5.76	7.43 7.44	-	-	-			2.0	3.69
	Nov.	•	-	-			- Greece	-	-	•	•	•	3.85
1995			-10.3	110.1		303.0	-2.7	11.6		2.1	7.1	6.4	16.09
1996		7.9	-7.5	112.3	-	305.5	-3.7	10.6	2.4	0.6		9.8	13.54
1997		5.4	-4.0	109.5	9.92	309.3	-3.9	7.2	3.4	1.0		14.5	12.48
1998 1998	03	4.5 4.8	-2.5	106.3	8.48 7.83	330.7 332.7	-3.1	5.5	3.7	3.4 3.7	10.0 11.7	4.0 2.3	13.53 13.18
1990	Q3 Q4	4.0	-	-	7.76	331.5	:			0.8		2.3 5.7	11.94
1999	Q1	3.4	-	-	6.08	322.7				-0.8			10.56
	Q2 Q3	2.2 1.7	-	-	5.87 6.56	325.0 326.1		•		0.5			9.80 9.86
1999	Q3 May	2.2		-	5.75	325.2				1.6	•	•	9.80
1777	June	1.8	-	-	6.02	324.2	-	-	-	0.0			9.84
	July	1.8 1.6	-	-	6.37 6.66	325.0 326.4	-	-	-	0.2 4.5			9.83 9.90
	Aug. Sep.	1.0	-	-	6.64	320.4	-	-		4.5		•	9.90
	Oct. Nov.	1.9	-	-	7.03	329.2 328.7	-	-	-		•	•	$10.11 \\ 10.71$
	INOV.		-	-	•		weden	-	-		•	•	10.71
1995		-	-6.9	77.6	10.24	9.33		0.7	3.7	10.6	8.8	-1.3	8.83
1996		0.8	-3.5	76.7	8.02	8.51		4.7	1.3	1.8	9.6	10.0	6.03
1997 1998		1.8 1.0	-0.7 1.9	76.1 74.2	6.62 4.99	8.65 8.92	2.8	0.7 2.0	1.8 2.6	7.2 4.2		4.2 3.5	4.43 4.36
1998	Q3	0.6			4.82	8.95	3.1	2.6	2.5	5.2		4.7	4.29
	Q4	0.1	-	-	4.50	9.38	3.1	2.2	3.2	1.3	7.6	4.5	3.94
1999	Q1	0.2	-	-	4.21	8.98	1.3	0.2	3.7	1.2		5.4	3.31
	Q2 Q3	0.3 0.7	-	-	4.54 5.48	8.90 8.71	-0.1	-0.1	3.6		7.0 6.9	6.4 6.1	3.07 3.23
1999	May	0.3	-	-	4.50	8.97	-	-	-	4.0		6.6	3.10
	June	0.4	-	-	4.87	8.83	-	-	-		7.0	5.9	3.12
	July Aug.	0.2 0.8	-	-	5.26 5.49	8.74 8.75	-	-			6.8 6.9	4.5 6.5	3.23 3.25
	Sep.	1.1	-	-	5.69	8.63	-	-	-		6.9	7.3	3.22
	Oct. Nov.	1.0	-	-	5.92	8.73 8.63	-	-	-		•	•	3.74 3.79
	1101.	•	-	-			d Kingdom		-		•	•	5.17
1995			-5.7	52.5	8 37	0.829	-0.4	1.5	2.8	1.5	8.7	7.2	6.75
1996		2.5	-4.4	53.1	8.32 7.94	0.814	0.0	1.7	2.8 2.6	0.4	8.2	9.9	6.75 6.11
1997		1.8	-1.9	51.5	7.13	0.692	0.9	2.9	3.5	1.3		11.2	6.92
1998 1998	03	1.5 1.4	0.5	48.7	5.60 5.57	0.676 0.676	0.1 0.4	3.5 3.5	2.2 2.0	0.4 0.6		9.6 9.5	7.43 7.67
1790	Q3 Q4	1.4	-	-	4.82	0.0702	0.4	4.1	2.0	-0.5		8.5	6.89
1999	Q1	1.6	-	-	4.39	0.687	-2.2	4.4	1.3	-1.3	6.3	7.1	5.60
	Q2 Q3	1.4 1.2	-	-	4.82 5.39	0.658 0.655	-1.4	4.5	1.4	-1.3 -0.3		6.5 3.3	5.30 5.28
1999	Q5 May	1.2	-	-	4.83	0.658				-0.3		6.9	5.20 5.35
	June	1.4	-	-	5.09	0.650	-	-	-	-1.7	6.0	5.2	5.35 5.22
	July Aug.	1.3 1.3	-	-	5.27 5.31	0.658 0.660	-	-	-	-1.2 -0.1		3.3 4.1	5.17
	Sep.	1.2	-	-	5.60	0.647	-	-	-	-0.1		2.6	5.25 5.41
	Oct. Nov.	1.2	-	-	5.78	0.646 0.637	-	-	-		•		6.02 5.87
	INOV.	•	-	-	•	0.057	-	-	-			•	3.87

Sources: Eurostat (columns 1, 8 and 10 (except Greece)); European Commission (Economic and Financial Affairs DG and Eurostat) (columns 2 and 3); Reuters (column 12); national data (columns 4, 5, 7 (except Sweden), 9, 10 (Greece) and 11), ECB calculation (columns 6 and 7 (Sweden)). 6) Average of end-month values;

1) Average-of-period values. 2) For more information, see Table 10.

3) BPM5; BPM4 for Greece.

4) Whole economy; data for the United Kingdom exclude employers' contribution to social security.

M3; M4 for the United Kingdom.

5) Manufacturing; adjusted for working days.

12 Economic and financial developments outside the EU

Table 12.1

Economic and financial developments

(annual percentage changes, unless otherwise indicated)

	llage changes,										~
	Consumer price index	Unit labour costs ¹⁾	Real GDP	Industrial production index 1)	Unemploy- ment rate as a % of labour force (s.a.)	M2 ²⁾	3-month interbank deposit rate ³⁾ as a % per annum	10-year government bond yield ³⁾ as a % per annum	Exchange rate ⁴⁾ as national currency per ECU or euro	Fiscal deficit (-)/ surplus (+) as a % of GDP	Gross public debt ⁵⁾ as a % of GDP
	1	2	3	4	5 United Stat	6 tes	7	8	9	10	11
1995 1996 1997 1998	2.8 2.9 2.3 1.6	-1.6 -2.3 0.0 0.7	2.7 3.7 4.5 4.3	5.4 4.8 6.7 4.2	5.6 5.4 4.9 4.5	2.1 4.8 5.0 7.4	5.44 5.43 5.62 5.00	6.69 6.54 6.45 5.33	1.308 1.270 1.134 1.121	-2.2 -1.2 0.1 1.4	59.7 58.8 56.5 53.5
1998 Q3 Q4	1.6 1.5	1.4 -0.8	3.9 4.6	3.2 2.5	4.5 4.4	7.3 8.4	5.20 5.00	5.27 4.72	1.118 1.177	-	53.7 53.5
1999 Q1 Q2 Q3	1.7 2.1 2.3	-1.6 -1.4 -0.8	3.9 3.8 4.2	2.2 2.7 3.3	4.3 4.3 4.2	8.4 7.9 7.4	4.99 5.04 5.44	5.00 5.54 5.88	1.122 1.057 1.049	- -	53.1 51.4
1999 May June July Aug. Sep. Oct. Nov.	2.1 2.0 2.1 2.3 2.6 2.6			2.2 3.5 4.0 2.7 3.3 3.2	4.2 4.3 4.3 4.2 4.2 4.1	7.9 7.7 7.6 6.9 6.4	$\begin{array}{c} 4.98 \\ 5.17 \\ 5.30 \\ 5.46 \\ 5.56 \\ 6.20 \\ 6.09 \end{array}$	5.54 5.90 5.80 5.94 5.91 6.10 6.03	$\begin{array}{c} 1.063\\ 1.038\\ 1.035\\ 1.060\\ 1.050\\ 1.071\\ 1.034\end{array}$		
					Japan						
1995 1996 1997 1998	-0.1 0.1 1.7 0.6	-2.2 -1.9 -2.2 6.3	1.5 5.1 1.4 -2.8	3.4 2.3 3.6 -7.1	3.2 3.4 3.4 4.1	3.0 3.3 3.1 4.4	0.50 0.31 0.36 0.18	3.32 3.03 2.15 1.30	123.0 138.1 137.1 146.4	-3.6 -4.3 -3.3 -5.9	- - -
1998 Q3 Q4	-0.2 0.5	7.6 5.1	-3.2 -2.8	-8.5 -6.8	4.3 4.4	4.2 4.5	0.12 0.18	1.14 1.03	156.3 140.6	-	-
1999 Q1 Q2 Q3	-0.1 -0.3 0.0	3.6 -1.3	0.1 0.7	-4.2 -1.0 2.6	4.6 4.8 4.7	4.1 4.1 3.6	0.31 0.13 0.13	1.96 1.50 1.78	130.7 127.7 118.7	- -	- - -
1999 May June July Aug. Sep. Oct. Nov.	-0.4 -0.3 -0.1 0.3 -0.2 -0.7	-2.1 -2.1 -2.6 -6.9		-0.5 0.0 0.2 5.2 2.7 1.6	4.6 4.9 4.9 4.7 4.6	4.1 4.3 3.9 3.5 3.3 3.5	$\begin{array}{c} 0.12 \\ 0.10 \\ 0.12 \\ 0.13 \\ 0.14 \\ 0.24 \\ 0.31 \end{array}$	1.36 1.60 1.69 1.89 1.75 1.79 1.81	129.7 125.3 123.7 120.1 112.4 113.5 108.2		- - - -

Real gross domestic product

(annual percentage changes; quarterly)



Sources: National data (columns 1, 2 (United States), 3, 4, 5, 6, 8 (to December 1998), 9 and 11); OECD (column 2 (Japan)); Eurostat (euro area chart data), Reuters (column 7 and 8 (from January 1999)); European Commission (Economic and Financial Affairs DG) (column 10). 1) Manufacturing.

Average-of-period values, M2 and CDs for Japan. For more information, see Table 3.1 and Table 3.2. 2)

3)

For more information, see Table 10.
 Gross consolidated debt for the general government (end of period).

Consumer price indices (annual percentage changes; monthly)

Table 12.2

Saving, investment and financing

(as a percentage of GDP)

	National saving and investment		Inve	Investment and financing of non-financial corporations					Investment and financing of households ¹⁾				
	Gross saving	Gross capital formation	Net lending to the rest of the world	Gross capital formation	Gross fixed capital formation	Net acquisi- tion of financial assets	Gross saving	Net incurrence of liabilities	Secur- ties and shares	Capital expend- iture	Net acquisi- tion of financial assets	Gross saving	Net incurr- ence of liabilities
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
						United S							
1995 1996 1997 1998	16.3 16.6 17.3 17.2	17.4 17.8 18.4 18.8	-1.4 -1.6 -1.7 -2.5	7.8 7.9 8.3 8.3	7.2 7.5 7.4 7.7	6.0 5.3 3.7 4.2	8.3 8.2 8.2 8.1	5.4 5.2 4.3 4.6	2.6 1.2 2.3 1.8	12.2 12.4 12.3 12.8	6.5 5.4 4.5 5.7	13.6 13.5 12.8 11.6	5.0 4.9 4.6 5.9
1997 Q3 Q4	17.5 17.3	18.4 18.5	-1.7 -2.0	8.2 8.1	7.7 7.3	5.1 3.2	8.4 8.1	6.1 3.4	2.0 3.4	12.3 12.2	5.1 4.5	12.8 12.3	5.4 4.2
1998 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4	17.7 17.2 17.3 16.9	19.1 18.7 18.8 18.8	-2.1 -2.5 -2.7 -2.6	8.7 8.1 8.2 8.3	7.7 7.8 7.6 7.9	4.0 4.7 4.4 3.5	8.2 8.1 8.1 8.0	4.9 5.1 4.4 4.0	3.4 4.0 0.7 -0.9	12.5 12.8 12.7 13.1	3.8 9.3 5.5 4.0	12.0 11.6 11.3 11.4	5.9 5.7 5.5 6.2
1999 Q1 Q2	17.2 16.7	19.0 18.8	-2.9 -3.4	8.3 8.6	7.9 8.5	7.2 4.6	8.2 8.0	7.9 4.6	5.8 -0.4	13.3 13.6	3.3 4.3	10.8 10.6	6.6 6.7
						Japa	n						
1995 1996 1997 1998	30.8 31.5 30.9	28.6 30.0 28.7	2.1 1.4 2.2	14.9 14.6 15.5	14.9 15.3 16.1	3.0 1.7 3.3 -5.5	13.5 15.2 15.2	2.3 0.3 1.2 -8.6	0.5 1.0 0.1 -1.2	5.3 6.7 5.6	10.2 6.4 7.1 5.7	13.1 12.7 12.3	1.9 1.1 0.7 -0.3
1997 Q3 Q4	30.2 29.0	30.0 29.3	2.2 2.6		•	3.0 6.6		3.1 10.7	0.4 -0.3	•	-0.3 19.8	:	1.5 1.5
1998 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 1999 Q1	33.2	27.9 24.1 26.7	2.4			-6.3 -28.7 3.0 8.3 4.5		-19.6 -9.0 -1.7 -4.3 -17.8	-1.1 1.7 1.5 -6.4 -2.9		-5.2 12.3 2.4 12.7 -6.1		2.9 -5.8 0.7 0.9 9.7
Q2			•	•	•	-17.2	•	-14.7	1.9	•	7.2	•	-5.5

Net lending of non-financial corporations (as a percentage of GDP)

Net lending of households ¹) (as a percentage of GDP)



Sources: ECB, Federal Reserve Board, Bank of Japan and Economic Planning Agency.
1) Households including non-profit institutions serving households. For Japan, saving of non-profit institutions serving households is included under saving of non-financial corporations.

Technical notes

Relating to Table 2.4

Seasonal adjustment of the euro area monetary aggregates

Multiplicative versions of X-12-ARIMA (version 0.2.2¹) and TRAMO/SEATS² (beta version, July 1998) are used. For technical reasons, the results of X-12-ARIMA are published as the official figures. Seasonal adjustment for monetary aggregates includes a day-of-the-week adjustment for some components of M2. The seasonal adjustment of M3 is carried out indirectly by aggregating the seasonally adjusted series of M1, M2 less M1, and M3 less M2 to fulfil the additivity constraint.

Seasonal factors are estimated for the index of adjusted stocks (Table 2.4.1). They are then applied to the levels expressed in EUR billions and to the adjustments due to reclassifications, other revaluations, etc., yielding seasonally adjusted values for the levels, the adjustments, and thus for the flows.

Calculation of growth rates

Growth rates may be calculated (a) from flows, or (b) from the index of adjusted stocks.

If F_t represents the flow in month t, L_t the level outstanding at the end of month t, X_t the rate of change in month t defined as $X_t = (F_t \div L_{t-1} + 1)$, and I_t the index of adjusted stocks in month t, the annual percentage change $a_t - i.e.$ the change in the latest 12 months – may be calculated as follows:

(a)
$$a_t = ((X_t * X_{t-1} * X_{t-2} * X_{t-3} * X_{t-4} * X_{t-5} * X_{t-6} * X_{t-7} * X_{t-8} * X_{t-9} * X_{t-10} * X_{t-11}) - 1) * 100$$

(b)
$$a_t = (I_t \div I_{t-12} - I) * 100$$

Roundings may give rise to differences from the annual percentage changes shown in Table 2.4. The index of adjusted stocks is available with a higher level of precision on the ECB's Web site (http://www.ecb.int) on the "Euro area statistics – download" page (in CSV file format), from which the exact percentage changes shown in Table 2.4 may be calculated.

For details see Findley, D., Monsell, B., Bell, W., Otto, M., and Chen, B.C. (1998), "New Capabilities and Methods of the X-12-ARIMA Seasonal Adjustment Program", Journal of Business and Economic Statistics, 16, 2, 127-152, or "X-12-ARIMA Reference Manual Version 0.2.2", (December 1998), Time Series Staff, Bureau of the Census, Washington, D.C.

² For details see Gomez, V. and Maravall, A. (1996), "Programs TRAMO and SEATS: Instructions for the User", Bank of Spain, Working Paper No. 9628, Madrid.

General notes

The basis for the statistics compiled and published by the European Central Bank (ECB) was laid down in the document entitled the "Statistical requirements for Stage Three of Monetary Union (Implementation package)" which was made available to banking associations and others involved in statistical preparations for Stage Three by the European Monetary Institute (EMI) and the national central banks (NCBs) in July 1996. The "Implementation package" covers money and banking statistics, balance of payments statistics, international investment position statistics, financial accounts statistics, price and cost and other economic statistics.¹

The focus of these statistics is the euro area as a whole. More detailed and longer runs of data, with further explanatory notes, are available on the ECB's Web site (http://www.ecb.int), and new or expanded data will appear in the ECB Monthly Bulletin as they become available.

Because the composition of the ECU does not coincide with the currencies of the Member States adopting the single currency, pre-1999 amounts converted from the participating currencies into ECU at current ECU exchange rates are affected by movements in the currencies of Member States which have not adopted the euro. To avoid this effect in the monetary statistics, the pre-1999 data in Tables 2.1 to 2.6 are expressed in units converted from national currencies at the irrevocable euro exchange rates established on 31 December 1998. Unless indicated otherwise, price and cost statistics before 1999 are based on the data expressed in national currency terms.

Methods of aggregation and/or consolidation (including cross-country consolidation) have been used as appropriate.

As a general rule, the cut-off date for the statistics included in the ECB Monthly Bulletin is the day preceding the first meeting in the month of the Governing Council of the ECB. For this issue, it was I December 1999.

Recent data are often provisional and may be revised. Discrepancies between totals and their components may arise from rounding.

Monetary policy and financial statistics

Tables 1.1 to 1.5 show the consolidated financial statement of the Eurosystem, data on Eurosystem operations, statistics relating to minimum reserves, and the banking system's liquidity position. Monetary data relating to Monetary Financial Institutions (MFIs), including the Eurosystem, are shown in Tables 2.1 to 2.3. Table 2.3 is consolidated; inter-MFI positions within the euro area are not shown, but any difference between the sum total of such claims and liabilities as recorded is shown in column 13. Table 2.4 sets out monetary aggregates drawn from the consolidated MFI balance sheet; they also include some (monetary) liabilities of central government. Table 2.5 shows a quarterly sectoral and maturity analysis of loans by MFIs to euro area residents. Table 2.6 shows a quarterly currency analysis of certain MFI balance sheet items. More quarterly detail will be available shortly. A complete list of MFIs is published on the ECB's Web site. Details of the sector definitions are set out in the "Money and Banking Statistics Sector Manual: Guidance for the statistical classification of customers" (ECB, November 1999). The "Money and Banking Statistics Compilation Guide" (EMI, April 1998) explains recommended practices to be followed by the NCBs. From I January 1999 the statistical information is collected and compiled on the basis of the ECB Regulation concerning the consolidated balance sheet of the Monetary Financial Institutions sector (ECB/1998/16).

Statistics on money market interest rates, longterm government bond yields and stock market indices (Tables 3.1 to 3.3) are produced by the ECB using data from wire services. For details

I Money and banking statistics are the responsibility of the ECB at the European level; responsibility for balance of payments, international investment position and financial accounts statistics is shared with the European Commission (Eurostat); price and cost and other economic statistics are the responsibility of the European Commission (Eurostat).
concerning the statistics on retail bank interest rates (Table 3.4), see the footnote at the bottom of the relevant page.

Statistics on securities issues, redemptions and amounts outstanding are shown in Table 3.5. More detailed data will become available shortly.

Prices and real economy indicators

The data presented in the ECB Monthly Bulletin are, with a few exceptions, produced by the European Commission (mainly Eurostat) and national statistical authorities. Euro area results are obtained by aggregating data for individual countries. As far as possible, the data are harmonised and comparable. However, the availability of comparable data is, as a general rule, better for the more recent periods than for earlier periods.

The Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices (HICP) for the euro area (Table 4.1) is available from 1995 onwards. It is based on national HICPs that follow the same methodology in all euro area countries. Estimates for periods before 1995 based on national consumer price indices are not fully comparable.

With regard to statistics on national accounts (Tables 4.2 and 5.1), the implementation of the European System of Accounts 1995 (ESA 95) during 1999 and thereafter has begun to pave the way for fully comparable data, including quarterly summary accounts, across the euro area. Before 1999 the deflators of GDP in Table 4.2.2 are derived from national data in domestic currency. National accounts in this issue are based mainly on the ESA 95.

Table 5.2 shows selected other real economy indicators. The implementation of Council Regulation (EC) No. 1165/98 of 19 May 1998 concerning short-term statistics will enlarge the range of available euro area data.

Opinion survey data (Table/Chart 5.3) draw on the business and consumer surveys of the European Commission.

Employment data (Table 5.4) are based on the ESA 95. Since coverage of the euro area was not complete in time for this issue, some data are ECB estimates based on the information available. Unemployment rates conform to International Labour Organization (ILO) guidelines.

Financial accounts statistics

The "Implementation package" foresaw a need for detailed information covering the financial transactions and balance sheets for the euro area in order to complement monetary analysis and policy research. The aim is to provide a fairly full, though not complete, set of financial accounts for the euro area based on money and banking, balance of payments, capital market, non-MFI financial corporation and government finance statistics, and drawing also on the ESA 95 national accounts. Table 6 shows euro area aggregates based on national capital and financial accounts.

A more detailed and further harmonised set of statistics presenting financial accounts for the euro area is expected to appear in the ECB Monthly Bulletin next year.

General government fiscal position

The general government fiscal position in the euro area is presented in Table 7 by reference to general government receipts, expenditure, saving, deficit and debt as a percentage of GDP. These data are aggregated by the ECB from harmonised data provided by the NCBs.

In addition, general government deficit and debt data are shown for individual euro area countries owing to their importance in the framework of the Stability and Growth Pact.

Balance of payments and international investment position of the euro area (including reserves), trade in goods and exchange rates

The concepts and definitions used in balance of payments statistics (Tables 8.1 to 8.5) and international investment position (i.i.p.) statistics generally conform to the 5th edition of the IMF Balance of Payments Manual (October 1993), to the ECB Guideline of I December 1998 (ECB/1998/17) on the statistical reporting requirements of the European Central Bank, and to Eurostat's documentation. The common methodology agreed between the ECB and the European Commission (Eurostat) and the aggregation method used for the euro area balance of payments statistics were explained on pages 26-27 of the May issue of the Monthly Bulletin.

The euro area balance of payments is compiled by the ECB. Data up to December 1998 are expressed in ECU. The recent monthly figures for balance of payments statistics should be regarded as provisional. These data are revised with the publication of the detailed quarterly balance of payments data.

The euro area i.i.p. is published for the first time in this issue (Table 8.6). The data are compiled on a net basis by aggregating national data. The i.i.p. is valued at current market prices with the exception of direct investment stocks, where book values are used to a large extent. Data for end-1997, especially for reserve assets, are not fully comparable with those for end-1998. The methodology used for the compilation of the i.i.p. is explained in Box 9 on page 56.

The outstanding amounts of the Eurosystem's international reserves and related assets are shown in Table 8.6.2. Corresponding summary net flows are shown in Table 8.1 with quarterly detail in Table 8.5.3. Data before end-1998 are compiled by aggregating figures following national definitions and include instruments issued by other residents

of the euro area; they are therefore not fully comparable with later data.

Table 9 gives data on euro area external trade in goods, and indices – value, volume and unit value – for total exports and imports. The value index is calculated by the ECB. The volume index is derived from the unit value index provided by Eurostat and the value index. Owing to differences in definitions, classification, coverage and time of recording, external trade data, in particular imports, are not fully comparable with the goods item in the balance of payments statistics (Tables 8.1 and 8.2).

Table 10 shows nominal and real effective exchange rate indices for the euro compiled by the ECB. The bilateral rates shown are those against the 13 currencies used in the calculation. For all except the Hong Kong and Singapore dollars and the Korean won the bilateral rates are daily reference rates published by the ECB. Box 5 on pages 29-31 of the October issue of the Monthly Bulletin gives more information about the new effective exchange rate index.

Detailed methodological notes on euro area balance of payments and i.i.p. statistics, external trade in goods of the euro area, and exchange rates are available on the ECB's Web site. In addition, a complete set of balance of payments, external trade in goods and exchange rate statistics, including the historical data at the highest frequencies available – which are not shown in the Monthly Bulletin – are available in a downloadable format (csv files) on the ECB's Web site.

Other statistics

Statistics on other EU Member States (Table II) follow the same principles as those for data relating to the euro area. Data for the United States and Japan contained in Tables/Charts I2.1 and I2.2 are obtained from national sources. Saving, investment and financing data for the United States and Japan (Table/Chart 12.2) are structured in the same way as the capital and financial flows data shown for the euro area in Table/ Chart 6.

Conventions used in the tables

"_"	Data do not exist.
"."	Data are not yet available.
"…"	nil or negligible
"billion"	109
(p)	provisional
s.a.	seasonally adjusted

Chronology of monetary policy measures of the Eurosystem

22 December 1998

The Governing Council of the ECB decides that the first main refinancing operation of the Eurosystem will be a fixed rate tender offered at an interest rate of 3.0%, a level which it intends to maintain for the foreseeable future. This operation will be initiated on 4 January 1999, while the allotment decision will be taken on 5 January 1999 and settlement will take place on 7 January 1999. In addition, the first longerterm refinancing operation will be announced on 12 January 1999 (with a settlement date of 14 January 1999) and will be conducted through a variable rate tender using the single rate allotment procedure.

The Governing Council furthermore decides that the interest rate for the marginal lending facility will be set at a level of 4.5% and the interest rate for the deposit facility at a level of 2.0% for the start of Stage Three, i.e. I January 1999. As a transitional measure, between 4 and 21 January 1999, the interest rate for the marginal lending facility will be set at a level of 3.25% and the interest rate for the deposit facility at a level of 2.75%. The Governing Council intends to terminate this transitional measure following its meeting on 21 January 1999.

31 December 1998

In accordance with Article 1091 (4) of the Treaty establishing the European Community, the EU Council, acting with the unanimity of the Member States of the European Community without a derogation, upon a proposal from the European Commission and after consultation of the ECB, adopts the irrevocable conversion rates for the euro, with effect from I January 1999, 0.00 a.m. (local time).

The ministers of the euro area Member States, the ECB and the ministers and central bank governors of Denmark and Greece decide, in a common procedure involving the European Commission and after consultation of the Monetary Committee, to fix the central rates against the euro for the currencies participating in the exchange rate mechanism which comes into operation on I January 1999. Further to this decision on the euro central rates, the ECB, Danmarks Nationalbank and the Bank of Greece establish by common accord the compulsory intervention rates for the Danish krone and the Greek drachma. A fluctuation band of $\pm 2.25\%$ will be observed around the euro central rate for the Danish krone. The standard fluctuation band of $\pm 15\%$ will be observed around the euro central rate for the Greek drachma.

7 January 1999

The Governing Council of the ECB decides that for the two main refinancing operations to be announced on 11 and 18 January 1999 respectively the same conditions will apply as for the first such operation, which was settled on 7 January 1999, i.e. they will be fixed rate tenders conducted at an interest rate of 3.0%.

12 January 1999

Following the decision of the Governing Council of the ECB on 22 December 1998, the ECB announces that the first longer-term refinancing operations of the Eurosystem will be conducted as variable rate tenders using the single rate method of allotment. With a view to phasing in the longer-term refinancing operations, the first such operation is conducted through three parallel tenders with three different maturities, namely 25 February, 25 March and 29 April 1999. The ECB also announces that the intention is to allot an amount of \in 15 billion in each of these parallel tenders. For the subsequent longer-term refinancing operations in the first three months of 1999, the intention is to allot an unchanged amount of \in 15 billion per operation.

21 January 1999

The Governing Council of the ECB decides to revert to the interest rates on the Eurosystem's two standing facilities which it had set for the start of Stage Three, i.e. to set the interest rate for the marginal lending facility at a level of 4.5% and that for the deposit facility at a level of 2.0% with effect from 22 January 1999. Furthermore, it decides that for the two main refinancing operations to be settled on 27 January and 3 February 1999 respectively the same conditions will apply as for the first three such operations settled earlier in January, i.e. they will be fixed rate tenders conducted at an interest rate of 3.0%.

4 February 1999

The Governing Council of the ECB decides that for the main refinancing operations to be settled on 10 and 17 February 1999 the same conditions will apply as for the first such operations settled earlier in the year, i.e. they will be fixed rate tenders conducted at an interest rate of 3.0%. In addition, the interest rate on the marginal lending facility continues to be 4.5% and the interest rate on the deposit facility remains 2.0%.

18 February 1999

The Governing Council of the ECB decides that for the main refinancing operations to be settled on 24 February and 3 March 1999 the same conditions will apply as for the previous such operations settled earlier in the year, i.e. they will be fixed rate tenders conducted at an interest rate of 3.0%. In addition, the interest rate on the marginal lending facility continues to be 4.5% and the interest rate on the deposit facility remains 2.0%.

4 March 1999

The Governing Council of the ECB decides that for the main refinancing operations to be settled

on 10 and 17 March 1999 the same conditions will apply as for the previous such operations settled earlier in the year, i.e. they will be fixed rate tenders conducted at an interest rate of 3.0%. In addition, the interest rate on the marginal lending facility continues to be 4.5% and the interest rate on the deposit facility remains 2.0%. The Governing Council also decides that for forthcoming longer-term refinancing operations of the Eurosystem the multiple rate method of allotment will be applied (starting from the operation with a settlement date of 25 March 1999) until otherwise indicated.

18 March 1999

The Governing Council of the ECB decides that for the main refinancing operations to be settled on 24 and 31 March and 7 April 1999 the same conditions will apply as for the previous such operations settled earlier in the year, i.e. they will be fixed rate tenders conducted at an interest rate of 3.0%. In addition, the interest rate on the marginal lending facility continues to be 4.5% and the interest rate on the deposit facility remains 2.0%.

8 April 1999

The Governing Council of the ECB decides to reduce the interest rate on the main refinancing operations by 0.5 percentage point to 2.5%, starting with the operation to be settled on 14 April 1999. In addition, it decides to lower the interest rate on the marginal lending facility by I percentage point to 3.5% and the interest rate on the deposit facility by 0.5 percentage point to 1.5%, both with effect from 9 April 1999.

22 April 1999

The Governing Council of the ECB decides that the interest rates on the main refinancing operations, the marginal lending facility and the deposit facility will remain unchanged at 2.5%, 3.5% and 1.5% respectively. In addition, the Governing Council announces that for the longer-term refinancing operations to be settled during the next six months, the intention is to continue to allot an amount of \in 15 billion per operation.

6 May 1999

The Governing Council of the ECB decides that the interest rates on the main refinancing operations, the marginal lending facility and the deposit facility will remain unchanged at 2.5%, 3.5% and 1.5% respectively.

20 May 1999

The Governing Council of the ECB decides that the interest rates on the main refinancing operations, the marginal lending facility and the deposit facility will remain unchanged at 2.5%, 3.5% and 1.5% respectively. The Governing Council also decides to change the maturity of the longer-term refinancing operation scheduled to be settled on 30 September 1999. The redemption date of this operation will be brought forward from 30 December to 23 December 1999. Correspondingly, the longer-term refinancing operation which was originally scheduled to be announced on 27 December 1999 and to be allotted and settled on 30 December 1999 will be announced on 21 December, allotted on 22 December and settled on 23 December 1999. The rescheduling of operations is intended to alleviate the working procedures for financial market participants at the turn of the year.

2 June, 17 June, 1 July, 15 July, 29 July, 26 August, 9 September 1999

The Governing Council of the ECB decides that the interest rates on the main refinancing operations, the marginal lending facility and the deposit facility will remain unchanged at 2.5%, 3.5% and 1.5% respectively.

23 September 1999

The Governing Council of the ECB decides that the interest rates on the main refinancing operations, the marginal lending facility and the deposit facility will remain unchanged at 2.5%, 3.5% and 1.5% respectively.

The ECB releases to the public the indicative calendar for the Eurosystem's tender operations in 2000. It also announces that no new main refinancing operation will be initiated in the first week of the year 2000, and that no such operation will mature during that week. For this reason the maturity of the main refinancing operation of 21 December 1999 will be lengthened exceptionally to three weeks. To avoid two main refinancing operations maturing on 12 January 2000, the maturity of the operation of 30 December 1999 will also be lengthened to three weeks. These steps are taken to minimise any potential problem for counterparties and for the financial market which could result from the conduct and settlement of a large operation directly after the transition to the new century.

7 October 1999

The Governing Council of the ECB decides that the interest rates on the main refinancing operations, the marginal lending facility and the deposit facility will remain unchanged at 2.5%, 3.5% and 1.5% respectively.

21 October 1999

The Governing Council of the ECB decides that the interest rates on the main refinancing operations, the marginal lending facility and the deposit facility will remain unchanged at 2.5%, 3.5% and 1.5% respectively.

It also decides that for the longer-term refinancing operations to be settled on 28 October 1999, 25 November 1999 and 23 December 1999, the intention is to allot an amount of \in 25 billion per operation. This amount is higher than the amount of \in 15 billion

allotted for all previous longer-term refinancing operations conducted in 1999. This decision takes into account the intention of the ECB to contribute to a smooth transition to the year 2000.

4 November 1999

The Governing Council of the ECB decides to raise the interest rate on the main refinancing operations of the Eurosystem by 0.5 percentage point to 3.0%, with effect from the operation to be settled on 10 November 1999. In addition, it decides to increase the interest rates on both the marginal lending facility and the deposit facility by 0.5 percentage point to 4.0% and 2.0% respectively, both with effect from 5 November 1999.

18 November 1999

The Governing Council of the ECB decides that the interest rates on the main refinancing operations, the marginal lending facility and the deposit facility will remain unchanged at 3.0%, 4.0% and 2.0% respectively.

2 December 1999

The Governing Council of the ECB decides that the interest rates on the main refinancing operations, the marginal lending facility and the deposit facility will remain unchanged at 3.0%, 4.0% and 2.0% respectively.

The Governing Council also decides to confirm the reference value for monetary growth, namely an annual growth rate of $4\frac{1}{2}\%$ for the broad monetary aggregate M3. This decision is taken on the grounds that the components underlying the derivation of the reference value, namely the Eurosystem's definition of price stability (an annual increase in the HICP for the euro area of below 2%), the assumption for the trend of real GDP growth (2% to 21/2% per annum) and that for the trend decline in M3 income velocity (1/2% to 1% per annum), have remained unchanged. As before, the Governing Council will assess monetary developments in relation to the reference value on the basis of a three-month moving average of annual growth rates. The Governing Council also decides to review the reference value henceforth on a regular annual basis. The next review will take place in December 2000.

With regard to the minimum reserve system of the Eurosystem, the Governing Council, after reviewing new statistical evidence, decides to increase from 10% to 30% the standardised deduction from the reserve base to be applied to debt securities issued with an agreed maturity of up to two years and to money market paper. This decision shall take effect as from the determination of the reserve requirement to be fulfilled in the maintenance period starting on 24 January 2000.

The TARGET (Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross settlement Express Transfer) system

TARGET as seen by its users

The future of TARGET is being shaped by the experience gained in operating the system, changes in its general environment and the evolution in technology and business requirements. In this respect, an active exchange of views and co-operation with its users plays a pivotal role. The ECB has therefore conducted a survey on the cross-border payment service offered by TARGET, as perceived by its users. The main findings of this survey are presented in the report entitled "Cross-border payments in TARGET: A users' survey", which was published by the European Central Bank on 16 November 1999. Input for this report was obtained by means of a questionnaire addressed to the different European banking associations and to the national TARGET User Groups. In addition, a meeting with market participants on the subject of TARGET and large-value payment systems, held at the ECB in September 1999, provided valuable information.

In general, the survey indicates that TARGET is recognised as the de facto standard means of making large-value cross-border payments in euro. Banks perceive TARGET not as a central bank utility which they are obliged to use, but rather as a service offered to them which can add value and reduce the risks involved in their operations. Several issues related to TARGET have proved to be less problematic than many banks, before the start of Stage Three of Economic and Monetary Union (EMU), believed would be the case. The banks have not contested the TARGET pricing policy, for instance. Moreover, the execution time for TARGET payments as well as the long operating hours seem to be in line with the banks' needs and expectations. Nevertheless, banks have indicated some existing shortfalls, such as the

Table I

Payment instructions processed by TARGET and other selected interbank funds transfer systems: volume of transactions

(number of payments)

	1999								
	Q1	Q2	July	Aug.	Sep.	Oct.			
TARGET									
All TARGET payments									
Total volume	9,756,845	10,289,259	3,738,950	3,397,726	3,622,820	3,612,751			
Daily average	154,871	158,296	169,952	154,442	164,674	172,036			
Cross-border TARGET payments									
Total volume	1,562,233	1,837,435	679,021	626,365	674,881	683,261			
Daily average	24,797	28,268	30,865	28,471	30,676	32,536			
Domestic TARGET payments									
Total volume	8,194,612	8,451,824	3,059,929	2,771,361	2,947,939	2,929,490			
Daily average	130,073	130,028	139,088	125,971	133,997	139,500			
Other systems									
Euro 1 (EBA)									
Total volume	3,306,689	4,250,282	1,591,202	1,457,434	1,678,114	1,742,696			
Daily average	52,487	65,389	72,327	66,247	76,278	82,986			
Euro Access Frankfurt (EAF)									
Total volume	2,996,555	2,948,742	1,046,150	973,543	1,017,776	1,013,070			
Daily average	47,564	45,365	47,552	44,252	46,263	48,241			
Paris Net Settlement (PNS) ¹)									
Total volume	1,370,755	1,318,159	454,731	378,913	415,054	410,822			
Daily average	21,758	20,279	20,670	17,223	18,866	19,563			
Servicio Español de Pagos Interbancarios (SEPI)									
Total volume	299,860	289,174	96,231	78,636	85,460	81,752			
Daily average	4,760	4,449	4,374	3,574	3,885	3,893			

1) The PNS replaced the Système Net Protégé (SNP) on 19 April 1999.

technical availability and harmonisation of the end-to-end service provided by TARGET, and expect further improvements to be made in these areas.

The Eurosystem takes the business needs and expectations of the participants very seriously and, in particular, the improvement of TARGET availability is being given the highest priority. In order to ensure that TARGET meets future market needs, the Eurosystem will continue to seek input from TARGET User Groups and, more generally, from the banking and financial community.

Payment flows in TARGET

With regard to the number and value of crossborder payments, October registered the highest figures for TARGET activity to date. More than 32,500 cross-border payments were processed on a daily average. The average daily value of cross-border payments was - for the first time - above EUR 400 billion, which represents an increase of more than 13% compared with the third quarter of 1999. In October 1999 the number of payments processed in TARGET as a whole, i.e. crossborder and domestic payments taken together, was more than 172,000 on a daily average, representing a value of more than EUR 960 billion. The share of customer payments in the total number of cross-border TARGET payments increased slightly compared with the previous months: in October it stood at 26.5% in terms of volume and at 2.8% in terms of value. In the same month the average value of customer payments was EUR 1.3 million, whereas for interbank payments the average value was EUR 16.3 million.

Further information on the TARGET system is available in the TARGET section of the ECB's Web site (http://www.ecb.int).

Table 2

Payment instructions processed by TARGET and other selected interbank funds transfer systems: value of transactions

(EUR billions)

	1999							
	Q1	Q2	July	Aug.	Sep.	Oct.		
TARGET								
All TARGET payments								
Total	60,704	58,861	20,326	18,561	19,459	20,252		
Daily average	964	906	924	844	885	964		
Cross-border TARGET payments								
Total	21,970	22,838	8,088	7,526	7,751	8,420		
Daily average	349	351	368	342	352	401		
Domestic TARGET payments								
Total	38,734	36,023	12,238	11,035	11,708	11,832		
Daily average	615	554	556	502	532	563		
Other systems								
Euro 1 (EBA)								
Total	11,000	10,777	3,595	3,601	3,860	4,027		
Daily average	175	166	163	164	175	192		
Euro Access Frankfurt (EAF)								
Total	10,823	9,587	3,209	2,980	3,142	3,204		
Daily average	172	147	146	135	143	153		
Paris Net Settlement (PNS) ²⁾								
Total	5,767	6,125	2,065	1,849	1,955	2,217		
Daily average	92	94	94	84	89	106		
Servicio Español de Pagos Interbancarios (SEPI)								
Total	340	226	73	65	66	62		
Daily average	5	3	3	3	3	3		

2) The PNS replaced the Système Net Protégé (SNP) on 19 April 1999.

Documents published by the European Central Bank (ECB)

This list is designed to inform readers about selected documents published by the European Central Bank. The publications are available to interested parties free of charge from the Press Division. Please submit orders in writing to the postal address given on the back of the title page.

For a complete list of documents published by the European Monetary Institute, please visit the ECB's Web site (http://www.ecb.int).

Annual Report

"Annual Report 1998", April 1999.

Monthly Bulletin

Articles published from January 1999 onwards:

"The euro area at the start of Stage Three", January 1999.

"The stability-oriented monetary policy strategy of the Eurosystem", January 1999.

"Euro area monetary aggregates and their role in the Eurosystem's monetary policy strategy", February 1999.

"The role of short-term economic indicators in the analysis of price developments in the euro area", April 1999.

"Banking in the euro area: structural features and trends", April 1999.

"The operational framework of the Eurosystem: description and first assessment", May 1999.

"The implementation of the Stability and Growth Pact", May 1999.

"Longer-term developments and cyclical variations in key economic indicators across euro area countries", July 1999.

"The institutional framework of the European System of Central Banks", July 1999.

"The international role of the euro", August 1999.

"The balance sheets of the Monetary Financial Institutions of the euro area in early 1999", August 1999.

"Inflation differentials in a monetary union", October 1999.

"ESCB preparations for the year 2000", October 1999.

"Stability-oriented policies and developments in long-term real interest rates in the 1990s", November 1999.

"TARGET and payments in euro", November 1999.

"Legal instruments of the European Central Bank", November 1999.

Working Paper Series

- I "A global hazard index for the world foreign exchange markets" by V. Brousseau and F. Scacciavillani, May 1999.
- 2 "What does the single monetary policy do? A SVAR benchmark for the European Central Bank" by C. Monticelli and O. Tristani, May 1999.
- 3 "Fiscal policy effectiveness and neutrality results in a non-Ricardian world" by C. Detken, May 1999.
- 4 "From the ERM to the euro: new evidence on economic and policy convergence among EU countries" by I. Angeloni and L. Dedola, May 1999.
- 5 "Core inflation: a review of some conceptual issues" by M. Wynne, May 1999.
- 6 "The demand for M3 in the euro area" by G. Coenen and J.-L. Vega, September 1999.
- 7 "A cross-country comparison of market structures in European banking" by O. de Bandt and E. P. Davis, September 1999.
- 8 "Inflation zone targeting" by A. Orphanides and V. Wieland, October 1999.

Other publications

"The TARGET service level", July 1998.

"Report on electronic money", August 1998.

"Assessment of EU securities settlement systems against the standards for their use in ESCB credit operations", September 1998.

"Money and banking statistics compilation guide", September 1998.

"The single monetary policy in Stage Three: General documentation on ESCB monetary policy instruments and procedures", September 1998.

"Third progress report on the TARGET project", November 1998.

"Correspondent central banking model (CCBM)", December 1998.

"Payment systems in the European Union: Addendum incorporating 1997 figures", January 1999.

"Possible effects of EMU on the EU banking systems in the medium to long term", February 1999.

"Euro area monetary aggregates: conceptual reconciliation exercise", July 1999.

"The effects of technology on the EU banking systems", July 1999.

"Payment systems in countries that have applied for membership of the European Union", August 1999.

"Improving cross-border retail payment services: the Eurosystem's view", September 1999.

"Compendium: collection of legal instruments, June 1998 – May 1999", October 1999.

"European Union balance of payments/international investment position statistical methods", November 1999.

"Money and Banking Statistics Compilation Guide, Addendum I: Money market paper", November 1999.

"Money and Banking Statistics Sector Manual", second edition, November 1999.

"Report on the legal protection of banknotes in the European Union Member States", November 1999.

"Correspondent central banking model (CCBM)", November 1999.

"Cross-border payments in TARGET: A users' survey", November 1999.

"Money and Banking Statistics: Series keys for the exchange of balance sheet items time series", November 1999.

Information brochures

"TARGET", July 1998.

"The euro banknotes and coins", July 1999.

"TARGET: facts, figures, future", September 1999.

